Marrufo, Armando M., <u>Expression and Function of Ligands for Natural Killer Cell</u> <u>Receptors on Triple-Negative Breast Cancer Cells</u>. Master of Science (Biomedical Sciences), May 2018, 145 pp., 2 tables, 20 illustrations, bibliography, 47 titles.

Abstract:

Triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) accounts for 20 percent of all breast cancer cases and is known to be the most invasive form of breast cancer. TNBC's absence of estrogen, progesterone, and human epidermal growth factor-2 receptors makes utilizing hormonal treatments ineffective in suppressing tumor growth. TNBC is associated with poorer prognosis and higher incidences of relapse. Therefore, natural killer cell-mediated immunotherapy shows potential as a treatment option for TNBC. Natural killer cells (NK) are innate lymphoid cells that serves its role in the immune system to eradicate infected and tumor cells. NK cell function is regulated through its receptors interacting with activating and inhibitory ligands on target cells. Lectin-like Transcript-1 (LLT1, CLEC2D) is a ligand that interacts with NKRP1A (CD161) and inhibits NK cell activation. Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen (PCNA) is a ligand that interacts with NKp44 and inhibits NK cell activation. We have identified the expression and function of LLT1 and PCNA on TNBC cell lines by flow cytometry, western blot, immunofluorescent microscopy, and chromium-release assay. Our results have demonstrated a higher expression of LLT1 and PCNA on TNBCs than non-tumorigenic breast cell line MCF10A. We have shown that blocking LLT1 interaction with NKRP1A with antibodies and gene knockdown of LLT1, respectively, on TNBCs have increased lysis of TNBCs by primary NK cells. We have also shown that blocking PCNA interaction with NKp44 with antibodies have enhanced killing of TNBCs by NK cells. LLT1 and PCNA expressed on TNBCs sends an inhibitory signal to the NK cell thus serving its role for TNBCs to evade immunosurveillance. Blocking LLT1-NKRP1A or PCNA-NKp44 with antibodies enhances lysis by NK cells and may open a novel immunotherapeutic strategy for patients diagnosed with TNBC.

EXPRESSION AND FUNCTION OF LIGANDS FOR

NATURAL KILLER CELL RECEPTORS ON

TRIPLE-NEGATIVE BREAST

CANCER CELLS

Armando M. Marrufo, B.S.

APPROVED:

Dr. Porunelloor Mathew, Ph.D., Major Professor

Dr. Stephen Mathew, Ph.D., Committee Member

Dr. Harlan Jones, Ph.D., Committee Member

Dr. Nicole Phillips, Ph.D., Committee Member

Dr. Michael Forster, Ph.D., University Member

Dr. Johnny He, Ph.D., Interim Chair, Department of Microbiology, Immunology, and Genetics

Dr. Johnny He, Ph.D., Interim Dean, Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences

EXPRESSION AND FUNCTION OF LIGANDS FOR NATURAL KILLER CELL RECEPTORS ON TRIPLE-NEGATIVE BREAST CANCER CELLS

THESIS

Presented to the Graduate Council of the

Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences

University of North Texas

Health Science Center at Fort Worth

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

By

Armando M. Marrufo, B.S.

Fort Worth, Texas

May 2018

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank all my mentors in my time at UNT Health Science Center for providing me the support in endeavoring on this challenging project during my master's degree. I would like to thank my major professor, Dr. Porunelloor Mathew, for taking his time to mentor me as his graduate student in developing me as a scientist. I also would like to thank, who I consider my co-mentor, Dr. Stephen Mathew, for his mentorship as his graduate student in developing me as a researcher. I also thank my committee members, Dr. Nicole Phillips, Dr. Harlan Jones, and, again, Dr. Stephen Mathew, and my university member, Dr. Michael Forster, for helping me embark on my master's project and providing tremendous feedback throughout my project. I would like to thank Dr. Rance Berg for serving as my graduate advisor and as one of many mentors in providing me support and teaching in my time as a student in the cell biology, immunology, and microbiology program. I would like to give a strong thanks to the Society for Advancement of Chicanos/Hispanics and Native Americans in Science (SACNAS) for providing me resources, opportunities, and mentorships in my training as a graduate student. I thank my colleague, Joseph Malaer, who took the time to teach me techniques, knowledge, and advice that will help me in my training as a future Ph.D. student. I would like to thank my family for their tremendous support in accomplishing this and many goals. I look forward to pursuing my Ph.D. training at the University of Notre Dame Biology Ph.D. program specializing in cancer research and incorporating my rigorous preparation and training at UNT Health Science Center in my training as an incoming Ph.D. student.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
LIST OF TABLESv
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONSvi
Chapters
I. INTRODUCTION1
1.1 Breast Cancer
1.2 Triple-Negative Breast Cancer
1.3 Principles of Immunotherapy13
1.4 Natural Killer Cell-Based Immunotherapy18
1.5 Lectin-like Transcript-1 (LLT1) and NKRP1A Interaction23
1.6 Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen (PCNA) and NKp44 Interaction
1.7 Hypothesis and Specific Aims28
1.8 Significance
II. MATERIALS AND METHODS
2.1 Cell Lines
2.2 Cell Culturing
2.3 Flow Cytometry Analysis
2.4 Isolation of Human Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells and Primary Natural
Killer Cells40
2.5 Gene Knockdown by Lipid-Mediated siRNA Transfection42
2.6 Immunofluorescence Confocal Microscopy42

	2.7 Cell Extract Preparation and Western Blot Analysis4	3
	2.8 Subcellular Protein Fractionation	4
	2.9 ⁵¹ Cr Release Assay	4
III. RI	ESULTS4	7
	Rationale4	7
	3.1 EXPRESSION AND FUNCTION OF LLT1 ON TNBCs4	9
	3.1.1 Lectin-like Transcript-1 (LLT1) is Expressed on Triple-Negative Breast	
	Cancer Cells and Inhibits Natural Killer Cell Activation5	0
	Cell Surface LLT1 Expression on TNBCs by Flow Cytometry Analysis5	0
	LLT1 is Expressed at Both the Cell Membrane and Intracellular5	3
	3.1.2 Blocking Lectin-like Transcript-1 (LLT1) on Triple-Negative Breast Cance	r
	Cells with Anti-LLT1 Antibodies Induces Natural Killer Cell Activation	6
	3.1.3 Gene Knockdown of LLT1 Increases Susceptibility of Triple-Negative	
	Breast Cancer Cells to Killing by Natural Killer Cells	5
	Confirmation of LLT1 Knockdown on TNBCs7	'5
	Knockdown of Cell Surface LLT1 on TNBCs Enhances Killing by NK Cells7	'6
	3.2 EXPRESSION AND FUNCTION OF PCNA ON TNBCs	60
	3.2.1 Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen (PCNA) is Expressed on Triple-Negativ	e
	Breast Cancer Cells and Inhibits Natural Killer Cell Activation	1
	Cell Surface Expression of PCNA on TNBCs by Flow Cytometry Analysis8	1
	Cell Surface, Cytoplasmic, and Nuclear PCNA Expression by Subcellular Protein	n
	Fractionation	3

3.2.2 Blocking Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen (PCNA) on Triple-Negative
Breast Cancer Cells with Anti-PCNA Antibodies Induces Natural Killer Cell
Activation92
3.2.3 Blocking Inhibitory Ligands Interaction with NK Receptors Using
Combinational Antibodies Further Enhances Natural Killer Cell-Mediated Killing
against TNBCs97
IV. DISCUSSION100
4.1 Challenges of Utilizing Endocrine Therapy on TNBC100
4.2 TNBCs Develop Chemoresistance105
4.3 LLT1-NKRP1A Interaction on TNBCs and its Function110
Role of LLT1 and CD161 in Modulating Immune Functions110
Expression and Function of LLT1 on TNBCs114
Future Studies118
4.4 PCNA-NKp44 Interaction on TNBCs and its Function121
Expression and Function of Cell Surface PCNA on TNBCs121
Future Studies124
4.5 Conclusion
References

LIST OF TABLES

CHAPTER III

Table 3.1: Means of MFIRs, Percent of Cell Population LLT1 ⁺ , and Cell Population Size	
Tested	.62
Table 3.2: Means of MFIRs, Percent of Cell Population PCNA ⁺ , and Cell Population Size	
Tested	90

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

CHAPTER I

are 1.1: NK receptors and ligand interactions dictates net inhibition or activation of NK		
cells	32	
Figure 1.2: NK receptors and ligands that leads to either inhibition or activation of NK		
function	33	
Figure 1.3: Inhibitory ligands LLT1 and PCNA interacts with natural killer cell receptors	34	
Figure 1.4: Specific Aim 1	35	
Figure 1.5: Specific Aim 2	36	

CHAPTER II

CHAPTER III

Figure 3.1: TNBC and non-TNBC cell lines display higher expression of LLT1 than non-	
tumorigenic breast cell line	;6
Figure 3.2: TNBC and non-TNBC cell lines show higher expression of LLT1 than non-	
tumorigenic breast cell line by average MFIR and percent of cell population LLT1 ⁺ 5	8
Figure 3.3: Three independent flow cytometry experiments of cell lines tested for cell surface	
LLT1 expression5	9
Figure 3.4: Cell surface expression of LLT1 detected by confocal microscopy on TNBCs6	53

Figure 3.5: Combined cell surface and intracellular expression of LLT1 on TNBCs64
Figure 3.6: Flow cytometry confirms intracellular expression of LLT1 on TNBCs65
Figure 3.7: Blocking LLT1 with antibodies on TNBCs enhanced killing by primary NK cells71
Figure 3.8: Anti-LLT1 antibody dose-dependent treatment on TNBC MDA-MB-231
demonstrates enhanced killing by primary NK cells74
Figure 3.9: Knockdown of cell surface LLT1 on TNBCs increases killing by NK cells78
Figure 3.10: TNBC and non-TNBC cell lines display higher expression of PCNA than non-
tumorigenic breast cell line
Figure 3.11: TNBC and non-TNBC cell lines show higher expression of PCNA than non-
tumorigenic breast cell line by percent of cell population PCNA ⁺ 89
Figure 3.12: Membrane, cytoplasmic, and nuclear expression of PCNA for TNBCs91
Figure 3.13: Blocking PCNA with antibodies on TNBCs increased killing by primary NK
cells
Figure 3.14: NK-mediated killing of TNBCs was further expanded by using combinational
blocking of PCNA, HLA, and LLT1 with antibodies

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Treatment for breast cancer has for a long time been standardized to conventional hormonal and chemotherapeutic treatments. Conventional treatments for breast cancer has been improved over decades in synergy with emerging novelties in technologies for early detection, increasing awareness and education with the public, and novel discoveries and expansion of cancer research. However, despite improvements in conventional treatments, there is still an increasing need to further understand the heterogeneity of breast cancer and partaking methods of treating different types of breast cancers. One patient with breast cancer will differ from another patient with breast cancer in regard to genetics, prognosis, response to conventional treatments, and severity of cancer progression. Hence, the rise of genomics and pathology has emphasized the development of classifications of breast cancer based on the presence or absence of receptors, growth factors, ligands, and other phenotypic characteristics [1]. Of all the subtypes of breast cancer, triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) is considered the most invasive form of breast cancer and is associated with the worst prognosis [1]. Unfortunately, the challenge to treating TNBC is that endocrine therapy, such as Herceptin and Tamoxifen, are ineffective due to an absence of the estrogen, progesterone, and human epidermal growth factor-2 receptors [2]. In addition, studies have shown that TNBC develop resistance to chemotherapy and relapse occurs after surgery [3,4]. Thus, there is a great need to investigate effective alternative approaches with ultimate goals of eradicating or suppressing growth and proliferation of TNBC while minimizing side effects of novel therapeutics for patients. Our immune system could supply an undiscovered approach, a "hidden gem", that may improve treatment for TNBC.

The human immune system consists of a complex network of effector cells, molecules, physical, and chemical barriers that enhances protection against pathogens and tumor cells. The immune system consists of two sectors of immunity: adaptive immunity and innate immunity [5]. Adaptive immunity is known for antigen-specific immune response through recognition of antigens and developing memory to accelerate the immune response to the same or similar antigen in future exposures [5]. Cells of the adaptive immune system consist of B lymphocytes and T lymphocytes [5]. The innate immune system refers to its non-specific immune responses which provides the first line of defense such as mechanical, physical, and chemical barriers [5]. The cells of the innate immune system comprise of basophils, neutrophils, monocytes, and natural killer cells [5].

In particular, natural killer (NK) cells are innate lymphoid cells that secretes cytokines such as interferon-gamma (IFN-γ) and functions in recognizing and differentiating between healthy self-cells and infectious and tumor cells [5,6]. NK cell function is regulated by a ticking balance of inhibitory and activating transduction signals because of NK receptors interacting with activating and inhibitory ligands on target cells [7]. Utilizing NK cells to target tumor cells has shown promise as a strategy in targeting tumor cells [7]. Furthermore, developing immune targeted therapies by activating NK cells to lyse TNBCs with monoclonal antibodies targeting ligands of interest could open a new road to treating TNBC [8]. It is not fully understood how TNBCs evade immunosurveillance from NK cells, but discovering ligands that play a role in TNBC evasion from the immune system could serve as possible targets for monoclonal antibody therapy and recruitment of NK cells to kill these TNBCs.

1.1 Breast Cancer

Breast cancer is a disease in which tumor cells develop within the breast tissues [9]. The anatomy of a female breast consists of lobes and ducts [9]. Lobes are sectioned into lobules which are parts of the breast tissue that produce mammary milk [9]. Ducts are thin tubes that link the lobules and lobes throughout the breast tissue and carry milk from lobules to the nipple [9]. Throughout the breast tissue, there are blood vessels and lymph vessels containing lymph nodes, which contains lymphatic fluid that carries immune cells [9].

Breast cancer is known to be the most common type of cancer among women in the United States [10]. According to the American Cancer Society, there will be an estimated 266,120 new cases of invasive breast cancer diagnosed in women within the United States in 2018 [10]. Furthermore, this updated 2018 figure did not include the additional 63,960 cases of in situ breast cancer, meaning that tumor cells have not left the ducts to invade surrounding breast tissue [10,11]. Breast cancer is the second leading cause of death out of all cancers for women behind lung cancer [10]. American Cancer Society projects that there will be 40,920 deaths in women due to breast cancer for 2018 [10]. There has been an increasing public awareness on breast cancer in recent years and progress has been made since 1989 to decrease the mortality rate of breast cancer [10]. The mortality rate of female breast cancer was at its peak at 33.2 per 100,000 in 1989, but then decreased by 39% to 20.3 per 100,000 in 2015 [10]. The decrease in mortality rate has been due to educating more women about breast cancer, improvements in early detection through mammograms and related technologies, improved treatments, and promoting healthy lifestyles such as exercise, avoiding drugs and smoking, and decreasing use of oral contraceptives [10].

Breast cancer is broadly classified into different types and furthermore into different intrinsic, molecular, and hormone-receptor subtypes. Carcinomas are tumors that originate from epithelial cell layers of an organ such as a breast; furthermore, adenocarcinomas are tumors that come from specialized epithelial cells that secrete substances into ducts such as milk ducts or lobules (milk-producing glands) [12]. Breast cancer can be categorized into either non-invasive, invasive, or metastatic types [13]. The two non-invasive types of breast cancers are ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) and lobular carcinoma in situ (LCIS) [13]. For non-invasive cancers, in situ refers to tumor cells that "stays within its original place" [13]. Ductal carcinoma in situ, or DCIS, is a non-invasive breast cancer that begins inside the milk ducts but has not spread to surrounding breast tissue [13,14]. Lobular carcinoma in situ, or LCIS, is defined as having a presence of abnormal cell growth producing within the lobules but has not spread to adjacent breast tissue [13,15]. A patient with LCIS does not necessarily mean that the patient has breast cancer, which is the reason that LCIS is also known as "lobular neoplasia" with neoplasia referring to an abundance of abnormal cell growth and proliferation. Rather, a patient with LCIS has a higher risk for being diagnosed with invasive breast cancer and must be monitored to prevent further progression [15]. LCIS is normally not detected through a mammogram, but instead is found from a biopsy of the breast [15].

The two invasive types of breast cancers (although not limited to these) are invasive ductal carcinoma (IDC) and invasive lobular carcinoma (ILC) [13]. Invasive ductal carcinoma, or infiltrating ductal carcinoma, is defined as cancer cells that originate from the ducts and has spread to adjacent breast tissues. IDC is the most common type of breast cancer diagnosed in women with approximately 80 percent of all breast cancers diagnosed as IDCs [16]. Invasive lobular carcinoma, or infiltrating lobular carcinoma, is a type of breast cancer that begins in the

lobules, where mammary milk is produced, and spreads to nearby breast tissue [17]. ILC is ranked as the second most common type of breast cancer behind IDC with an estimated 10% of invasive breast cancers being ILCs [17]. Another type of breast cancer is metastatic breast cancer, also known as stage IV breast cancer [18]. Metastatic breast cancer is known to be the most serious type of breast cancer with tumor cells having spread to other parts or organs of the body [18].

Breast cancer can also be classified into several molecular subtypes. Breast cancer is considered to be a heterogenous disease at the molecular, pathological, and clinical levels [19]. Although classification of breast cancer is complex and debated, most studies have identified five molecular subtypes of breast cancer which include luminal-A, luminal-B, HER2-enriched, triple-negative/basal-like, and claudin-low breast cancers [19-23]. Luminal-like breast cancers are characterized by its expression of estrogen (ER) and progesterone (PR) receptors and genes that encode proteins typically expressed by luminal epithelial cells [21]. Luminal-A is the most common subtype and accounts for approximately 50 to 60 percent of all breast cancers [21]. Luminal-A breast cancers is defined as being positive for either the ER receptor or PR receptor or both, negative for HER2 (human epidermal growth factor-2) receptor, and low levels of Ki-67 protein, which is a nuclear protein involved in cell proliferation [21,23,24]. Luminal-A breast cancer have the best prognosis out of all the subtypes of breast cancers since hormonal treatment can be used to target the ER or PR receptors [21,25,26]. Luminal-B breast cancers is characterized as either ER-positive, HER2-negative, and having high levels of Ki-67 or ER- and HER2-positive and high levels of Ki-67 [21,23]. Luminal-B breast cancers has a higher proliferative index, worse prognosis, and higher occurrence of relapse than luminal-A due to an upregulation of proliferation-related genes [21,27-29].

HER-2 enriched breast cancer is ER-negative and PR-negative, but positive for HER2 receptor and makes up for 15 to 20 percent of all breast cancer subtypes [21,23]. Patients with HER-2 enriched breast cancer have a poorer prognosis with resistance in response to typical hormonal treatment; hence, standard treatment for these patients include chemotherapy drugs such as doxorubicin [21]. Basal-like breast cancers are known to express high levels of basal myoepithelial markers, such as CK5, CK14, CK17, and laminin, while having a triple-negative phenotype which refers to the absence of ER, PR, and HER2 receptors [21,23]. Prognosis for basal-like breast cancers tends to be very poor with studies showing a high occurrence of metastasis to the brain and lungs [21,30]. It is important to note that triple-negative breast cancer and basal-like breast cancer are not the same in terms of how each subtype are defined. Triplenegative breast cancer is defined as breast cancer cells that do not express ER, PR, and HER2 receptor based on immunohistochemical studies [21,31]. On the other hand, basal-like breast cancer is defined based on gene expression microarray analysis [21,31]. Claudin-low breast cancer was identified by gene expression profiling and known to display a triple-negative phenotype [22]. Claudin-low subtype is characterized by the low expression of genes that contribute to the structure of tight junctions and epithelial cell to cell adhesion [22]. Claudin-low refers to the low expression of claudin proteins 3, 4 and 7, occludin, E-cadherin, and luminal epithelial genes, but high expression of genes that correspond to the epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT), immune cell infiltration, breast stem cells, and breast tumor initiating cells [20,22,32-35]. Much like basal-like breast cancer and triple-negative breast cancer, claudin-low breast cancer has a poor prognosis with chemotherapy as a standard treatment option [22].

Among all the subtypes of breast cancers, triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) is recognized as the most invasive subtype of breast cancer due to the lack of expression of the ER,

PR, and HER2 receptors. Due to the absence of these three receptors, TNBCs have limited response to hormonal therapies, chemotherapy, and trastuzumab [2,36,37]. Triple-negative breast cancer accounts for approximately 15 to 20 percent of all breast cancer cases and has the poorest prognosis out of all subtypes of breast cancer [37,38]. TNBC is a heterogenous disease at the molecular, pathologic, and clinical level which increases the difficulty of treating TNBC [39,40].

There are a range of treatments used to treat breast cancer. Depending on the subtype of breast cancer, treatments can include one or a combination of localized surgery, radiation therapy, neoadjuvant or adjuvant chemotherapy, hormonal therapy, targeted therapy, checkpoint inhibitors, and immunotherapy [40]. For hormone-receptor positive breast cancer cells such as luminal-A breast cancer, common treatments can include aromatase inhibitors, fulvestrant, ER receptor blockers such as tamoxifen, Herceptin, and kinase inhibitors [40,41]. Aromatase inhibitors, such as letrozole, anastrozole, and exemestane, degrades aromatase to inhibit production of estrogen [40,41]. Aromatase is an enzyme that converts androstenedione to estrone and testosterone to estradiol [42,43]. Fulvestrant inhibits the dimerization of estrogen and further downregulates estrogen receptors [40,41]. Tamoxifen is one estrogen receptor blocker that prevents binding of estrogen to membrane-bound estrogen receptors [40,41]. Herceptin is a monoclonal antibody that blocks epidermal growth factor from binding to the HER2 receptor [40,41]. Kinase inhibitors, such as lapatinib, prevents phosphorylation of the HER2 receptor domain that would have induced the phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K/AKT/mTOR) pathway which would have accelerated the growth of breast cancer cells [40,41]. In addition to endocrine therapies and drugs that inhibit estrogen production, chemotherapy can be used either before surgery or after surgery [40]. Examples of chemotherapeutic drugs include anthracyclines such

as doxorubicin, taxanes such as docetaxel, and platinum agents such as cisplatin and carboplatin [33].

As conventional treatments are used in clinical practice to treat breast cancer patients, there are new revelations in developing experimental therapeutics. Immunotherapy has contributed to revolutionizing cancer treatments and has now given patients another option to consider. Different types of immunotherapy treatments developed include immune checkpoint inhibitors, monoclonal antibodies, chimeric antigen receptor T cells, and manipulating chemokines and cytokines within tumor microenvironments [3,44]. For difficult-to-treat cancers such as triple-negative breast cancer, immunotherapy can introduce effective alternative options that could regress tumor growth and inhibit metastasis. Immunotherapy can also be used as an alternative for chemotherapy and radiation therapy where side effects are numerous and adverse. There are still ongoing studies on determining the efficacy, bioavailability, and safety of experimental immunotherapeutics, but clinical trials have shown promise for all types of cancers especially breast cancer.

1.2 Triple-Negative Breast Cancer

Triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) accounts for approximately 12 to 20 percent of all breast cancer cases [37,38]. Triple-negative breast cancer is defined as tumors that have an absence of expression of both endocrine receptors, estrogen (ER) and progesterone (PR), and human epidermal growth factor-2 receptor (HER2) [36]. As these tumors lack these three receptors, treatments targeting any of these three receptors is ineffective and limited such as trastuzumab targeting HER2, tamoxifen, and aromatase inhibitors [2]. Chemotherapy has been the standard treatment for TNBC with taxanes and anthracyclines being the most common treatments [36]. TNBC has been identified and diagnosed based on assessment of ER, PR, and

HER2 protein expression levels by immunohistochemistry and/or fluorescence in situ hybridization [36]. It has been revealed that TNBC has a high level of molecular heterogeneity which contributes to the difficulty of treating this disease [36,45]. Although chemotherapy is commonly used for treatment, patients with TNBC have the poorest prognosis among patients of all subtypes of breast cancer [37,38]. There is an increasing need to better understand TNBC at the molecular, clinical, and pathological level in order to enhance or introduce new treatment options for patients with this aggressive form of breast cancer.

Basal-like breast cancer is a subtype characterized by low or absence of expression of ER-, PR-, and HER2-related genes [2]. Basal-like breast cancer is not synonymous with triplenegative breast cancer even though both types of cancers have a 'triple-negative' phenotype [2]. Basal-like breast cancer had been characterized based on gene expression array profiling that enables categorization of subtypes of breast cancer according to intrinsic gene expression patterns [2,46-50]. Genetic profiling of basal-like breast cancer cells demonstrated that epidermal growth factor receptor HER1, cytokeratin 5, 14, 17, vimentin, p-cadherin, fascin, caveolins 1 and 2, and myoepithelial markers (such as receptors, hormones, and proteins) smooth muscle actin, p63, and CD10 (neprilysin) are expressed [2,46,48,51]. Triple-negative breast cancer was defined and characterized based upon immunohistochemistry where basal-like breast tumors do not show expression of ER, PR, and HER2 receptors [2]. In other words, triple-negative breast cancer is defined based on clinical assays and is encompassed under the 'basal-like' breast cancer intrinsic subtype [2].

Majority of TNBCs diagnosed are classified as invasive ductal carcinomas [36,52]. Histopathological analysis of breast cancer uses two tumor intrinsic characteristics which are histological tumor grade and tumor type [52-54]. Histological tumor grade is defined as the stage

of differentiation based on tubule formation and nuclear pleomorphism and status of proliferation calculated based on mitotic index [52,53]. In other words, histological tumor grade is correlated with tumor aggressiveness [52,53]. TNBC typically has a higher histological tumor grade and higher mitotic count than other subtypes of breast cancer [2]. TNBC is highly heterogenous at the molecular level, but there is not one specific classification system that completely describes the molecular landscape of TNBC [36].

One classification developed by Lehmann *et al.* has further categorized TNBC into six subtypes based on genetic expression profiling [36,55]. Lehmann et al. classified TNBC into two basal-like subtypes (BL1 and BL2), mesenchymal (M), mesenchymal stem-like (MSL), immunomodulatory (IM), and luminal androgen receptor (LAR) subgroups [36,55]. Each of these subtypes are characterized based on which genes are highly enriched and its respective function [56]. BL1 TNBCs have highly enriched expression of genes related to cell division pathway and DNA damage response [55,56]. BL2 TNBCs contain highly expressed genes related to growth factor signaling such as epidermal growth factor, nerve growth factor, hepatocyte growth factor receptor, and insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor pathways [55,56]. In addition, the BL2 subtype is also associated with glycolysis and gluconeogenesis pathways and expression of myoepithelial markers [55,56]. IM TNBCs contain high expression of genes that are related to the immune cell processes [55,56]. These immune processes include signaling pathways such as T_H1 and T_H2 pathways, NK cell pathways, B cell receptor signaling pathways, cytokine signaling, antigen processing and presentation, and immune signal transduction signaling (NFkB, TNF, and JAK/STAT) [55]. M TNBCs have enriched levels of gene expression associated with cell motility, extracellular matrix receptor interaction, and cell differentiation pathways such as Wnt and TGF- β signaling [55]. MSL TNBCs include both elevated expression

of genes related to cell motility and genes associated with stem cells, HOX genes, and mesenchymal stem cell-specific markers [55]. The LAR subtype has gene ontologies that are heavily enriched in hormonal pathways such as steroid synthesis and androgen receptor signaling [55,57]. This study serves as one example of the many different classifications of TNBC. The importance of this specific classification by Lehmann *et al.* is that biomarkers can be identified in TNBC that will allow selection of patients in clinical trials for therapies targeting these biomarkers [55]. In addition, this gene ontology analysis allows development of therapies that can target certain signaling pathways or proteins [55].

Majority of TNBCs display a common set of mutations that contributes to its genomic instability [56]. Studies such as Cancer Genome Atlas have demonstrated that TNBCs has 1.68 somatic mutations per Mb of coding regions which translates to approximately 60 somatic mutations in each tumor [36,56,58]. It has been shown that there is a frequent expression of multiple copy-number aberrations in genes related to signaling pathways ranging from DNA repair pathways as a result of *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* mutations or deletions to cell-cycle checkpoints [36,56,58]. The most frequent mutation in TNBCs occurs in the TP53 gene which comprises approximately 60 to 70 percent of mutations in TNBCs [36,45,58]. Mutations in the TP53 gene leads to the loss of function for the tumor suppressor protein 53 and, hence, favors uncontrolled cell division and tumor growth [36,56]. The second most frequent mutation in TNBCs occurs in the PIK3CA gene in form of gene amplification [36,59]. PIK3CA is responsible for encoding the p110α catalytic subunit of the phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI3K) [59]. PI3K phosphorylates phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate in order to form phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-triphosphate (PIP₃) which then activates protein kinase B (AKT) [60]. AKT is known to play a major role in cell survival, the cell cycle, and metabolism [61]. Activation of AKT

promotes cell survival and inhibits apoptosis by phosphorylating BAD, which is a pro-apoptotic protein of the Bcl-2 family [61]. The phosphorylation of BAD leads to a loss of pro-apoptotic function and allows AKT to further activate subsequent pathways that activates genes that help with cell survival [61]. Thus, the mutation in *PIK3CA* allows formation of PIP₃ which inhibit apoptosis and promote cell growth and proliferation enhancing tumorigenesis [59-61].

BRCA1 and *BRCA2* germline mutations occur in an estimated 10 percent of patients with TNBC [45,58,62]. *BRCA1* contributes to the role of DNA repair, maintaining genomic stability, and sending DNA damage signals [36,63]. *BRCA2* plays a role in conjunction with accessory protein RAD51 in repairing double stranded breaks in DNA by homologous recombination [36,63]. Germline mutations in tumor suppressor genes *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* in addition to mutations to *ATM* (encodes a serine/threonine kinase that is recruited to DNA double-strand breaks) and *TP53* contributes to tumorigenesis of TNBCs [36].

Since TNBC lacks the expression of ER, PR, and HER2 receptors, hormonal treatments have been ineffective in treating this subtype of breast cancer. Chemotherapy remains the standard treatment for TNBC showing benefit for patients if given neoadjuvant, adjuvant, or in metastatic situations with taxanes and anthracyclines commonly given [36,64,65]. Interestingly, patients with TNBC have higher success in responding to chemotherapy in their first treatment than other types of breast cancers [36]. Studies conducted by Liedtke *et al.* compared the response and survival of patients diagnosed with TNBC versus those with non-TNBC when given neoadjuvant chemotherapy [66]. Liedtke *et al.* have found that patients with TNBC treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy have higher pathologic complete response (pCR) than patients with non-TNBC and similar survival probability (24% chance of survival) as those with non-TNBC [66]. However, this finding is only limited to patients with TNBC who have achieved

pCR meaning that there are no residual cancer cells in the tissue samples after treatment [66]. Otherwise, patients with residual disease after neoadjuvant chemotherapy, such as those with metastatic TNBC, have worse overall survival than those with non-TNBC within the first 3 years of treatment [66].

This type of observation has been referred to as the 'TNBC paradox' where patients with TNBC show a higher response in their first treatment to chemotherapy, but in recurrence show poor response to treatment [67]. This paradox can be explained by TNBCs developing resistance to chemotherapy through various mechanisms and predisposition factors such as genes that favor chemoresistance, an accumulation of mutations from the first treatment, or DNA repair pathways and checkpoint pathways that are dysfunctional and lead to tumor growth and proliferation [36]. Regarding concerns with chemoresistance, there has been other therapies in development such as platinum agents, PARP inhibitors, anti-androgen therapy, PI3K inhibitors, MEK inhibitors, and immunotherapies such as monoclonal antibodies targeting ligands and programmed cell death 1 ligand (PD-L1) [36]. With TNBC associated with poor prognosis, higher chance of relapse, and development to chemoresistance, there is a great need to develop innovate therapies and strategies for patients with this serious type of breast cancer.

1.3 Principles of Immunotherapy

Immunotherapy has revolutionized cancer treatment and has expanded options for patients with a number of cancers to utilize. Immunotherapy has been shown to have greater efficacy and improvements over time in treatment of cancers with novel therapies including immune checkpoint inhibitors, monoclonal antibodies, chimeric antigen receptor T cells, and manipulating chemokines and cytokines within the tumor microenvironment or intratumor

environment [3,68]. Chemotherapy and radiation therapy has long been the conventional treatments for cancer and have proven a certain degree of success [3].

Despite the overall positive responses from these two standard treatments, tumor cells do eventually develop resistance to these treatments and patients undergo relapse even after treatment [3,4]. Resistance to chemotherapy can either be intrinsic or acquired [4]. Intrinsic resistance refers to tumor cells that have predisposition factors, such as oncogenes and evasion mechanisms, that was not developed as a result of treatment [4]. Acquired resistance is defined as tumor cells that accumulate mutations or develop mechanisms such as a dysfunctional DNA repair system or checkpoints in the cell cycle that result after initial treatment [4,69]. To add to the complexity of relapse, recurrence usually occurs due to metastasis [4]. Since the effectiveness of chemotherapy is limited after initial treatment and notable adverse side effects is of major concern, there is a need to counter this resistance through novel therapies. Immunotherapy is unique from conventional targeted treatments due to provoking a systemic immune response against cancer cells [3]. The major advantage is that tumor cells throughout a patient's body can be targeted, but the limitations include off-target effects of targeting healthy cells, creating a harmful immune overresponse, or the immune system may get compromised [3]. Nevertheless, immunotherapy does provide advantages, but there is a need to focus greater attention on targeting tumor cells while sparing healthy cells in tissues being treated.

The immune system consists of mechanisms that allows effector cells to: (1) recognize target cells as either its own body's healthy cells, infected cells, dead cells, or tumor cells and (2) develop and trigger mechanisms that eradicate infected, dead, or tumor cells while sparing the healthy cells [5]. Specifically, the process of understanding how the immune system recognizes and eradicates tumor cells has been debated and initially not fully developed. Among the first

findings was that interferon- γ (IFN- γ) plays a role in tumor immunosurveillance [70,71]. Dighe *et al.* had demonstrated in tumor-mice models that neutralizing antibodies binding to IFN- γ resulted in faster progression and growth of tumors compared to mice without antibodies neutralizing IFN- γ [70,71]. Furthermore, mice deficient in the expression of perforin, defined as proteins released by immune effector cells that targets cells by creating pores in the plasma membrane, had a higher number of spontaneous B cell lymphomas compared to mice expressing perforin [72-74]. Takeda *et al.* had also shown that tumor necrosis factor related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) plays a role in inhibiting tumor cells from growing [75].

In addition to observing cytokines and chemokines eradicating tumor cells by quantity, there is an additional element to cancer immunosurveillance which involves decreasing the tumor aggressiveness or quality, otherwise known as immunogenicity [70]. The cancer immunoediting concept is defined as the immune system employing its mechanisms that affects tumor immunogenicity [70,76]. The immunoediting concept plays its part after intrinsic mechanisms of tumor suppression have failed [76]. The immune system could suppress tumor growth at this point by intrinsic tumor suppression mechanisms that involves DNA repair of mutations or apoptosis [76]. However, in the event that tumor cells fail to die through these intrinsic mechanisms, the cancer immunoediting process now gets involved in eradicating tumor cells [76]. The cancer immunoediting process does not only describe how the immune system kills the tumor cells by extrinsic mechanisms such as cytokines, but also entail how tumors develop dormancy and escape immunosurveillance [76]. Cancer immunoediting consists of three stages, which are elimination, equilibrium, and escape stages [70,76].

In the elimination phase, the effector cells of the immune system are involved in recognizing tumor cells based on ligands or tumor associated antigen expression [70,76].

Effector cells that are involved in the elimination process include CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, dendritic cells, NKT cells, NK cells, macrophages, and $\gamma\delta$ T cells [70,76]. Some to all these effector cells are responsible for recognizing the tumor cells and successfully eliminating these tumor cells before clinical effects occurs [76]. The elimination process requires a coherent collaboration between the adaptive and innate immune systems. Besides effector cells directly attacking tumor cells, other methods of extrinsic tumor suppression include using cytokines such as IFN- γ , IFN- α/β , IL-12, and TNF or proteins such as perform to directly kill the tumor cells [76]. If tumor cells are not eliminated in this first stage by direct killing, then the adaptive immune system will contribute to the equilibrium phase [76]. In the equilibrium phase, tumor growth will be inhibited by cytokines IL-12 and IFN- γ which will allow the tumor immunogenicity to decrease [70,76]. Even after the equilibrium phase, not all the tumor cells will be eradicated. Some tumor cells that were able to survive through both the elimination and equilibrium phases have several characteristics that allow them to evade immunosurveillance [70,77,78]. Some tumors may no longer be recognized by the immune system due to antigen loss, MHC loss, or inhibitory ligand expression [70,77,78]. Tumors in the escape stage also may have developed resistance to effector cells mechanisms designed to kill the tumor cells in the equilibrium stage [70,77,78]. Another way that tumors can escape immunosurveillance is creating a microenvironment that suppresses effector cells [70,77,78]. Tumors that reach the escape stage in general lead to clinical outcomes seen in cancer patients [70].

With a better understanding of the complex ways that cancer cells develop resistance to chemotherapy and evasion mechanisms from the immune system, novel therapies have been developed and are currently undergoing experimentation in hopes of successful outcomes. In order to suppress tumor growth and prevent metastasis, immunotherapy requires (1) activation of

the immune system by secreting cytokines and chemokines or receptor-ligand interactions, (2) expansion of immune effector cells, (3) directing activated effector cells to the site of tumor growth, and (4) effective eradication of tumor cells [3]. For immunotherapy to be successful in accomplishing the four requirements, there has been much emphasis on understanding the tumor microenvironment [3]. Tumor microenvironments present challenges to the immune system because a cluster of tumors can create an additive inhibitory signal that will prevent immune effector cells from acting on the tumors [3,79]. Tumor microenvironments can also create a barrier that prevents immune cells from entering [3,79].

Immune checkpoints have been targeted for immunotherapy due to an advantage that tumor cells can utilize to prevent being killed by T cells [3]. These checkpoints utilize a cascade of pathways that regulate T cell activity and prevent autoimmune response against healthy cells [3,80]. It has been shown that targeting programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) and programmed cell death protein 1 ligand (PD-L1) has positive outcome on eradication of tumor cells [3]. PD-L1 can be upregulated in tumor cells which interacts with PD-1 on T cells allowing inhibition of T cell targeting against tumors [3]. Anti-PD-1 antibodies in combination with anticytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4), another checkpoint molecule expressed by regulatory T cells, has shown the greatest success in clinical trials [3,81-83]. Anti-PD-1 antibodies, known as nivolumab, and anti-CTLA-4 antibodies, known as ipilimumab, have been successful in treating advanced stages of melanoma in clinical trials [81-83]. By blocking CTLA-4 on tumor cells, regulatory T cells will be depleted allowing an increase in cytotoxic T cells [3]. In combination with the anti-PD-1 antibody, the interaction between PD-L1 on tumor cells and PD-1 on cytotoxic T cells will be blocked thus allowing the cytotoxic T cells to kill the tumor cells [3].

CAR T cells has also become another concept of immunotherapy that show promise. CAR T cells are engineered chimeric antigen receptors (CARs) that activates T cells when T cells recognize tumor antigens [3,84,85]. Other concepts in immunotherapy that are being studied include targeting chemokines and cytokines within and around tumor microenvironments, pattern recognition receptor agonists that allow immune cells to be recruit and induce cytokines around tumors, and monoclonal antibodies targeting ligands on tumor cells [3]. The tumor microenvironment serves as an important model to study due to the reliance of immunotherapy to target this environment. While many experimental therapeutics are in still in study, there needs to be a further understanding of the interaction between the tumor microenvironment and immune cells for immunotherapy to be successful [3]. Immunotherapy has shown promise in clinical trials, *in vivo*, and *in vitro*, but there still needs to further studies on the efficacy of these novel therapeutics and minimizing side effects for patients being treated.

1.4 Natural Killer Cell-Based Immunotherapy

Expanding the capability of natural killer (NK) cells in targeting tumor cells has become a novel strategy in tumor immunology since the 1980s (6). Utilizing NK cells to target tumor cells has shown potential in treating different types of cancers such as prostate cancer, glioblastoma, and diffuse B cell lymphoma [6,7,88-90]. NK cells are innate lymphoid cells that contribute to the immune system by controlling microbial infection, suppressing tumor progression, secreting cytokines such as IFN- γ and IL-12 that enhances its own function, and uses its ability to recognize self-healthy cells and eradicate infected, tumor, dysfunctional, and damaged cells [6,88].

NK cells employ its capability of recognizing tumor or infected cells through its NK receptors interacting with ligands or antigens on the surface of target cells [6]. NK cell receptors

interact with molecules such as inhibitory and activating ligands, adhesion receptors, major histocompatibility complex class I receptors (MHC), and cytokine receptors to recognize the target cell [91]. The interaction between NK receptors and its ligands sends a transducing signal that either inhibits or activates the NK cell from inducing lysis of the target cell [6,7,91]. A selfhealthy cell presents a 'self-peptide' on its MHC I molecule and interacts with NK inhibitory receptors allowing the healthy cell to be spared by NK cells [6]. In contrast, a cell missing a selfantigen on its MHC or missing the MHC complex altogether allows the NK cell to recognize the 'non-self' cell and induce lysis [6]. NK cell function is regulated by a net balance of inhibitory and activating ligands on target cells interacting with NK cell receptors (Figure 1.1) [6,7,91].

When there is a net sum of activating ligands interacting with NK receptors more than inhibitory ligands interacting with NK receptors, then NK cell function will be activated. Likewise, if there is a net sum of inhibitory ligands interacting with NK receptors, then NK cell function will be inhibited, and no lysis of the target cell will occur. Target cells that are abnormal, distressed, or damaged can induce NK cell activation by either losing or missing a 'self-antigen' or MHC I receptors or upregulating proteins that bind to activating NK receptors for apoptosis [6]. Cells that are damaged or dysfunctional can release damage-associated molecular pattern molecules (DAMPs) that will signal effector cells to eradicate the affected cell [5]. Killer immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIRs) and CD94/NKG2A are two inhibitory receptors for human leukocyte antigen class I molecules (HLA I) and both receptors utilize the immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibition motifs (ITIMs) for transduction [92]. When a HLA I antigen binds to KIRs or CD94/NKG2A, ITIMs that were tyrosine-phosphorylated will recruit tyrosine phosphatases that will dephosphorylate adaptor molecules attached to the ITIM tail [92]. This dephosphorylation at these tyrosine sites will inhibit transduction for NK activation [92]. In contrast, NK activation occurs when its activating receptors interact with specific ligands on target cells. Natural cytotoxicity receptors (NCRs) are a family of activating receptors expressed by NK cells that recognize ligands on target cells [6]. Within the NCR family, activating receptors include NKp30, NKp44, and NKp46. Other well-known activating NK receptors also include NKG2D (CD314, KLRK1), DNAM1 (CD226), and CD16 (also known as FcγRIIIA, which recognizes the Fc region of IgG antibodies) [6]. The common characteristic of these NK activating receptors is that they have cytoplasmic immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif tails (ITAMs) [6]. Protein tyrosine kinases of the Syk family (Syk and ZAP70) phosphorylate ITAMs at tyrosine residues which then induces adaptor proteins such as SH2 and SH3 to bind to the ITAMs and continue the signaling cascade which activates the NK cell function [6,93]. In summary, activation and inhibition NK signaling depends on the interaction of its NK receptors interacting with ligands on target cells (Figure 1.2).

Another mechanism that natural killer cells utilize is antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC). CD16, or also known as FcγRIIIA receptor, recognizes the Fc region of IgG antibodies and is responsible for ADCC [6]. When CD16 on natural killer cells binds with the FcRγ chains attached to a ligand on a target cell, activation of the natural killer cell occurs due to a signaling cascade involving phosphorylation of immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif (ITAM) tail by Src-family kinases [94]. This signaling cascade induces natural killer cell cytotoxicity and allows lysis of the target tumor cell. This signaling pathway is one of few pathways that contribute to the activation of natural killer cells. Natural killer cell cytotoxicity against tumor cells is a tightly regulated process. The interaction between natural killer cells receptors and ligands on the tumor cells that induces cytotoxicity of natural killer cells requires activation of intracellular signaling pathways. The activation of the signaling pathways

within the natural killer cells results in polarization and granule release towards the tumor cell [94].

Developing immune targeted therapies by stimulating NK cells to lyse TNBCs with monoclonal antibodies or upregulating stimulatory cytokines could open a new avenue to treating TNBC [8]. Fang et al. has noted that the primary approaches used for NK-based immunotherapy involve antibodies, cytokines, and adoptive transfer of ex vivo NK cells that will either increase the number of tumor cells being eradicated by NK cells, improve specific target of tumor cells instead of healthy cells, induce activation of NK cells, and maintain persistency in prolonging NK response in order to effectively decrease tumor cell count [8]. Cytokines can improve the NK cell quantity against a tumor population and increase NK function to decrease tumor immunogenicity [8]. Among the most popular cytokines used is interferon-2 (IL-2). IL-2 was the first cytokine that was approved for use in patients but has its limitations [95]. IL-2 allows expansion and activation of NK cells, which are known as lymphokine-activated killer cells (LAK) [8]. The limitation to using IL-2 is that this interferon also activates T cells especially regulatory T cells, which is known to suppress immune effector cells [8]. It has also been observed that increasing IL-2 treatment causes damage to organs and increased vascular endothelium [95-97]. Another cytokine of use is IL-15. It has been shown that IL-15 contributes to enhancing cytotoxicity of NK cells [95]. The advantage that IL-15 has over IL-2 is that IL-15 does not expand regulatory T cell numbers and favors expansion of NK cells and CD8+ T cells with less side effects such as lower capillary leakage as reported [8,98,99]. In addition to IL-2 and IL-15, IL-12 was also used to stimulate NK cells while also enhancing CD8+ T cells [8,100].

Another set of NK-based immunotherapies in development are antibodies [8]. Antibodies provide a major advantage in ways where ADCC can be utilized, blocking interaction of

inhibitory ligands increases NK response, and blocking proteins that favors tumorigenesis or growth [8]. The use of antibodies has come into play in treating ovarian cancer [101,102]. Several tumor-associated antigens were identified on ovarian cancer including NY-ESO-1, CA 125, MUC1, and epithelial cell adhesion molecule (EpCAM) [101,102]. These particular antigens were targeted with monoclonal antibodies which allowed activation of NK cells through the ADCC mechanism [101]. Monoclonal antibodies were also used in blocking interactions between ligands and NK receptors. Mathew *et al.* had demonstrated that Lectin-like Transcript-1 (LLT1) ligand was overexpressed in prostate cancer [88]. They had shown that blocking LLT1 inhibitory interaction with NK receptor CD161 (NKRP1A) with monoclonal antibodies had enhanced lysis of prostate cancer cells by NK cells [88]. Antibodies can target immune checkpoints, which serve as signaling pathways that prevents immune effector cells from targeting self-tissue [101]. There are antibodies have been developed to target checkpoint pathways such as CTLA-4, PD-1, NKG2A/CD94 complex, and CD96 receptors [96,101,103].

In addition, adoptive transfer of NK cells has been explored. This strategy presents a major challenge as already shown in clinical trials with patients who have undergone chemotherapy [8]. NK cells can be derived from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) and treated with cytokines in medium to amplify the population and increase effector function [8]. Interestingly, Lee *et al.* demonstrated that large-scale expansion of purified NK cells with increased antitumor function was derived from irradiated PBMCs [104]. They have shown that irradiating PBMCs with a radiation dose of 25 Gy inactivates T cells and upregulates NKG2D ligands and CD48 ligands [104]. By using a combination of anti-CD16 monoclonal antibodies with the irradiated PBMCs, there was nearly a 6,000-fold expansion in the NK cell population 21 days after PBMC irradiation [104]. They have also shown that NK cell activating receptors, 2B4,

NKp30, NKp44, NKp48, NKG2D, and DNAM-1, were upregulated when treated with anti-CD16 monoclonal antibodies [104]. This study took it one step further where these purified NK cells were transferred into tumor mice models [104]. Lee *et al.* observed that these expanded NK cells have higher antitumor activity such as increased expression of CD107a (a degranulation marker) and higher secretion of IFN- γ against lung and colon cancer xenografts in NOD/SCID mice than NK cells not derived from irradiated PBMCs [104]. Although adoptive transfer of NK cells has shown some prospect in xenograft mice models, yielding a large number of NK cells is challenging for transfer into humans [8]. In conclusion, NK-based immunotherapy has shown some promise as another option for patients. There still needs to be further studies on the efficacy of this particular novel therapy, but more important is how this type of experimental treatment can effectively translate from xenograft models and cell lines to clinical patient models.

1.5 Lectin-like Transcript-1 (LLT1) and NKRP1A Interaction

One particular ligand of interest for NK cell targeting on tumor cells is Lectin-like Transcript-1 (LLT1, CLEC2D, OCIL). LLT1 is part of the C-type lectin-like receptor superfamily which is encoded by CLEC2D genes within the human natural killer gene complex [105]. LLT1 has five alternative spliced variants (excluding isoform 3 which is a RNA decay product) of the CLEC2D gene with isoform 1 identified to encode for cell surface LLT1 interacting with NKRP1A (CD161) receptor [106,107]. LLT1 is expressed on lymphocytes such as B cells, NK cells, and T cells, and activated dendritic cells [106,107]. Interestingly, Llibre *et al.* reported high expression of LLT1 on human germinal center B cells, early plasmablasts, and germinal center-derived lymphomas [105]. The same study has also reported that LLT1 expression is also found on follicular dendritic cells and that upregulation of LLT1 promotes B

cell activation [108]. Crystallography has revealed that LLT1 forms a homodimer at its cell surface which enables LLT1 to serve as a ligand for the NKRP1A receptor on NK cells [105,108-110].

Natural killer cell receptor NKRP1A is encoded by a single gene KLRB1 and is expressed on NK cells, CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, invariant NKT cells, $\gamma\delta$ -TCR⁺ T cells, and a subset of CD3⁺ thymocytes [107,111]. Studies have shown that NKRP1A expression contribute to the role of differentiation of lymphocytes [112]. NKRP1A expression was detected on dendritic cells during monocyte differentiation from both the bone marrow and precursors in the thymus [112]. It has been demonstrated by Poggi *et al.* that antigens binding to NKRP1A leads to an increase in production of interleukins IL-1 β and IL-12 by non-activated monocytes and dendritic cells [112]. This induced production of IL-12 leads to an upregulation of NKRP1A expression in human NK cells which can contribute to the role in regulating NK cell activation [112,113].

LLT1 on target cells interacting with natural killer cell receptor NKRP1A leads to inhibition of NK-cell mediated cytolytic targeting (Figure 1.3) [110]. The role of interaction between LLT1 and NKRP1A in modulating immune responses was observed when upregulation of LLT1 was induced by pathogens and expression of NKRP1A was found on NK, T_H1, and T_H17 cells [114]. Furthermore, overexpression of LLT1 was observed on prostate cancer cells and leads to inhibition of NK-cell mediated cytolytic killing against these prostate cancer cells [6].

1.6 Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen (PCNA) and NKp44 Interaction

Proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) is a well-studied accessory protein that contributes to the role of DNA repair mechanism, DNA replication, cell cycle regulation, and chromatin remodeling [115]. PCNA plays a key role in DNA replication as a nuclear protein associated with the progression of the replication forks [116]. To initiate DNA synthesis, DNA polymerase α -primase serves as a priming enzyme that synthesizes a short RNA primer of 10 nucleotides for further DNA synthesis [116]. The recruitment and function of polymerase α -primase does not need PCNA, but it is in the preceding steps of DNA synthesis where PCNA will begin to play an important role [116].

When priming of the DNA is complete, PCNA as an accessory protein assists in the recruitment and exchange of polymerases δ and ε at the replication forks [116]. Upon exchange, polymerase δ is involved in discontinuous synthesis of the lagging strand while polymerase ε is involved in the continuous synthesis of the leading strand [116,117]. PCNA with assistance of helper proteins at the replication fork enables PCNA to be clamped around DNA by replication factor C protein complex [116]. It is the combination of replication factor C protein complex and PCNA that facilitates the exchange of polymerases α with δ and ε and further allow DNA synthesis to continue [116]. PCNA is also involved in recruiting and facilitating enzymatic reactions that ligate Okazaki fragments [116]. PCNA interacts with DNA ligase I and induces a conformation change that allows the ligase to seal the Okazaki fragments [116].

In addition to DNA replication, PCNA contributes its role in DNA repair through several repair pathways including base excision repair, mismatch repair, and nucleotide excision repair [116]. PCNA is also involved in chromatin assembly and maintenance [116]. It has been studied that one of the chromatin remodeling factors CAF1 (chromatin assembly factor 1) interacts with PCNA which could lead one to suggest that chromatin remodeling may be coupled with DNA replication [116,118,119]. Furthermore, PCNA function is regulated by cell-cycle regulators such as p21 [116]. Cell-cycle regulator p21 interacts with PCNA in order to inhibit DNA
replication process [116]. Part of the cell-cycle regulation involves inducing apoptosis where PCNA plays another role [116]. PCNA interacts with proteins ING1b (inhibitor of growth 1b) and suppresses anti-apoptotic proteins in order to induce apoptosis [116]. PCNA serves as an important protein in DNA replication, synthesis, and cell cycle regulation, but it can also serve as a biomarker for cancer.

PCNA is known to be overexpressed in certain cancers and has been well documented in various studies that PCNA enhances cancer cell survival and proliferation [116,120,121]. Naryzhny *et al.* demonstrated that three breast cancer cell lines (MDA-MB-468, MDA-MB-231, and MCF7) showed higher expression of PCNA than non-tumorigenic breast cell lines HMEC and MCF10A by SDS-PAGE/western blot [120]. It is important to note that Naryzhny *et al.* emphasized and demonstrated that there is no cancer-associated form of PCNA and non-tumorigenic form of PCNA separately [120]. There is one form of PCNA that is expressed on both cancer cells and non-tumorigenic cells; in other words, there is no difference in post-translational modification of PCNA between cancer cells and non-tumorigenic cells [120]. It was demonstrated that the overall PCNA expression levels were higher in cancer cells than non-tumorigenic cells [120].

Rosental *et al.* showed that PCNA expressed on the cell surface of tumor cells ranging from pancreatic, breast, melanoma, lymphoma, and glioblastoma cells interacts with natural killer cell receptor NKp44 [121]. NKp44 is part of the natural cytotoxicity receptors (NCRs) expressed by activated NK cells and induces cytotoxic lysis of tumor and virally infected cells with its DAP12-binding domain in the NKp44 complex [122-124]. NKp44 binds to ligands PCNA, NKp44L, and viral envelope glycoproteins [6,121,122]. PCNA serves as an inhibitory ligand that interacts with NKp44 on NK cells and sends an inhibitory signal through the

immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motif (ITIM) on NKp44 [90,121]. It has been shown that nuclear and cytoplasmic PCNA protein in the target cells gets trafficked to the NK immunological synapse when NKp44 is expressed at the surface of NK cells [121]. Furthermore, Horton *et al.* showed that PCNA colocalizes with human leukocyte antigen I (HLA I) showing association of PCNA and HLA I which results in inhibition of NK cell function when PCNA interacts with NKp44 [90]. PCNA has several functions in relation with DNA replication, chromatin remodeling, DNA synthesis, and cell cycle regulation, but PCNA interaction with NKp44 also inhibits NK cell activity allowing tumor cells to evade NK killing.

1.7 Hypothesis and Specific Aims

Hypothesis

LLT1 and PCNA are expressed on triple-negative breast cancer cells (TNBCs) and allow TNBC

cells to evade recognition and cytolytic targeting by natural killer cells. Blocking LLT1-

NKRP1A or PCNA-NKp44 interactions enhances killing of TNBCs by NK cells.

Specific Aims

This hypothesis will be tested under the following specific aims.

Specific Aim 1:

Investigate the expression of LLT1 and PCNA on TNBCs.

Specific Aim 2:

Investigate the functional outcome of blocking the interactions of LLT1 and PCNA on TNBCs

with NKRP1A and NKp44 on NK cells to target TNBC by primary natural killer cells.

Sub Aim 2.1: Blocking LLT1-NKRP1A or PCNA-NKp44 interaction with antibodies enhances killing.

Sub Aim 2.2: Blocking LLT1-NKRP1A interaction with siRNA enhances killing of TNBCs.

1.8 Significance

The absence of the estrogen (ER), progesterone (PR), and human epidermal growth factor-2 (HER2) receptors on triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) cells makes it difficult to effectively utilize hormonal therapies. TNBC represents an estimated 15 to 20 percent of all breast cancer cases [125]. Patients diagnosed with TNBC have poorer prognosis, higher chance of relapse, and increased chance of metastasis. Among the subtypes of breast cancers, TNBC is recognized as the most invasive subtype of breast cancer and is the most difficult type of breast cancer to treat. For breast cancer cells that are positive for ER and/or PR receptors, the expression and presence of ER and PR receptors allow estrogen or progesterone to bind to these receptors and begin a cascade of cell signaling pathways that contribute to cell division and growth [37]. Patients with breast cancer that are positive for ER and PR receptors have responded more effectively to hormonal therapies such as tamoxifen, fulvestrant, and aromatase inhibitors such as anastrozole, letrozole, and exemestane. These specific treatments are aimed to either suppress estrogen or progesterone production levels, modify ER and PR receptors, or block these receptors [40]. The limitation is that hormonal therapies work effectively for patients with hormone-receptor positive breast cancer cells. In the case of patients with triple-negative breast cancer, these hormonal treatments are not successful at inhibiting the proliferation and growth of these breast tumor cells and metastasis due to the lack of these three receptors to target with hormonal therapies.

Standard treatment for TNBC includes both radiation therapy and chemotherapy. Chemotherapy initially had been successful for patients that are diagnosed with TNBC for the first time; however, studies have shown that TNBCs develop resistance to chemotherapy and relapse occurs after surgery [3,4]. TNBC resistance to chemotherapy is attributed to its

chromosomal instability due to prevalent chromosome 5q deletions [126]. Chromosome 5q deletions are associated with deregulation of signaling molecules, transcription factors, and cell division genes [126]. It has been demonstrated that this chromosomal instability is associated with poor outcomes in patients with lung, colon, and breast cancer driven by intratumor heterogeneity [126,127]. Chromosomal instability in intratumor heterogeneity for TNBCs increases the chance that genes favoring drug-resistance can accumulate in genomes of arising tumors and could lead to acquired drug resistance during initial chemotherapy treatment [127,128]. It has been reported in studies that TNBCs are more sensitive to chemotherapy treatment than breast cancer cells of other subtypes [40,66,67,129]. Even with TNBC's heightened sensitivity to chemotherapy, chemotherapy presents adverse side effects from physical and immune complications to long-term cognitive impairment [37,40,130-134]. Considering the low success of hormonal therapies and many prevalent side effects from chemotherapy, immunotherapy has been explored as an alternative attractive treatment for patients diagnosed with TNBC.

To overcome limitations of chemotherapy and hormonal treatment, targeting ligands such as LLT1 and PCNA on TNBCs that send inhibitory signals to natural killer cells may contribute to improving therapeutic options. This study is the first that looks at LLT1 expression specifically on triple-negative breast cancer cells. Although PCNA has already been shown to be expressed on triple-negative breast cancer cell lines, this specific study introduces targeting cellsurface PCNA on TBNCs with monoclonal antibodies which would favor activation of NK cells. This study is significant in a way that we are exploiting the expression of inhibitory ligands LLT1 and PCNA from an immunotherapeutic perspective. This project has shown that targeting LLT1 and PCNA with monoclonal antibodies introduces novel targets that will further enhance immunotherapy treatments. We have also performed combinational antibody treatments by simultaneously targeting all combinations of LLT1, PCNA, and HLA with antibodies which showed synergy and enhanced killing of TNBCs by NK cells *in vitro*. Although there has been some promise *in vitro*, it is necessary to take the next step of targeting LLT1 and PCNA on TNBCs *in vivo* models to see if these results can be replicated or further enhanced in these models. Targeting LLT1 and PCNA with monoclonal antibodies will present another promising option for patients diagnosed with triple-negative breast cancer.

NK receptors and ligand interactions dictates net inhibition or activation of NK cells.

NK cell function is regulated by a net balance of inhibitory and activating signals being sent to the natural killer cell. This intricate balance depends on the number of and strength of transducing signals from activating and inhibitory ligands interacting with its NK receptors.



NK receptors and ligands that leads to either inhibition or activation of NK function.

Ligands on tumor cells interacts with NK receptors and sends either an activating or inhibitory signal to NK cells.



Inhibitory ligands LLT1 and PCNA interacts with natural killer cell receptors.

Lectin-like Transcript-1 (LLT1) expressed on tumor cell interacts with natural killer cell receptor NKRP1A (CD161) and Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen (PCNA) interacts with natural killer cell receptor NKp44. LLT1-NKRP1A and PCNA-NKp44 interactions send a signal that inhibits natural killer activation thus preventing lysis of the tumor cell.



Specific Aim 1

Investigate the expression of LLT1 and PCNA on triple-negative breast cancer cells.



Specific Aim 2

Investigate the functional outcome of blocking the interactions of LLT1 and PCNA on triplenegative breast cancer cells with CD161 and NKp44 on NK cells to target TNBC by natural killer cells by anti-LLT1 and anti-PCNA antibodies (Sub Aim 2.1) and gene knockdown of *LLT1* (Sub Aim 2.2).



CHAPTER II

MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Cell Lines

All cells lines were acquired from American Type Culture Collection(ATCC). Human breast cancer cell lines with a triple negative phenotype (ER⁻ PR⁻ HER2⁻) on its cell surface used are MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, and MDA-MB-468. MCF10A, a human non-tumorigenic epithelial breast cell line, and MCF7, a non-triple negative phenotype, were also used. MDA-MB-231 (ATCC HTB-26) is a human breast adenocarcinoma epithelial cell line that was derived from a pleural effusion on October 17, 1973 at M.D. Anderson Hospital (Houston, TX) [135,136]. MDA-MB-436 (ATCC HTB-130) is a human breast adenocarcinoma cell line derived from pleural effusion on January 23, 1976 at M.D. Anderson Hospital [135,136]. MDA-MB-468 (ATCC HTB-132) is a human breast adenocarcinoma cell line derived from pleural effusion on November 4, 1977 at M.D. Anderson Hospital [135,136]. MCF10A (ATCC CRL-10317) is a non-tumorigenic breast epithelial cell line derived from human fibrocystic mammary tissue on August 22, 1984 at Michigan Cancer Foundation [137,138]. MCF7 (ATCC HTB-22) is a nontriple negative breast cancer epithelial cell line derived from pleural effusion and shows positive expression of the estrogen receptor at Michigan Cancer Foundation [139].

2.2 Cell Culturing

Cell lines used were MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, MDA-MB-468, MCF7, and MCF10A. Primary natural killer cells (NK) isolated from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) of whole blood were also cultured in artificial media. Cells were grown in sterile culture flasks or well plates in a 37°C 5% CO₂ incubator. Cells were grown to 80 to 90 percent

confluence and then were passaged into new flasks or well plates containing appropriate media for each cell line. For cell lines that are known to adhere to flasks (MCF7, MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, MDA-MB-468), passage occurs upon confluence and was performed by removing media, aspirating the cells with 1X phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) with ethylenediamine-tetracetic acid (EDTA) or trypsin-EDTA (for MCF10A), and transferring to new sterile flasks or wells with fresh media for further growth or use. For free-floating cells such as primary NK cells, cells floating in the media in the flasks were transferred to a conical tube and were centrifuged for 5 minutes at 250 rpm at 4°C. Old media was discarded without disrupting the cell pellet and fresh new media was added with the pellet resuspended. NK cells resuspended with fresh new media were transferred to a new flask or well plate where 50 U/ml of recombinant human interleukin-2 (rhIL-2) was added.

MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, and MCF7 were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 2 mM L-glutamine, and penicillin-streptomycin. MDA-MB-468 was cultured in 4+ Roswell Park Memorial Institute 1640 complete medium (RPMI) containing 10% FBS and penicillin-streptomycin. MCF10A was cultured in Medium 171 supplemented with Mammary Epithelial Growth Supplement (MEGS). Primary NK cells were cultured in 4+ RPMI containing 15% FBS and penicillin-streptomycin and 50 U/ml of rhIL-2 added in the flasks or wells containing media. For cell lines that were transfected with small interference RNAs (MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-436 transfected with siRNAs), these cell lines were grown in DMEM containing 10% FBS and 2mM L-glutamine, but no penicillin-streptomycin was added.

2.3 Flow Cytometry Analysis

Expression of ligands (LLT1 and PCNA) was detected on the cell surface by flow cytometry analysis. Cells were grown to near confluence on sterile culture flasks or well plates and then were appropriately removed from the flasks or well plates for use. Cells were checked for viability by staining with trypan blue and counted under the hemocytometer. Cells were first treated with human Fc fragment to block CD16 ligands on TNBCs. All samples of cell lines (MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, MDA-MB-468, MCF7, and MCF10A) were then stained with either conjugated mouse anti-human LLT1 or PCNA antibodies containing phycoerythrin (PE) or conjugated mouse anti-human isotype antibodies containing PE fluorophore. Cells stained with isotype antibodies were used as controls in flow cytometry analysis to compensate for any non-specific binding of LLT1-PE or PCNA-PE antibodies. Cells stained with either ligand-specific antibodies or isotype antibodies were incubated at 4°C in the dark for 30 minutes. After incubation, cells were washed with PBS-BSA to remove unbound antibodies before analysis.

Samples underwent detection of bound antibodies using the Beckman Coulter Cytomics FC500 Flow Cytometer in the University of North Texas Health Science Center Core Facility. For all independent experiments, the sampling size of samples from cell lines MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, MDA-MB-468, and MCF7 was approximately 20,000 cells in each sample of each experiment. The sampling size of samples from cell line MCF10A was approximately 8,500 cells. All data collections were analyzed using the FlowJo software where the cell population were gated for live cells and then gated for positive detection of ligands LLT1 or PCNA on the cells.

Two quantitative measures, median fluorescence intensity ratio (MFIR) and percentage of cells that are positive for either of the two ligands, were used to determine expression of

ligands for each sample of each cell line. Median fluorescence intensity is a measure of intensity of the fluorophore detected on the conjugated antibody bound to its target protein assigned by the flow cytometer. MFIR, the ratio, is calculated by the number of live cells that are positive for ligands LLT1 or PCNA divided by the number of live cells that are positive for isotype antibodies bound to the cell surface. MFIR above 1.00 indicated positive expression of ligands LLT1 or PCNA for the samples tested. MFIR at or below 1.00 indicated negligible expression of ligands LLT1 or PCNA for the samples tested. To compare the expression of ligands on each of the cell lines, all MFIRs were collected from all independent experiments and the mean and population standard deviation were calculated. One-way ANOVA with Dunnett's multiple comparisons post-hoc test was used for statistical analysis to compare the statistical difference between the means of MFIRs of cell surface ligand expression LLT1 or PCNA on MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, MDA-MB-468, and MCF7 cell lines and control non-tumorigenic breast cell line MCF10A.

2.4 Isolation of Human Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells and Primary Natural Killer Cells

Primary natural killer cells were used in co-incubation with TNBCs in the ⁵¹Cr release cytotoxicity assay (see section 2.9 for specific details on this assay). Protocols involving isolating natural killer cells from healthy human subjects were approved with voluntary consent and reviewed by the Institutional Review Board. Primary natural killer cells were isolated from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) which were formerly isolated from whole blood [140].

Whole blood was collected from healthy volunteers and then were treated with Histopaque-1077 density gradient. The Histopaque-1077 density gradient was used to separate

whole blood into different layers (serum, PBMCs, platelets, and erythrocytes layers) during the 20-minute centrifugation process. After centrifugation, the white layer consisting of PBMCs was carefully isolated into new sterile conical tubes and processed further according to standard PBMC purification protocol. PBMCs consist of monocytes, dendritic cells, and lymphoid cells such as B lymphocytes, T lymphocytes, and natural killer cells [5]. Upon isolation of PBMCs, PBMCs were counted using a hemocytometer in preparation for the following natural killer cell isolation steps.

Primary natural killer cells were isolated from PBMCs by following standard protocol instructions in the Miltenyi Biotec natural killer cell isolation kit. For every tube containing 10⁷ PBMCs, PBMCs were treated with a prepared buffer consisting of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS at pH 7.2), 0.5% bovine serum albumin (BSA), and 2 mM EDTA. Natural killer cell biotin-antibody cocktail was, then, added to the buffer-treated PBMCs and underwent a 5-minute incubation at 4°C. After incubation, PBMCs were treated with NK cell microbead cocktail before the subsequent magnetic NK cell separation step. The magnetic NK cell separation step utilizes a column in the magnetic field of a MACS Miltenyi Biotec Separator to collect the flow-through fluid containing purified natural killer cells. Upon separation, primary natural killer cells were cultured in 4+ RPMI media supplemented with 15% fetal bovine serum and 50 U/ml of recombinant human interleukin-2 in either sterile well plates or culture flasks. Primary NK cells were kept in culture overnight before use in the ⁵¹Cr release cytotoxicity assay the next day.

2.5 Gene Knockdown by Lipid-Mediated siRNA Transfection

Transient transfection of small interference RNAs (siRNA) targeting the LLT1 gene was performed in order to knockdown or decrease the expression of LLT1 at the cell surface of TNBCs with scramble siRNA used as a control. Cells were initially grown to slightly more than 50 to 60 percent confluency on sterile 96-well plates. SMARTpool: ON-TARGETplus CLEC2D (LLT1) 5 nmol siRNAs and SMARTpool: ON-TARGETplus non-targeting 5 nmol siRNA #2 were used in this transfection according to protocol by GE Healthcare Dharmacon, Inc [141]. SiRNAs were diluted from a 20 µM siRNA stock to a 5 µM working stock with 1X siRNA buffer, which was formerly diluted from a 5X siRNA buffer. Transfection optimization conditions were determined by GE Healthcare Dharmacon for cell lines MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-436. Manufacturer protocol on transfection was followed according to Dharmacon. Cells were transfected with either CLEC2D siRNA or non-targeting siRNA for 63 hours in the 37°C 5% CO₂ incubator. After transfection for a period of predetermined number of hours, knockdown of cell surface LLT1 on MDA-MB-436 was confirmed by flow cytometry analysis staining transfected cells with either anti-human LLT1-PE antibodies or isotype control mouse IgG₁-PE antibodies.

2.6 Immunofluorescence Confocal Microscopy

Confocal microscopy was performed to visually observe expression of LLT1 at the cll surface and intracellularly. MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, MDA-MB-468, and MCF7 were cultured on coverslips overnight. Cells were fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde and then were incubated with blocking solution containing human Fc fragment to prevent non-specific binding of antibodies. Cells were stained with conjugated mouse anti-human LLT1 antibodies with phycoerythrin (PE) fluorophore attached for detection of ligands at the cell surface. To observe

intracellular and total expression of LLT1, cells were first fixed, permeabilized with 0.2% Triton X-100 (Sigma-Aldrich), and then were stained with mouse anti-human LLT1-PE antibodies. After washing in PBS, the coverslips were mounted on slides using Aqua-Mount solution and imaged on Zeiss LSM 510 Confocal Laser Microscope using the 40x, 1.2 NA, 0.28 WD (water), C-apochromat objective at 488 nm wavelength.

2.7 Cell Extract Preparation and Western Blot Analysis

Cell lines MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, MDA-MB-468, MCF7, and MCF10A were grown to near confluency in sterile flasks. These cells were passaged, aspirated with PBS-EDTA, and collected. Cells were treated with lysis buffer and protease and phosphate inhibitor cocktail at 4°C for 30 minutes to allow secreted protein to be isolated in preceding steps. After incubating on ice for 30 minutes, cell debris was removed after centrifugation and protein concentrations were analyzed and quantified using the Pierce BCA protein assay (Thermo Scientific). NuPAGE Novex 4-12% Bis-Tris Gels (1.5 mm) readymade gels with MES buffer were used to separate cell protein extracts. Cell extracts were transferred to a nitrocellulose transfer stack for 10 minutes using the Invitrogen iBlot Gel Horizontal Transfer Device. Membrane was then incubated with mouse anti-human unconjugated LLT1 antibody overnight in 5% fat-free milk with 0.05% Tween 20. After washings with Tween 20, the membranes were then incubated with horseradish peroxidase-linked anti-mouse secondary antibody at room temperature for 2 hours. Membranes were next developed, and an image was obtained where bands were analyzed for total LLT1 expression.

2.8 Subcellular Protein Fractionation

Subcellular protein fractionation allows isolation of membrane, cytoplasmic, and nuclear proteins in cell lines being tested according to manufacturer's protocol [142]. Proteins extracted from membrane, cytoplasm, and nucleus are treated with anti-LLT1 and anti-PCNA antibodies and then tested for expression of ligands on the western blot in order to compare the expression of ligands in the three phases.

Cell lines MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-468, and MCF10A were grown to near confluency in sterile culture flasks. Cells were passaged, aspirated with PBS-EDTA, collected, and counted. Two million cells of each cell line were harvested, centrifuged, and treated with cold cytoplasmic extraction buffer (CEB) containing protease inhibitors. After adding CEB, the samples were incubated at 4°C for 10 minutes before centrifugation. After centrifugation, supernatant containing cytoplasmic protein was removed and transferred to a pre-chilled Eppendorf tube. The remaining cell pellet was then treated with membrane extraction buffer (MEB). Sample was incubated at 4°C for 5 minutes before centrifugation. Supernatant containing membrane protein was transferred to a new pre-chilled tube. Nuclear extraction buffer (NEB) was added to the remaining cell pellet, incubated for 30 minutes, and centrifuged. Supernatant containing nuclear protein was transferred to a new tube. Membrane, cytoplasm, and nuclear proteins extracted from the three cell lines are quantified using Pierce BCA protein assay before proceeding with standard western blot protocol and analysis (as described in section 2.7).

2.9⁵¹Cr Release Assay

The ⁵¹Cr release cytotoxicity assay was used to quantify the percentage of cells from the cell lines tested killed by primary natural killer cells (Figure 2.1). Cell lines MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, MDA-MB-468, and MCF10A were treated with anti-LLT1 and/or anti-PCNA

antibodies and were tested in this assay to observe that a decrease in inhibitory signals sent to the natural killer cells would enhance lysis of these cells by natural killer cells.

Cells from the listed cell lines were first collected and then labeled with radioactive isotope 51 Cr by incubation in the 37°C 5% CO₂ incubator for 90 minutes. After incubation, cells were treated with 1 µg (per well) of either goat anti-human LLT1 antibody, mouse anti-human PCNA antibody, goat isotype IgG antibody, or mouse IgG_{2a} antibody. Cells were incubated at 4°C for 30 minutes to allow antibodies to bind to respective target ligands. Primary natural killer cells were treated with human Fc fragment to block all CD16a receptors on natural killer cells. After antibody incubation, cells from each cell line are then co-incubated with primary natural killer cells for a period of 4 hours at three different effector-to-target ratios (NK-to-5000 Target Cells), 25:1, 5:1, and 1:1 in a 96-well plate.

Co-incubation occurs in a 37°C 5% CO₂ incubator. After co-incubation and subsequent centrifugation to separate cell debris, 100 μ l of supernatant in each well were transferred to each respective scintillation vial containing 2 ml of scintillation fluid. The vials were taken to a scintillation counter where the counts per minute (CPM) was collected. CPM values are converted to percent specific lysis of cells according to the formula (displayed in Figure 2.1). Student t-test with Welch's correction was used to compare the percent specific lysis of cells treated with either anti-LLT1 and/or anti-PCNA antibodies to the isotype control or negative control for each cell line within each of the three effector-to-target ratios.

Figure 2.1

Schematic Representation of ⁵¹Cr Release Cytotoxicity Assay Workflow



CHAPTER III

RESULTS

RATIONALE

Breast cancer is known to be one of the most common cancers in women. Triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) is considered to be the most aggressive form of breast cancer due to the absence of ER, PR, and HER2 receptors and accounts for nearly 20 percent of all breast cancer cases [36]. TNBC is associated with poor prognosis and has poor response to hormonal treatments and increased chance of relapse after initial rounds of chemotherapy. Our long-term goal is to utilize natural killer cells to target ligands with inhibitory function on TNBCs and other types of cancers. The objective of this project is to characterize the expression of ligands on TNBCs that inhibit NK cell function.

Based on previous studies, we have determined the two ligands of interest to target on TNBCs. Two ligands of interest are Lectin-like Transcript-1 (LLT1), which interacts with NK receptor NKRP1A (CD161), and Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen (PCNA), which interacts with NK receptor NKp44. The central hypothesis is that LLT1 and PCNA are expressed on TNBCs and allow TNBC cells to evade recognition and cytolytic targeting by natural killer cells. The rationale is that previous studies have shown that LLT1 and PCNA are expressed on the cell surface of different types of cancer cells, as will be discussed throughout this section. Therefore, we rationalized that LLT1 and PCNA may be expressed on TNBCs and that each ligand function as an inhibitory ligand that suppresses NK cells from killing TNBCs.

Prior studies demonstrated that LLT1 expressed on cancer cells interacts with NKRP1A on NK cells. Studies have shown that LLT1 was expressed on glioma cells, non-Hodgkin

lymphoma B cells, and prostate cancer cells which functions to suppress NK cell cytolytic function against these cancer cells [88,89,175]. Mathew *et al.* reported overexpression of LLT1 on prostate cancer cells and showed that blocking interaction between LLT1 and NKP1A have increased killing of prostate cancer cells [88]. Germain *et al.* have also observed LLT1 expression on germinal center B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphomas which also prevents activation of NK cell function [175]. Another study performed by Roth *et al.* have shown that LLT1 expression on malignant glioma cells inhibits antitumor immune activity by interacting with NKRP1A [89]. To the best of our knowledge, there has not been a study that evaluated LLT1 expression on TNBCs. Since there was LLT1 expression on different types of cancers, we would like to determine if there is expression of LLT1 on TNBCs and whether blocking LLT1-NKRP1A interaction will enhance killing of TNBCs by NK cells.

For PCNA, previous studies have shown that PCNA expressed on certain types of cancers has increased cancer cell survival, metastasis, and proliferation [116,120,121]. One study conducted by Naryzhny *et al.* observed higher expression of PCNA on three breast cancer cell lines MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-468, and MCF7 than normal breast cell lines HMEC and MCF10A by western blot analysis [120]. Although total PCNA expression (combined membrane, cytoplasmic, and nuclear expression) was focused on in the study mentioned, we are interested in looking at cell surface PCNA expression on TNBCs and how blocking PCNA at the cell surface of TNBCs will affect NK cell function. There is also evidence of PCNA expressed on pancreatic, breast, melanoma, lymphoma, and glioblastoma cells shown by Rosental *et al.* [121]. This group has shown that PCNA on these cancer cells interacts with NKp44 and inhibits NK cell function [121]. Furthermore, Horton *et al.* showed that PCNA colocalizes with human leukocyte antigen I (HLA I) and synergistically to inhibits NK cell function when PCNA

interacts with NKp44 [90]. Therefore, because there is evidence of PCNA expression on different types of cancers, we would like to determine if there is expression of PCNA at the cell surface of TNBCs and if blocking PCNA-NKp44 interaction between TNBCs and NK cells will allow NK cells to kill TNBCs. By blocking either LLT1-NKRP1A interaction and PCNA-NKRP1A interaction, a net signal sent to NK cells will then favor activation of NK cell function which then allows NK cells to kill TNBCs.

3.1 EXPRESSION AND FUNCTION OF LLT1 on TNBCs

Introduction

Lectin-like Transcript-1 (LLT1, CLEC2D, OCIL) is a ligand that when expressed on cells interacts with NKRP1A (CD161) on NK cells. The LLT1-NKRP1A interaction sends an inhibitory signal to the natural killer cell through the immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory tail (ITIM) on the NKRP1A cytoplasmic tail. LLT1 expression and function has been characterized on immune cells such as B cells, T cells, NK cells, and activated dendritic cells [106,107]. Triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) is the most aggressive form of breast cancer and has the lowest level of success in tumor suppression by conventional chemotherapeutic treatments. With consideration of the cancer immunoediting concept, TNBCs may have established mechanisms that allow tumor cells to escape immunosurveillance by immune cells. There has been a limited number of studies identifying ligands specifically on TNBCs that contribute to the TNBC role of evading targeting by NK cells. Of the available studies that do identify ligands, those studies heavily focused on targeting programmed cell death 1 and its ligand. This study is the first that, we know of, that looks at both the expression and function of LLT1 on triple-negative breast cancer cell lines from an immunotherapeutic perspective. We have found that TNBC cell lines show higher expression of LLT1 at the cell surface compared to

non-tumorigenic breast cell line MCF10A. We have also demonstrated that blocking LLT1-NKRP1A (CD161) interaction enhances killing of TNBCs by primary NK cells. Due to the difference in expression of LLT1 between TNBCs and non-tumorigenic breast cells, LLT1 may serve as a possible target with antibodies, which would suppress inhibitory signals from being sent to the NK cells.

3.1.1 Lectin-like Transcript-1 (LLT1) is Expressed on Triple-Negative Breast Cancer Cells and Inhibits Natural Killer Cell Activation

Cell Surface LLT1 Expression on TNBCs by Flow Cytometry Analysis.

Flow cytometry analysis was performed to detect and quantify expression of LLT1 at the cell surface of TNBCs and non-tumorigenic breast cell lines. All cell lines tested (MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, MDA-MB-468, MCF7, and MCF10A) are known to adhere to the surface of culture flasks. When cells were harvested from culture, phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) containing EDTA was used instead of trypsin-EDTA to prevent both degradation and cleavage of cell surface LLT1 ligand and block leaking of cytoplasmic LLT1 protein secreted. Cells were treated with a human Fc fragment in order to block potential Fc receptors or Fc-receptor ligands that could be present on cell lines being tested. Any presence of Fc receptors or Fc-receptor ligands on membranes of cell surface. After treating cells with a Fc fragment, cells were stained with either conjugated anti-human LLT1-PE antibodies or isotype IgG1-PE antibodies.

Expression of LLT1 was quantified and represented by median fluorescence intensity ratios and percentage of cells positive for LLT1. The median florescence intensity (MFI) refers

to the 50th percentile of the antibody-treated cell population whose fluorescence (released by either the fluorophore attached to the antibody or natural fluorescence of the cell) was detected by the flow cytometer. In reference to analyzing results of this experiment, median fluorescence intensity ratio (MFIR) is defined as the MFI of the cell population stained with the anti-LLT1-PE antibody divided by the MFI of the cell population stained with isotype IgG₁-PE antibodies. Cells were gated on a single live cell population since only one antibody was used at a time in staining the cells which does not require compensation.

Three TNBC cell lines MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, and MDA-MB-468 were tested for cell surface LLT1 expression and were compared to non-TNBC cytoplasmic estrogen receptor-positive cell line MCF7 and non-tumorigenic mammary epithelial cell line MCF10A. In one representative experiment out of all independent experiments, TNBC cell line MDA-MB-231 displayed the highest cell surface expression of LLT1 at MFIR of 1.84 with 13.3% of 19859 cells positive for cell surface LLT1 expression compared to the other two TNBC cell lines (Figure 3.1). Interestingly, TNBC MDA-MB-468 displayed the lowest expression of cell surface LLT1 out of all the TNBC cell lines tested at MFIR of 1.29 and 2.79% of 19950 cells positive for LLT1 expression. MCF7, a non-TNBC breast cancer cell line, showed the highest expression of LLT1 out of all the cell lines at MFIR of 1.70 and 15.5% of 19835 cells positive for LLT1. All the TNBC cell lines and MCF7 have higher expression of LLT1 than MCF10A. Nontumorigenic breast cell line MCF10A has the lowest expression of LLT1 with MFIR of 0.80 and 0.17% of 8117 cells having such expression. Of these representatives, since there is a difference between the expression of LLT1 between TNBCs and MCF10A, LLT1 may be a possible target for antibody-blocking in future experiments.

To confirm consistency in cell surface LLT1 expression (Figure 3.2, Table 3.1), 3 independent flow cytometry experiments were performed for each cell line. MFIRs and percentage of cells that have positive expression of LLT1 from all independent experiments were averaged. All histograms and dot plots showing MFIR and percent of cell population that are LLT1⁺ in each independent experiment of each cell line that comprise the mean of MFIR and percent of cell population LLT1⁺ values in figure 3.2 and table 3.1 are shown in figure 3.3. Of the three TNBC cell lines, MDA-MB-231 displayed the highest cell surface LLT1 expression based on its mean of MFIRs and mean percent of its population expressing LLT1 (Figure 3.2). MDA-MB-231 mean of MFIRs of 1.80 and its mean percent LLT1⁺ cells of 14.67% is statistically significantly higher (Mean of MFIRs and % LLT1⁺ ** p < 0.01, Figure 3.2) than non-tumorigenic breast cell line MCF10A respective values of 0.95 and 0.56% LLT1⁺ cells. MDA-MB-436 does show a higher expression of LLT1 based on mean of MFIRs of 1.34 and mean percent LLT1⁺ cells of 6.54% than MCF10A, but still much lower than MDA-MB-231 respective values. Estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer cell line MCF7 displays similar expression of LLT1 with MDA-MB-231 and has significantly higher LLT1 than MCF10A (Mean of MFIRs * p < 0.05; % LLT1⁺ ** p < 0.01, Figure 3.2). MDA-MB-468 shows the lowest expression of LLT1 for both average MFIRs and % of cells LLT1⁺. Hence, these independent flow cytometry experiments under the same culture conditions and stained with the same anti-LLT1-PE antibodies have consistently shown that TNBCs, especially MDA-MB-231, show higher cell surface expression of LLT1 than non-tumorigenic breast cell line MCF10A. These results have further demonstrated that LLT1 may serve as a possible target of interest for antibody-blocking treatment on TNBCs.

LLT1 is Expressed at Both the Cell Membrane and Intracellular.

Flow cytometry analysis had revealed that LLT1 is expressed on all the TNBC cell lines tested and has shown higher expression of LLT1 compared to non-tumorigenic breast cell line MCF10A (Figure 3.2). Immunofluorescence confocal studies were performed on TNBC cell lines and MCF7 to observe for expression of LLT1 at both the cell surface and intracellular. Confocal studies could not be performed on MCF10A due to repetitive technical issues; however, future studies should troubleshoot this technical issue and allow one to conduct immunofluorescent studies of LLT1 on non-tumorigenic breast cell line MCF10A. Since a confocal image of MCF10A is not available at this time, we have performed a western blot analysis which confirms total LLT1 expression on MCF10A.

For confocal microscopy studies, TNBC cell lines MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, and MDA-MB-468 as well as non-TNBC breast cancer cell line MCF7 were harvested from culture flasks with PBS containing EDTA. The use of PBS-EDTA instead of trypsin-EDTA allows these adherent cells to be removed without degrading LLT1 at the cell surface. Cells were fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde and then were treated with human Fc fragment to prevent non-specific binding of anti-LLT1-PE antibodies. To observe for cell surface expression, cells were stained with anti-human LLT1-PE antibodies and were then examined with a confocal laser microscope. To observe for intracellular LLT1 expression, cells were treated with 1X BD Perm/Wash buffer after cells were fixed in order to obtain all protein secreted by the cell. These cells were then stained with antibodies for LLT1 detection.

All the TNBC cell lines and MCF7 express LLT1 at the cell surface as shown by shades of red staining on the cell (Figure 3.4). Of all the cell lines, MDA-MB-231 display the greatest cell surface LLT1 expression while both MDA-MB-436 and MDA-MB-468 has the least cell

surface LLT1 expression. MCF7 also shows slightly higher expression of LLT1 than MDA-MB-436 and MDA-MB-468. These immunofluorescent studies were consistent with flow cytometry results showing expression of LLT1 at the cell surface. Both flow cytometry analysis and immunofluorescent cell surface studies show that MDA-MB-231 has the greatest expression of LLT1 at the cell surface while MDA-MB-468 has the lowest cell surface expression of LLT1.

In addition, all the TNBC cell lines and MCF7 express intracellular LLT1 as shown by shades of red staining within the cells (Figure 3.5, A). It is important to note that in these confocal microscopy images, expression of LLT1 is not only limited to intracellular expression, but this LLT1 expression includes both intracellular LLT1 expression and cell surface LLT1 expression since the cells were treated with permeabilizing agent. Interestingly, MDA-MB-231 showed the lowest total LLT1 expression while MDA-MB-468 showed the highest total LLT1 expression. Intracellular staining of LLT1 by flow cytometry analysis using the same reagents for fixation and permeabilization of cells for confocal microscopy analysis showed an increase in LLT1 expression for MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-468 cells permeabilized compared to MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-468 cells permeabilized compared to MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-468 cells permeabilized compared to MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-468 cells not permeabilized (Figure 3.6).

Western blot analysis testing for total LLT1 expression has also shown that MDA-MB-468 has the highest total LLT1 expression comparable to MCF10A total LLT1 expression (Figure 3.5, B). Total LLT1 expression refers to the combined intracellular LLT1 expression and cell surface LLT1 expression. Western blot analysis has also shown secretion of LLT1 protein for MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, MDA-MB-468, and MCF7 cell lines. This western blot analysis does not distinguish expression of LLT1 at the membrane versus cytoplasmic versus nuclear locations. Flow cytometry analysis from figure 3.1, figure 3.2, and figure 3.3 has already confirmed LLT1 expression at the cell surface of all the TNBC cell lines, MCF7, and MCF10A.

Hence, immunofluorescent studies and western blot showed LLT1 expression at both the cell surface and intracellularly in all the TNBC cell lines, MCF7, and MCF10A. This indicates that LLT1 is secreted and LLT1 may be a target of interest for antibody-blocking treatment especially on the TNBC MDA-MB-231 cell line. Since western blot, flow cytometry, and confocal microscopy confirmed secretion of LLT1 protein, we can target the actively transcribed LLT1 gene for knockdown with a lipid-mediated small-interference RNA in order to decrease expression of LLT1 at the cell surface as a future study.

Figure 3.1

TNBC and non-TNBC cell lines display higher expression of LLT1 than non-tumorigenic breast cell line.

Expression of LLT1 represented by median fluorescence intensity ratios (A) and percentage of cells positive for LLT1 (B) was identified by flow cytometry analysis by staining TNBC cell lines and non-tumorigenic breast cell line with either anti-human LLT1-PE (gray shade in histograms in A) or isotype IgG_1 -PE antibodies (white shade in histograms in A).

One representative of all independent experiments shown next page.



Figure 3.2

TNBC and non-TNBC cell lines show higher expression of LLT1 than non-tumorigenic breast cell line by average MFIR and percent of cell population LLT1+.

Flow cytometry analysis was used to detect expression of LLT1 at the cell surface of all cell lines tested. Median fluorescence intensity ratios (MFIRs) and percentage of cells that have positive expression of LLT1 from all independent experiments (n=3 for all cell lines) were averaged. TNBC cell lines MDA-MB-231 and non-TNBC breast cancer cell line MCF7 have higher average MFIRs than non-tumorigenic breast cell line MCF10A. MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, and MCF7 cell lines have a significantly higher percent of cell population that display expression of LLT1 than MCF10A. *One-way ANOVA confirmed differences in the means of MFIRs and percent of cell populations LLT1⁺ at p < 0.05 for all cell lines. Dunnett's multiple comparison post-hoc was used to test for statistical significance of MFIRs and percent of cell populations LLT1⁺ of each cell line compared to the control MCF10A (* p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01).*



Figure 3.3

Three independent flow cytometry experiments of cell lines tested for cell surface LLT1 expression.

To obtain the mean of MFIRs (median fluorescence intensity ratios) and mean percent of cell population LLT1⁺, three independent experiments of each cell line MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, MDA-MB-468, & MCF7 as well as two independent experiments of MCF10A were performed. These MFIRs and % LLT1⁺ values obtained make up the mean of MFIRs and mean % of cell population LLT1⁺ presented in figure 3.2 and table 3.1.








Table 3.1

Means of MFIRs, Percent of Cell Population LLT1⁺, and Cell Population Size Tested.

Of the three TNBC cell lines, MDA-MB-231 displayed the highest average median fluorescence intensity ratio (MFIRs) and percent of cell population with cell surface expression of LLT1. Non-TNBC cell line MCF7 showed the highest expression of LLT1 out of all cell lines tested. All breast cancer cell lines average MFIRs and percent of cell population have higher expression of LLT1 than non-tumorigenic breast cell line MCF10A.

	Means of	Mean % LLT1+	Mean Number of	Number of
	MFIRs	± SD	Cells in Population	Independent
	± SD		Tested	Experiments
MDA-MB-231 LLT1+	1.80 ± 0.23	14.67 ± 2.15	34414	3
MDA-MB-436 LLT1+	1.34 ± 0.04	6.54 ± 1.64	16930	3
MDA-MB-468 LLT1+	1.07 ± 0.16	4.69 ± 1.38	19948	3
MCF7 LLT1+	1.48 ± 0.30	12.42 ± 3.34	18719	3
MCF10A LLT1+	0.95 ± 0.12	0.56 ± 0.65	8276	3

Cell surface expression of LLT1 detected by confocal microscopy on TNBCs.

TNBC cell lines MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, MDA-MB-468, and non-TNBC cell line MCF7 were fixed, blocked with human Fc fragment, and stained with anti-human LLT1-PE antibody. Cell surface expression of LLT1 was detected on all cell lines tested. Cells were examined with a Zeiss LSM 510 Confocal Laser Microscope at 40x objective. Scale bar is 10 µm.



Combined cell surface and intracellular expression of LLT1 on TNBCs.

(A) TNBC cell lines MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, MDA-MB-468, and non-TNBC cell line MCF7 were fixed, blocked with human Fc fragment, permeabilized with 0.2% X-Triton 100, and stained with anti-human LLT1-PE antibody. Total LLT1 was observed by confocal microscopy on all cell lines tested. Cells were examined at 40x objective. Scale bar is 10 μm.

(B) Cell lines were examined for total LLT1 expression on a western blot. MDA-MB-468 and MCF10A displayed highest total expression of LLT1 compared to other cell lines. β-actin served as a loading control.



Flow cytometry confirms intracellular expression of LLT1 on TNBCs.

TNBC cell lines MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-468 were fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde and then treated with 1X BD Perm/Wash buffer for permeabilization. Cells were then stained with LLT1-PE antibodies (gray shade), isotype IgG₁-PE antibodies (dotted line white area), or not stained with any antibodies (dashed line white area) and then was quantified by flow cytometry analysis. Cells not permeabilized were not fixed and not treated with perm/wash buffer. Both cell lines treated with permeabilization agent displayed a higher expression of LLT1 compared to cell lines not treated with permeabilization. This indicates that there is LLT1 expression intracellular and at the cell membrane on these two TNBC cell lines.



3.1.2 Blocking Lectin-like Transcript-1 (LLT1) on Triple-Negative Breast Cancer Cells with Anti-LLT1 Antibodies Induces Natural Killer Cell Activation

This section fulfills specific aim 2 - sub aim 2.1: Blocking interaction of LLT1 and PCNA on triple-negative breast cancer cells and its natural killer cell receptors with antibodies targeting each ligand enhances cytolytic targeting against these TNBCs (Figure 1.7).

Previous flow cytometry analysis and immunofluorescent studies (section 3.1.2) demonstrated that there is higher cell surface expression of LLT1 on TNBC cell lines than nontumorigenic breast cell line MCF10A with MDA-MB-231 showing a statistically significant difference in LLT1 expression compared to MCF10A (Figure 3.2). Furthermore, confocal microscopy studies confirmed expression of LLT1 for cell lines MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, MDA-MB-468, and MCF7 at the cell surface and intracellular locations (Figure 3.4, 3.5). Western blot analysis confirmed total protein expression of LLT1, but interestingly MCF10A and MDA-MB-468 showed the greatest total expression of LLT1 (Figure 3.5B) but showed the least expression of LLT1 at the cell surface based on flow cytometry analysis (Figure 3.3). In summary, LLT1 expression at the cell surface was confirmed through these three methods on TNBCs. Furthermore, there was greater LLT1 expression on TNBCs than MCF10A. The next step was to utilize antibodies targeting the LLT1 ligand on TNBCs and MCF10A and determine if blocking this interaction will enhance killing by primary NK cells.

We utilized the chromium-release cytotoxicity assay which is known as a gold standard assay that quantifies the percent of target cells being killed by immune effector cells of one's choice. In this case, we labeled two TNBC cell lines MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-436 and MCF10A with radioactive chromium-51, then treated these cells with human anti-LLT1 antibodies. We used primary NK cells isolated from peripheral blood mononuclear cells derived from whole blood. Fc receptors on primary NK cells were blocked with human Fc fragment in order to prevent antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) from occurring. TNBCs treated with the anti-LLT1 antibodies or isotype control were then co-incubated with NK cells at effector-to-target ratios (E:T) of 25:1, 5:1, and 1:1 for 3.5 hours. Specific lysis was quantified and determined.

We first targeted LLT1 on MDA-MB-231 and MCF10A cells through treatment with 1 µg of anti-LLT1 antibody (Figure 3.7). At 25:1 E:T ratio, there is a statistically significant difference in percent specific lysis of MDA-MB-231 cells between cells treated with anti-LLT1 antibodies compared to cells treated with IgG isotype antibody and cells not treated with antibodies (Figure 3.7; ** p < 0.01 compared to isotype control, # p < 0.05 compared to no antibodies). At 25:1, 19.708% of MDA-MB-231 treated with anti-LLT1 antibodies were killed by primary NK cells compared to 2.02% of MDA-MB-231 cells treated with IgG isotype antibody and 4.17% of MDA-MB-231 cells not treated with any antibodies. There is a distinct difference between the percent specific lysis of MDA-MB-231 cells treated with anti-LLT1 antibodies compared to non-tumorigenic breast MCF10A cells treated with the same anti-LLT1 antibody at the 25:1 E:T ratio. At 25:1, 7.54% of MCF10A cells treated with anti-LLT1 antibody were killed by primary NK cells compared to 2.956% of MCF10A cells treated with IgG isotype antibody (Figure 3.7; * p < 0.05 compared to isotype control). At 5:1 E:T ratio, there is a statistically significant difference in percent specific lysis of MDA-MB-231 cells treated with anti-LLT1 antibodies compared to both cells treated with isotype antibodies and not treated with antibodies (Figure 3.7; ** p < 0.01 compared to isotype control, # p < 0.05 compared to no antibodies). There is not a significant difference in MDA-MB-231 cells and MCF10A cells

treated with anti-LLT1 antibodies killed compared to the two cell lines treated with IgG isotype antibodies at 1:1 E:T ratio.

Next, we treated MDA-MB-231 cells with anti-LLT1 antibodies at four different concentrations of antibodies (Figure 3.8). We treated with MDA-MB-231 cells with anti-LLT1 antibodies at concentrations of $1 \mu g$, $0.1 \mu g$, $0.01 \mu g$, and $0.001 \mu g$. There is a noticeable decrease in percent of MDA-MB-231 cells killed by primary NK cells as the concentration of anti-LLT1 antibodies decreases at 25:1 E:T ratio. At 25:1, MDA-MB-231 cells treated with 1 µg of anti-LLT1 antibodies exhibited the highest percent of its cells being killed at 71.51% compared to 49% of MDA-MB-231 cells treated with IgG isotype antibodies (Figure 3.8). There is not a statistical significant difference between these two specific groups mentioned based on pvalue of 0.05; however, the difference is well distinguished between the two groups with its pvalue calculated to be 0.08. Within the 25:1 E:T ratio, there is a difference between MDA-MB-231 cells treated with 0.1 µg, 0.01 µg, and 0.001 µg anti-LLT1 antibodies and cells treated with IgG isotype antibodies. As the concentration of the anti-LLT1 antibodies decreases, the percent specific lysis of MDA-MB-231 cells also decreases at 25:1 E:T ratio from 71.51% [1 µg], 69.28% [0.1 µg], 68.24% [0.01 µg], and 63.11% [0.001 µg]. At 5:1 E:T ratio, there is a difference between MDA-MB-231 cells treated with 1 µg of anti-LLT1 antibodies killed by NK cells compared to cells treated with isotype antibodies. At 5:1 E:T ratio, 42.15% of MDA-MB-231 cells treated with 1 µg of anti-LLT1 antibodies were killed versus 33.15% of cells treated with isotype control. At 5:1, there is not a significant difference in percent lysis of MDA-MB-231 cells at 0.1 μ g, 0.01 μ g, and 0.01 μ g. At 1:1, there is also not a difference observed of MDA-MB-231 cells killed at all antibody concentrations and its isotype control.

We also have tested the effects of blocking LLT1-NKRP1A interaction by treating another TNBC cell line MDA-MB-436 with anti-LLT1 antibodies. There was a lower percentage of MDA-MB-436 cells killed by NK cells than MDA-MB-231 cells at all the E:T ratios. The lower percentage of MDA-MB-436 cells killed can be attributed to the lower expression of cell surface LLT1 on this cell line in contrast to MDA-MB-231 LLT1 expression as shown in flow cytometry analysis (Section 3.1.1). At 25:1 E:T ratio, 8.39% of MDA-MB-436 cells treated with anti-LLT1 antibodies were killed while 4.75% of cells treated with isotype antibodies were killed (Figure 3.7). There was a statistical significant difference between the percent lysis of MDA-MB-436 cells treated with anti-LLT1 antibodies and cells treated with isotype antibodies (Figure 3.7, * p < 0.05 compared to isotype control). At 5:1 E:T ratio, although no statistical significant difference was observed, 3.26% of anti-LLT1 treated MDA-MB-436 cells were killed while there was negligible percent lysis of MDA-MB-436 cells treated with isotype antibodies (Figure 3.7). There was also negligible killing of MDA-MB-468 cells when treated with either anti-LTL1 antibodies or isotype antibodies due to the low expression of cell surface LLT1 (Figure 3.7).

In summary, treating MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-436 cells with anti-LLT1 antibodies allowed an increase of killing by primary NK cells. Furthermore, MDA-MB-231 cells treated with anti-LLT1 antibodies had a greater percent of cells killed compared to non-tumorigenic breast cell line MCF10A treated with anti-LLT1 antibodies. The greater percentage of MDA-MB-231 cells killed when targeting LLT1 with antibodies than MCF10A cells is consistent with flow cytometry analysis demonstrating that MDA-MB-231 cells had a statistically significant higher expression of cell surface of LLT1 in contrast to LLT1 cell surface expression on MCF10A. These results show that there is a difference in percent of TNBCs killed versus nontumorigenic breast cells killed when targeting LLT1 with antibodies. The lower percent of MCF10A being killed when targeting LLT1 with anti-LLT1 antibodies supports that LLT1 may serve as a possible target that would favor killing TNBCs while minimizing killing healthy breast cells. Treating cells with anti-LLT1 antibodies blocks the interaction of LLT1 on TNBCs with NKRP1A (CD161) receptor on NK cells. Blocking this interaction directly with anti-LLT1 antibodies prevents inhibitory signals from LLT1-NKRP1A interaction from being sent to the NK cells. This would allow lower overall inhibitory signals from being sent and favors a net activation signal to be sent to NK cells which then targets these treated TNBCs.

Blocking LLT1 with antibodies on TNBCs enhanced killing by primary NK cells.

TNBC cell lines MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, MDA-MB-468, and non-tumorigenic breast cell line MCF10A were treated with either anti-human LLT1 antibodies (α LLT1) or isotype control antibodies. Cells were labeled with ⁵¹Cr and then were co-incubated with primary NK cells isolated from PBMCs derived from whole blood of healthy volunteers at effector-to-target ratios (NK-to-5000 TNBCs) of 25:1, 5:1, and 1:1 for 3.5 hours. Specific lysis of labeled cells was subsequently quantified and calculated. *Student paired t-test was utilized to test for statistical significance between cells treated with anti-LLT1 antibody versus isotype control and 'no antibodies' control within each E:T ratio. MDA-MB-231: ** p < 0.01 compared to isotype control.*



MDA-MB-231

Effector-to-Target Ratios (E:T)



Effector-to-Target Ratios (E:T)



Anti-LLT1 antibody dose-dependent treatment on TNBC MDA-MB-231 demonstrates enhanced killing by primary NK cells.

TNBC cell line MDA-MB-231 was treated with either anti-human LLT1 antibodies (α LLT1) or isotype control antibodies. MDA-MB-231 cells were treated with anti-LLT1 antibodies at four different concentrations. There is greatest lysis of TNBCs when treated with anti-LLT1 antibodies at 1 µg per well compared to other concentrations and isotype IgG control (P-value = 0.08). Cells were labeled with ⁵¹Cr and then were co-incubated with primary NK cells isolated from PBMCs derived from whole blood of healthy volunteers at effector-to-target ratios (NK-to-5000 TNBCs) of 25:1, 5:1, and 1:1 for 3.5 hours. Specific lysis of labeled cells was subsequently quantified and calculated.



Effector-to-Target Ratios (E:T)

3.1.3 Gene Knockdown of LLT1 Increases Susceptibility of Triple-Negative Breast Cancer Cells to Killing by Natural Killer Cells

This section fulfills specific aim 2 - sub aim 2.2: Blocking interaction of LLT1 on triple-negative breast cancer cells and its natural killer cell receptors by downregulation of LLT1 through knockdown of ligand enhances cytolytic targeting against these TNBCs (Figure 1.7).

Confirmation of LLT1 Knockdown on TNBCs.

We utilized a lipid-mediated small interference RNA (siRNA) complex to target the *LLT1* gene on TNBC cell line MDA-MB-436. The complex consists of either scramble siRNA or LLT1 siRNA within a lipid-membrane vesicle which is designed to attach to the lipid bilayer membrane of MDA-MB-436 cells to prepare for the next step, which is endocytosis. After the vesicle attaches to the membrane of TNBC cells, the vesicle gets encapsulated by the TNBC cell membrane lipid bilayer and buds off within the cytoplasm to form an endosome. At this point, the endosome contains the lipid-vesicle complex containing the siRNA. Within the endosome environment, the initial pH immediately after endosome formation is approximately 7.0. As the endosome further remains in the cytoplasm of the TNBC cell, the endosome environment becomes acidic which then allows degradation of the endosome and lipid-vesicle membranes thus releasing the siRNA into the cytoplasm. The released siRNA in the cytoplasm binds to the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) in which one strand of the double-stranded siRNA gets degraded while the other strand of the siRNA serves as the guide RNA strand that binds to complementary regions of the mRNA that comprises the *LLT1* gene. Upon binding to those regions of the *LLT1* gene, the *LLT1* gene transcription is now suppressed which would then downregulate expression of LLT1 at the cell surface of TNBCs.

MDA-MB-436 cells were transfected with either 5 µM scramble siRNA control or LLT1 siRNA for a period of 63 hours in a 96-well plate. To confirm downregulation of cell surface expression of LLT1, flow cytometry analysis was used to detect the difference in expression of LLT1 between MDA-MB-436 cells treated with scramble siRNA control and cells treated with LLT1 siRNA. MDA-MB-436 cells transfected with LLT1 siRNA displayed a lower median fluorescence intensity ratio (MFIR) at 0.31 than MDA-MB-436 cells transfected with scramble siRNA which showed a MFIR of 1.09 (Figure 3.9A). These results demonstrated that cell surface expression of LLT1 was downregulated thus serving as another method of blocking LLT1 interaction with NKRP1A receptor on NK cells. Downregulation of LLT1 at the cell surface prevents LLT1-NKRP1A interaction which suppresses inhibitory signals from being sent to the NK cells. This particular method of blocking LLT1-NKRP1A was next tested in the chromium-release cytotoxicity assay.

Knockdown of Cell Surface LLT1 on TNBCs Enhances Killing by NK cells.

Transfected MDA-MB-436 cells with either scramble siRNA or LLT1 siRNA were coincubated with IL-2 stimulated natural killer cells (lymphokine activated killer cells) for 3.5 hours. MDA-MB-436 transfected with LLT1 siRNA had a higher percent specific lysis at both 25:1 and 5:1 E:T ratios in contrast to its scramble siRNA transfected cells (Figure 3.9B). At 25:1 E:T ratio, 63.38% of MDA-MB-436 LLT1 siRNA-transfected cells were killed by NK cells compared to 42.18% of MDA-MB-436 scramble siRNA-transfected cells killed (Figure 3.9B, p = 0.07 compared to scramble siRNA control). At 5:1 E:T ratio, 21.83% of MDA-MB-436 LLT1 siRNA-transfected were killed compared to 18.87% of scramble siRNA-transfected cells. In summary, transfecting MDA-MB-436 cells with siRNA targeting the *LLT1* gene decreases expression of LLT1 at the cell surface. Decreasing the expression of cell surface LLT1 prevents interaction of LLT1 with NKRP1A on primary NK cells. Results show that knockdown of LLT1 enhances killing of TNBCs by NK cells which provides another method of blocking LLT1-NKRP1A interaction.

Knockdown of cell surface LLT1 on TNBCs increases killing by NK cells.

TNBC cell line MDA-MB-436 was transfected with either 5 μ M scramble siRNA control or LLT1 siRNA for 63 hours in 96-well plates. Final siRNA concentration in culture with media is 25 nM siRNA. Knockdown of cell surface LLT1 was confirmed by flow cytometry after transfection (A) in which the median fluorescence intensity ratio (MFIR) for cells treated with LLT1 siRNA was lower (0.31) compared to the MFIR of cells treated with scramble siRNA control (1.09). After confirming knockdown of LLT1 at the cell surface of MDA-MB-436 cells, these transfected cells were radiolabeled with ⁵¹Cr and co-incubated with primary NK cells for 3.5 hours (B). MDA-MB-436 cells with LLT1 knockdown had a higher percentage of lysis at both 25:1 and 5:1 ratios in contrast to its scramble siRNA treated cells (*p* = 0.07 at 25:1 by *student paired t-test*)

(Figure next page)





Α

MDA-MB-436 LLT1 siRNA Treatment

3.2 EXPRESSION AND FUNCTION OF PCNA ON TNBCs

Introduction

Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen (PCNA) is an inhibitory ligand that when expressed on cells interacts with NKp44, an activating receptor, on NK cells. The PCNA-NKp44 interaction transduces an inhibitory signal to the natural killer cell [121]. It is known that PCNA contributes to the role of DNA replication as a nuclear accessory protein by stabilizing the replication fork, recruiting and exchanging polymerases at the replication fork, and cell cycle regulation [116]. It has been studied that PCNA was expressed on cell surface of pancreatic, breast, melanoma, lymphoma, and glioblastoma cells [121]. Interestingly, PCNA colocalizes with human leukocyte antigen I (HLA I) which shows that the association of PCNA and HLA I contributes to the inhibition of NK cell function when PCNA interacts with NKp44 [90].

Thus, we introduce another cancer model to study using triple-negative breast cancer cells, because PCNA expression at the cell surface and its function has not been looked at from a cancer immunotherapeutic perspective. We have found that there was a higher percent of TNBCs from cell lines MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-436 that show expression of cell surface PCNA than both TNBC cell line MDA-MB-468 and non-tumorigenic breast cell line MCF10A. We have demonstrated that blocking PCNA-NKp44 interaction enhances killing of TNBCs by primary NK cells. MCF10A showed a higher expression of cell surface PCNA than its cell surface LLT1 based on flow cytometry analysis, which indicates that more studies will need to be done to confirm cell surface expression of PCNA on non-tumorigenic breast cells and if PCNA can be used as a possible target.

Results

3.2.1 Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen (PCNA) is Expressed on Triple-Negative Breast Cancer Cells and Inhibits Natural Killer Cell Activation

This section fulfills specific aim 1: Investigate the expression of LLT1 and PCNA on triplenegative breast cancer cells. (Figure 1.6)

Cell Surface Expression of PCNA on TNBCs by Flow Cytometry Analysis.

Flow cytometry analysis was performed to detect and quantify expression of PCNA at the cell surface of TNBCs and non-tumorigenic breast cell lines. All cell lines tested (MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, MDA-MB-468, MCF7, and MCF10A) were treated with a human Fc fragment in order to block potential Fc receptors or Fc-receptor ligands that could be present on cell lines being tested. Blocking Fc receptors or Fc ligands will prevent or minimize non-specific binding of anti-PCNA antibodies. After treating cells with a Fc fragment, cells were stained with either conjugated anti-human PCNA-PE antibodies or isotype IgG_{2a}-PE antibodies. Cell surface expression of PCNA was quantified and represented by median fluorescence intensity ratios (MFIR) and percentage of cells positive for PCNA. For this case, MFIR is defined as the MFI of the cell population stained with the anti-PCNA-PE antibodies. Cells were gated on a single live cell population because only one antibody was used in staining the cells which does not require compensation.

Three TNBC cell lines MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, and MDA-MB-468 were tested for cell surface PCNA expression and were then compared to non-TNBC breast cancer cell line MCF7 and non-tumorigenic breast cell line MCF10A. Three independent experiments testing for

expression of cell surface PCNA were tested for each cell line used. MFIRs and percent of cells that are PCNA⁺ expression at the cell surface were averaged. Histograms and dot plots displaying the MFIRs and percent of cell population that are PCNA⁺ in each independent experiment of each cell line that form the mean of MFIR and percent of cell population PCNA⁺ values in figure 3.11 and table 3.2 are shown in figure 3.10.

MDA-MB-436 showed the highest cell surface PCNA expression since its mean of MFIRs and mean percent of its cell population PCNA⁺ are higher than all other cell lines (Table 3.2, Figure 3.11). MDA-MB-436 mean of MFIRs and percent PCNA⁺ are 1.89 and 23.2% respectively. Although the MFIRs for MDA-MB-436 are higher than the other cell lines, MCF7 displayed relatively similar expression of PCNA at mean MFIR of 1.85 and percent PCNA⁺ of 14.53% compared to MDA-MB-436 and MCF10A. It is interesting to note that MCF10A displayed a high mean of MFIR at 1.75, but a low percentage of the cell population that show positive expression for PCNA at 3.65%. Based on the percent of the cell population that was PCNA⁺ for the MCF10A, it still shows the lowest expression of cell surface PCNA in comparison with the TNBCs. The concern is that MCF10A cells show expression of PCNA at 3.65% which may indicate that further studies would need to be performed to check if targeting cell surface PCNA would serve as a possible target. However, only one independent experiment checking for PCNA expression on MCF10A was performed. A repeat of testing for PCNA expression of MCF10A will need to be conducted.

Hence, these independent flow cytometry experiments under the same culture conditions and stained with the same anti-PCNA-PE antibodies have consistently shown that TNBCs, especially MDA-MB-436, show higher cell surface expression of PCNA than non-tumorigenic breast cell line MCF10A based on percent of cell population that are PCNA⁺. These results have

further demonstrated that PCNA may serve as a possible target of interest for antibody-blocking treatment on TNBCs, but additional studies need to further address and clarify if there is PCNA cell surface expression on normal breast tissue through immunohistochemical staining and analyzing for cell surface PCNA expression on additional non-tumorigenic breast cell lines besides MCF10A.

Cell Surface, Cytoplasmic, and Nuclear PCNA Expression by Subcellular Protein Fractionation.

Flow cytometry analysis testing for PCNA expression was tested on TNBCs and MCF10A. However; the means of MFIRs and percent of the cell population that showed positive expression of PCNA for the non-tumorigenic breast cell line MCF10A contradicted each other, because the mean MFIR was 1.75 and percent PCNA⁺ was 3.65%. At that point, it was unclear if there is PCNA expression at the cell surface of MCF10A cells. Thus, we have proceeded with performing a subcellular protein fractionation method that allowed us to observe for expression of PCNA at the membrane, cytoplasmic, and nuclear locations. We have tested for expression of PCNA at these locations on MCF10A, MDA-MB-231, and MDA-MB-468.

Proteins extracted from membrane, cytoplasm, and nucleus were treated with anti-PCNA antibodies and then tested for expression of PCNA on the western blot in order to compare the expression of ligands at the three locations (Figure 3.12). For membrane expression on the western blot, expression of Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase pump, which is constitutively expressed at the membrane of cells, served as a loading control. GAPDH served as the loading control for cytoplasmic expression and lamin A/C, which is a protein that makes up the nuclear lamina, served as the loading control for nuclear expression. PCNA expression in the nucleus served as our positive control for quality since PCNA is constitutively expressed in the nucleus due to its

role in DNA replication, cell cycle regulation, and DNA repair mechanisms. For all cell lines tested, expression of all loading controls at appropriate locations was observed and PCNA expression at the nucleus was observed on the western blot (Figure 3.12).

For MDA-MB-231, PCNA expression was observed in the cytoplasm, but there was minimum to no expression observed at the membrane. This is contradictory to PCNA expression observed by flow cytometry analysis (Figure 3.10). However, the limitation to flow cytometry analysis testing for PCNA expression is that there is not a distinction between PCNA expression on the cell membrane versus PCNA expression on the exosomes. PCNA is known to either be expressed on the cell surface of cells or be released in soluble form as exosomes to interact with NKp44 on natural killer cells. Horton et al. had observed through confocal microscopy using CD63 as an exosomal marker colocalization of PCNA with CD63 on the MDA-MB-231 cell line. Subcellular protein fractionation cannot distinguish between the expression of PCNA on the cell membrane versus on the exosome. What appears to be a discrepancy between flow cytometry analysis of PCNA expression on MDA-MB-231 and no expression at the membrane component in the subcellular protein fractionation may indicate that there could be higher expression of PCNA on exosomes released by MDA-MB-231 cells than cell membrane PCNA ligand expression. In order to distinguish and quantify the differences in these expressions of PCNA, exosomes will need to be isolated from MDA-MB-231 cells and be tested for PCNA expression by flow cytometry, western blot, and microscopy studies. To show that one is working with exosomes, one would need to show expression of typical exosome markers such as CD63, CD9, and CD81, and secretion of intracellular vesicle proteins that forms early endosomes, such as ESCRTs (Hrs, TSG101), and late endosomes (SNAREs like VAMP7) [143].

It may be possible that there could be a difference in PCNA expression as a ligand versus exosomes which needs to be looked at for all cell lines tested.

For MDA-MB-468, PCNA expression was observed in both the cytoplasm and the membrane. MDA-MB-468 had a higher expression of PCNA at the membrane than MDA-MB-231 and MCF10A which does indicate some potential of targeting PCNA on TNBCs. Nontumorigenic breast cell line MCF10A displayed the lowest PCNA expression at both the membrane and cytoplasm in comparison with MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-468 cell lines at the same locations. From flow cytometry analysis, we have observed the lowest expression of PCNA for the MCF10A based on the percent of its cell population PCNA⁺ of 3.65% (Figure 3.10). From subcellular protein fractionation in combination with flow cytometry analysis, results indicate that PCNA is minimally expressed on non-tumorigenic breast cell line MCF10A and there is greater PCNA expression on TNBC cell lines tested. Hence, we proceeded to target PCNA with antibodies in next experiments to observe for effects of blocking PCNA-NKp44 interaction.

TNBC and non-TNBC cell lines display higher expression of PCNA than non-tumorigenic breast cell line.

Expression of PCNA represented by median fluorescence intensity ratios (MFIRs) and percentage of cells positive for PCNA was identified by flow cytometry analysis by staining TNBC cell lines and non-tumorigenic breast cell line with either anti-human PCNA-PE (gray shade in histograms) or isotype IgG_{2a}-PE antibodies (white shade in histograms). To obtain the mean of MFIRs and mean percent of cell population PCNA⁺, three independent experiments of each cell line MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, MDA-MB-468, & MCF7 as well as two independent experiments of MCF10A were performed. These MFIRs and % PCNA⁺ values obtained make up the mean of MFIRs and mean % of cell population PCNA⁺ presented in figure 3.13 and table 3.2.

(Continuing parts of the figure from below are in the next page and forward.)







TNBC and non-TNBC cell lines show higher expression of PCNA than non-tumorigenic breast cell line by percent of cell population PCNA⁺.

Flow cytometry analysis was used to detect cell surface expression of PCNA of all cell lines tested. Median fluorescence intensity ratios (MFIRs) and percentage of cells that have positive expression of PCNA from all independent experiments (n=3 for all cell lines; MCF10A n=1) were averaged. TNBC cell lines MDA-MB-436 and non-TNBC breast cancer cell line MCF7 have higher average MFIRs than non-tumorigenic breast cell line MCF10A. MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, and MCF7 cell lines have a higher percent of cell population that display expression of PCNA than MCF10A. *One-way ANOVA confirmed differences in the percent of cell populations LLT1⁺ at p < 0.05 for all cell lines. Dunnett's multiple comparison post-hoc was used to test for statistical significance of percent of cell populations LLT1⁺ of each cell line compared to the control MCF10A* (** p < 0.01).



Table 3.2

Means of MFIRs, Percent of Cell Population PCNA⁺, and Cell Population Size Tested.

Of the three TNBC cell lines, MDA-MB-436 displayed the highest average median fluorescence intensity ratio (MFIRs) and percent of cell population with cell surface expression of PCNA. All breast cancer cell lines tested have a higher percent of cell population with cell surface expression of PCNA than non-tumorigenic breast cell line MCF10A.

	Means of MFIRs	Mean % PCNA⁺ ± SD	Mean Number of Cells in Population	Number of Independent
	± SD		Tested	Experiments
MDA-MB-231 PCNA+	1.42 ± 0.15	9.29 ± 0.70	18276	3
MDA-MB-436 PCNA+	1.89 ± 0.32	23.2 ± 2.73	19809	3
MDA-MB-468 PCNA+	1.00 ± 0.09	5.75 ± 2.79	19950	3
MCF7 PCNA ⁺	1.85 ± 0.53	14.53 ± 3.73	16975	3
MCF10A PCNA+	1.75 ± 0.00	3.65 ± 0.00	7346	1

Membrane, cytoplasmic, and nuclear expression of PCNA for TNBCs.

Proteins extracted from membrane, cytoplasm, and nucleus were treated with anti-PCNA antibodies and then tested for expression of PCNA on the western blot in order to compare the expression of ligands at the three locations on MCF10A, MDA-MB-231, and MDA-MB-468 cell lines. GAPDH, Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase pump, and lamin A/C served as loading controls for cytoplasmic, membrane, and nuclear expressions, respectively. MDA-MB-468 and MDA-MB-231 showed higher cytoplasmic expression of PCNA than MCF10A. MDA-MB-468 displayed membrane expression of PCNA while MDA-MB-231 and MCF10A did not show PCNA expression at the same locations.



3.2.2 Blocking Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen (PCNA) on Triple-Negative Breast Cancer Cells with Anti-PCNA Antibodies Induces Natural Killer Cell Activation

This section fulfills specific aim 2 - sub aim 2.1: Blocking interaction of LLT1 and PCNA on triple-negative breast cancer cells and its natural killer cell receptors with antibodies targeting each ligand enhances cytolytic targeting against these TNBCs (Figure 1.7).

Previous flow cytometry analysis has shown that there was higher cell surface expression of PCNA on TNBC cell lines than non-tumorigenic breast cell line MCF10A based on percent of the cell population PCNA⁺ with MDA-MB-436 showing a statistically significant difference in PCNA expression compared to MCF10A (Figure 3.11). Since our flow cytometry analysis alone cannot effectively conclude that there was low expression of cell surface PCNA on MCF10A than other cell lines due to conflicting results between MFIR and percent PCNA⁺, we have proceeded with subcellular protein fractionation. To verify if there is low expression of PCNA at the cell surface of MCF10A cells, subcellular protein fractionation allowed us to distinguish between PCNA expression at the cell membrane, cytoplasmic, and nuclear locations. Subcellular protein fractionation results revealed that MCF10A cells do have lower expression of PCNA at the cell surface than MDA-MB-468 and MDA-MB-231 (Figure 3.12). Hence, greater PCNA cell surface expression on TNBCs than MCF10A was confirmed. We, then, proceeded with targeting PCNA on TNBCs with anti-PCNA antibodies with intent to block PCNA-NKp44 interaction.

Similar to testing the effects of blocking LLT1-NKRP1A interaction, we used a conventional chromium-release cytotoxicity assay with primary NK cells isolated from blood-derived PBMCs. To prevent antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity from occurring, Fc receptors on primary NK cells were blocked with human Fc fragment. TNBCs treated with the

anti-PCNA antibodies or isotype control were then co-incubated with NK cells at effector-totarget ratios (E:T) of 25:1, 5:1, and 1:1 for 4 hours. Specific lysis was quantified and determined.

We targeted PCNA on MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, and MDA-MB-468 cells through treatment with 1 μ g of anti-PCNA antibody (Figure 3.13). At 25:1 E:T ratio, there is a statistically significant difference in percent specific lysis of MDA-MB-231 cells between cells treated with anti-PCNA antibodies compared to cells treated with IgG2a isotype antibody and cells not treated with antibodies (Figure 3.13; ** p < 0.01 compared to isotype control). At 25:1, 24.721% of MDA-MB-231 treated with anti-PCNA antibodies were killed by primary NK cells compared to 2.08% of MDA-MB-231 cells treated with isotype antibody. There was not a significant difference in MDA-MB-231 cells treated with anti-PCNA antibodies at both 5:1 and 1:1 E:T ratios.

We also have tested the effects of blocking PCNA-NKp44 interaction by treating another TNBC cell line MDA-MB-436 with anti-PCNA antibodies. At 5:1 E:T ratio, 24.70% of MDA-MB-436 cells treated with anti-PCNA antibodies were killed while 19.260% of cells treated with isotype antibodies were killed (Figure 3.13). At 1:1 E:T ratio, 13.49% of MDA-MB-436 cells treated with anti-PCNA antibodies were killed compared to 7.02% of cells treated with isotype control. There was statistical significant difference observed between the percent lysis of MDA-MB-436 cells treated with anti-PCNA antibodies and cells treated with isotype antibodies at 5:1 and 1:1 ratios (Figure 3.13, * p < 0.05 & ** p < 0.01 compared to isotype control). We further tested the same concept on MDA-MB-468. Although no statistical difference was observed at any E:T ratios, MDA-MB-468 cells treated with anti-PCNA antibodies has a higher percentage of cells killed than cells treated with isotype control at 25:1 and 5:1 ratios.

In summary, treating TNBC cell lines with anti-PCNA antibodies allowed an increase of killing by primary NK cells. Furthermore, MDA-MB-231 cells treated with anti-PCNA antibodies had a greater percent difference of cells killed compared to other TNBC cell lines. MDA-MB-436 and MDA-MB-468 with cell surface PCNA blocked by antibodies were killed at higher percentages than the same cells without blocking PCNA-NKp44 interaction. Therefore, treating TNBCs with anti-PCNA antibodies blocks the interaction of PCNA on TNBCs with NKp44 receptor on NK cells which prevents inhibitory signals from this interaction from being transduced to the NK cells. Inhibiting this interaction then enhanced killing of TNBCs by NK cells.

Blocking PCNA with antibodies on TNBCs increased killing by primary NK cells.

TNBC cell line MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, and MDA-MB-468 were treated with either anti-human PCNA antibodies (α PCNA) or isotype control antibodies. Cells were labeled with ⁵¹Cr and then were co-incubated with primary NK cells isolated from PBMCs derived from whole blood of healthy volunteers at effector-to-target ratios (NK-to-5000 TNBCs) of 25:1, 5:1, and 1:1 for 4 hours. Specific lysis of labeled cells was subsequently quantified and calculated. *Student paired t-test was utilized to test for statistical significance between cells treated with anti-PCNA antibody versus isotype control within each E:T ratio.* * *p* < 0.05 & ** *p* < 0.01 *compared to isotype control.*

α PCNA Antibody

Isotype Control



MDA-MB-231

Effector-to-Target Ratios (E:T)



Effector-to-Target Ratios (E:T)





3.2.3 Blocking Inhibitory Ligands Interaction with NK Receptors Using Combinational Antibodies Further Enhances Natural Killer Cell-Mediated Killing against TNBCs

This section fulfills specific aim 2 - sub aim 2.1: Blocking interaction of LLT1 and PCNA on triple-negative breast cancer cells and its natural killer cell receptors with antibodies targeting each ligand enhances cytolytic targeting against these TNBCs (Figure 1.7).

Since TNBCs show expression of LLT1 and PCNA at the cell surface, as a preliminary experiment, we have decided to test the combination treatment of antibodies. It has been shown that PCNA colocalizes with human leukocyte antigen and inhibits NK cell function based on studies conducted by Horton and colleagues [90]. Hence, we have decided to combine three antibodies, anti-LLT1, anti-PCNA, and anti-HLA-A,B,C in one treatment to see the effects of increased killing by NK cells.

We used a chromium-release cytotoxicity assay with co-incubation of TNBC cell line MDA-MB-231 and primary NK cells derived from whole blood-derived PBMCs. Fc receptors on NK cells were blocked with human Fc fragment in order to prevent ADCC from occurring. We have observed a higher percentage of MDA-MB-231 cells treated with the combination of the three antibodies killed than MDA-MB-231 cells without treatment of any antibodies (Figure 3.14). At 25:1 E:T ratio, 42.10% of MDA-MB-231 cells treated with the combination of three antibodies were killed compared to 29.31% of MDA-MB-231 cells without antibody treatment killed by NK cells. There was a statistical significant difference observed at the 25:1 E:T ratio (Figure 3.12, * p < 0.05 compared to no antibodies).

Even though there was no significant difference seen between the two groups at the 5:1 and 1:1 E:T ratios, we still observed a higher percentage of cells killed for TNBCs treated with the combination of antibodies. At 5:1 E:T ratio, 17.69% of MDA-MB-231 cells with
combinational treatment were killed compared to 12.53% of MDA-MB-231 cells without antibody-treatment. At 1:1 E:T ratio, 5.29% of MDA-MB-231 cells with combination treatment were killed compared to 4.37% of MDA-MB-231 cells without antibody-treatment. Since this was a preliminary study utilizing a combination of anti-LLT1, anti-PCNA, and anti-HLA antibodies, further testing on other TNBC cell lines and a non-tumorigenic breast cell line would need to be done in order to determine if a combinational treatment of antibodies approach could introduce another strategy of treating TNBCs by blocking both LLT1-NKRP1A and PCNA-NKp44 interactions.

Figure 3.14

NK-mediated killing of TNBCs was further expanded by using combinational blocking of PCNA, HLA, and LLT1 with antibodies.

TNBC cell line MDA-MB-231 was treated with a combination of 1 µg anti-human PCNA antibodies (α PCNA), 1 µg anti-human leukocyte antigen I (α HLA I), and 1 µg anti-LLT1 antibodies (α LLT1) together and compared to cells not treated with any antibodies. Cells were labeled with ⁵¹Cr and then were co-incubated with primary NK cells isolated from PBMCs derived from whole blood of healthy volunteers at effector-to-target ratios (NK-to-5000 TNBCs) of 25:1, 5:1, and 1:1 for 4 hours. Specific lysis of labeled cells was subsequently quantified and calculated. MDA-MB-231 cells treated with combination of the three antibodies had a higher percent of cells killed by NK cells than cells without antibody-treatment *Student paired t-test was utilized to test for statistical significance between cells treated with anti-LLT1 antibody versus 'no antibodies' control within each E:T ratio. MDA-MB-231: * <i>p* < 0.05 compared to no antibodies.





CHAPTER IV

DISCUSSION

4.1 Challenges of Utilizing Endocrine Therapy on TNBC.

Triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) is considered the most invasive type of breast cancer out of all subtypes [37,38]. TNBC's absence of three receptors, that is the estrogen (ER), progesterone (PR), and human epidermal growth factor-2 receptor (HER2), typically used for hormone-targeted treatments renders it difficult to treat TNBC [2]. For patients with estrogen-positive breast cancer, tamoxifen is one of the standard drugs administered with intent to slow down tumorigenesis in these patients [2]. Estrogen plays a role in eliciting proliferation of breast cancer tumors though a mechanism outlined by Dutertre & Smith and their colleagues [144,145].

Estrogen receptors in either ER- α or ER- β forms both have similar structures that consist of two binding domains, which are known as the DNA-binding domain and the ligand-binding domain [144,145]. When estrogen binds to the ligand-binding domain, the estrogen receptor interacts with the specific DNA sequences called estrogen response elements (EREs) at the DNA-binding domain of the ER receptors [144,145]. Activation functions AF-1 and AF-2 within the estrogen receptor then recruits co-activators which further allows transcription of genes favoring cell growth [144,145]. In the case of ER-positive breast cancer, this specific mechanism causes transcription of oncogenes that favors proliferation of the tumor cells [144,145]. The understanding of this molecular mechanism allowing proliferation of breast cancer cells had propelled the development of anti-estrogen drugs in particular tamoxifen. Interestingly, tamoxifen was not initially designed for treatment of breast cancer, but instead was designed as a contraceptive when it was discovered that treating rats with this new drug in the 1960s resulted in a decrease in fertility [145,146]. Although when tamoxifen was tested in humans, tamoxifen failed to show anti-fertility effects and was found to induce ovulation in women instead [145]. Although the drug was considered a failure as a contraceptive, it was the chemical structure of this newly designed drug that revealed a "hidden jewel" that will soon revolutionize cancer treatment [145]. Dr. Michael Harper and Dr. Arthur Walpole had both found that the cis isomer of the chemical structure is an estrogen while the trans isomer is an anti-estrogen [145]. This discovery laid the foundation on utilizing drugs that are considered anti-estrogen to successfully compete with estrogen for estrogen receptors on breast cancer cells [145,147].

Tamoxifen known as a Selective Estrogen Receptor Modulator (SERM) competes with estrogen for the estrogen receptor binding site [145]. Upon tamoxifen binding to the estrogen receptor, tamoxifen blocks the estrogen from binding to the ligand-binding domain. Since estrogen could not bind to the ligand-binding domain of the estrogen receptor complex, oncogenes such as *c-ergB-2* could not be initiated thus suppressing tumorigenesis of these ERpositive breast cancer cells [148]. The suppression of oncogene *c-ergB-2* is caused by tamoxifen effects on cell cycle arrest and downregulation of TGF α (transforming growth factor α), whose initial function before downregulation was to start the phosphatidylinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) signaling cascade to favor cell cycle progression and cell growth [148,149]. The intricate mechanism that makes tamoxifen effective for ER-positive breast cancer cells lays the forefront in terms of treating other types of breast cancers. Unfortunately, this does not apply to triple-

negative breast cancer where tumor cells do not depend on estrogen for proliferation of its tumor cells.

The absence of ER was first identified and assessed based on its corresponding expression levels by immunohistochemistry and/or fluorescence in situ hybridization [36]. Although TNBCs do not display estrogen receptors on either the membrane or cytosolic, there has been studies that uses tamoxifen in combination with other treatments in its experimental phases. It has been well established that tamoxifen is involved in cell cycle arrest and suppression of tumor growth by blocking estrogen from binding to the estrogen receptor. This mechanism has been known and applied to cancer cells that express estrogen receptors. However, there has been recent evidence that anti-tumor activity from tamoxifen may also be estrogen receptor-independent meaning that cancer cells without estrogen receptors could theoretically be treated with tamoxifen [150]. It has been shown that tamoxifen had anti-tumor results against ER-negative gastric cancer cells, cholangiocarcinomas (bile duct cancer), and colon cancer cells [151-153]. One rationale behind this first began with studying the development of multidrug resistant tumors [151]. Mechanisms contributing to multidrug resistant tumors has pointed to the upregulation of the PI3K signaling that also upregulates P-glycoprotein (P-gp) [151]. P-gp is an integral membrane protein that is part of the multidrug resistant tumor phenotype and is involved in drug efflux of tumor drugs [151,154,155]. It has been found that tamoxifen was able to effectively reverse multidrug resistant tumors by binding to and inhibiting P-gp and suppressing PI3K signaling [151]. The question is: can the same principle of using tamoxifen effectively reverse mechanisms of multidrug resistance in triple-negative breast cancer?

A study conducted by Wang and colleagues investigated that treating mesenchymal triple-negative breast cancer with tamoxifen will have antitumor effects [150]. The epithelial-tomesenchymal transition (EMT) is one feature that has been focused in studying cancer cells phenotype and metastasis [156]. One mechanism that tumor cells utilize within the EMT is the decrease in the expression of epithelial marker E-cadherin and increased expression of the mesenchymal marker vimentin [156]. The increase in vimentin has been associated with cancer cells developing mesenchymal characteristics that enables them to migrate to other tissues and play a role in increasing drug resistance in tumor cells [156]. The major basis of the study by Wang *et al.* is that majority of TNBCs have mesenchymal characteristics and that the EMT contribute to its resistance to drugs [150]. Their results have revealed that treating TNBC cell line MDA-MB-231 with tamoxifen (5 µmol/L) has increased expression of E-cadherin and decreased expression of vimentin which further results in a decrease in migration rate of these cells in contrast to MDA-MB-231 cells without tamoxifen treatment showing the opposite result [150, Figure 2B-D in Wang *et al.*]. This is due to the reversal of the EMT process in the MDA-MB-231 cells. This group went further to show how reversing the EMT impacts the TNBCs response to chemotherapy drugs epirubicin and 5-fluorouracil [150, Figure 3 in Wang et al.]. They have found that TNBCs treated with tamoxifen have an increased response to these two chemotherapy drugs and have shown in additional experiments that tamoxifen may have reversed EMT by upregulating miRNA miR-200c [150]. Although this study assessed a mechanism of how tamoxifen reverses the EMT and allow TNBCs to lose its tumorigenicity, some additional questions that needs to be addressed include: (i) will tamoxifen have the same effect in reversing EMT once TNBCs develop resistance to tamoxifen? (ii) since TNBCs lack the estrogen receptor, where does tamoxifen bind to initiate EMT reversal? It has been established

that in ER-positive breast cancer, tamoxifen binds to the ligand-binding region of ER complex, so where does tamoxifen bind in the case of ER-negative breast cancer?

The complex issue is that showing that tamoxifen treatment on ER-negative breast cancer cells having antitumor effects now competes with the established principle that tamoxifen only works on ER-positive breast cancer cells. There are overwhelming studies that support the tamoxifen treatment on women with ER-negative breast cancers including TNBC has not been effective in suppressing tumorigenesis, metastasis, and recurrence [157]. TNBC phenotype of lacking an estrogen receptor makes utilizing tamoxifen for treatment largely ineffective in women with this type of breast cancer. Likewise, the absence in expression of progesterone receptor makes utilizing anti-progesterone therapy ineffective. Progesterone is known as an ovarian hormone needed for breast development and functions such as lactation [158]. Unlike the role of estrogen in breast cancer being well established, the role of progesterone in breast cancer is debated and controversial [158].

There is still a consensus that the TNBC lack of expression of progesterone receptor makes it difficult to use antiprogestins for safe and effective treatment against TNBC. Patients with breast cancer that are positive for ER and/or PR receptors have responded more effectively to hormonal therapies such as tamoxifen, fulvestrant, and aromatase inhibitors such as anastrozole, letrozole, and exemestane. These specific treatments are aimed to either suppress estrogen or progesterone production levels, modify ER and PR receptors, or block these receptors from interacting with estrogen [40]. Hence, the TNBC phenotype that consist of an absence of both ER and PR have summoned the use of chemotherapy as a standard treatment. However, chemotherapy does have adverse side effects, compromise the immune system, and TNBCs do develop resistance to chemotherapy (as explained in the next section). Hormonal

therapies involving anti-estrogen receptor drugs and anti-progesterone receptors drugs have not shown much success in clinical treatment of patients with TNBC and chemotherapy also display disadvantages, thus it will be important to develop alternative approaches such as immunotherapy in treating TNBC.

4.2 TNBCs Develop Chemoresistance

Current conventional treatments for TNBC include both radiation therapy and chemotherapy. There are benefits for patients if given chemotherapy neoadjuvant, adjuvant, or in metastatic settings where taxanes and anthracyclines were commonly given [36,64,65]. Deciding which form of chemotherapy to give to a patient is generalized and not personalized to one's genetic profile in current clinical practice [159]. Various chemotherapeutic strategies include targeting DNA repair systems with platinum compounds, suppressing dysfunctional tumor suppressor genes with taxanes, and arresting the cell cycle of tumor cells with anthracyclines as a few examples [159,160].

It is interesting to note that patients with TNBC have a higher success rate in terms of tumor cells getting eradicated from chemotherapy in initial treatment than other subtypes of breast cancer [36]. One study conducted by Liedtke and colleagues had observed the response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy and survival rates between 1,118 total patients who received this treatment for breast cancer at M.D. Anderson Cancer Center [66]. This detailed study compared the responses of patients with TNBC versus patients with other subtypes of breast cancer by a thorough analysis of each of its pathologic complete response rates (pCR), survival rates, and rates of relapse [66]. Of the total number of patients, 255 patients (23% of total) had TNBC. Results of this study observed that patients with TNBC treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy had a higher pCR rate at 22% versus non-TNBC patients at 11% [66]. Patients with TNBC that

were able to reach pCR had a 24 percent chance of survival which is similar to patients with non-TNBC [66]. However, TNBC patients with residual disease had a lower overall 3-year survival rate at 68% probability of survival (3 years after surgery) than non-TNBC patients with residual disease at 88% probability of survival [66]. Although TNBC patients exhibited a higher response to chemotherapy in initial treatments, it has been shown that TNBC patients with any residual disease after the first round of neoadjuvant chemotherapy have a higher recurrence than non-TNBC patients [66]. One reason for this is due to TNBC's development of resistance to chemotherapeutic drugs [67].

For decades, chemotherapy has been one of the most predominant treatments that has been used for patients with all types of cancers. Although results after initial round of chemotherapy appears to be optimistic for the patient, it is the higher number of recurrence cases after chemotherapy that raises concerns over multidrug resistant tumors [4]. In order to understand how this concern applies to TNBCs, we must first understand the basic principles of pharmacokinetics that contribute to tumors developing resistance to drugs. Several pharmacokinetic factors such as drug absorption, distribution, metabolism, and elimination determine if a drug is able to target a tumor [4].

Pharmacokinetics refers to factors that affect the influx and efflux of an administered drug into and out of the tumor cell [4]. With regards to how tumors develop drug resistance, cell membrane transporters play a key role in regulating the flux of drugs in and out of tumor cells [4]. A family of transporters called the ATP-binding cassette (ABC) had been the main focus on increasing efflux of chemotherapeutic drugs [4]. Among the ABC transporter family members, P-glycoprotein (P-gp from our discussion in section 4.1; also known as MDR1), MDR-associated protein 1 (MRP1), and breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP) have been studied to see how

these transmembrane proteins allow tumors to pump out chemotherapeutic drugs [4,161]. Studies have found that P-gp overexpression in different types of cancer cells such as kidney, colon, liver, and leukemias, either caused by chemotherapy or intrinsic gene expression before chemotherapy was given [4].

ABC transporters had been extensively studied in TNBCs. Three ABC transporters have been shown to be expressed on TNBCs which are MRP1, BCRP, and P-gp (MDR1) [4,157]. Pglycoprotein had been a major focus in targeting TNBCs. A clinical study conducted by Thomas *et al.* looked at the impact of P-gp inhibitors on cancer patients [162]. Results have shown that first-generation inhibitors such as cyclosporin and verapamil were not successful due to high toxicity effects while second-generation inhibitors such as valspodar and biricodar showed slightly better results [162]. There was still a great need to improve upon the second-generation drugs for better targeting against P-gp instead of other transporters [162]. According to the study, third-generation P-gp inhibitors such as tariquidar have high specific targeting towards P-gp [162]. Beyond the third-generation P-gp inhibitors that seemed to show promise for both TNBCs and other types of cancers, fourth-generation P-gp inhibitors are in development in hopes of lower toxicity, higher potency, and higher specificity against P-gp [163].

Another study conducted by Zhang *et al.* looked at how the overexpression of P-gp on epirubicin-resistant TNBCs increase its autophagy by autophagosome-like vacuoles which contributes to its resistance to epirubicin [164]. Results from this study have demonstrated that epirubicin-resistant modified TNBC cell line MDA-MB-231 showed overexpression of P-gp and contained a large number of autophagosome-like vacuoles [164]. They have found that downregulating the expression of P-gp on this TNBC cell line by using small hairpin RNA targeting P-gp (*sh-MDR1*) increased its sensitivity to epirubicin [164]. Thus, this group observed

that suppressing both P-gp expression and autophagy enhanced sensitivity of TNBCs response to epirubicin [164].

While there are many studies that looks at the ABC transporters and how they contribute to the development of drug resistance for TNBCs, we also need to look at the molecular level to understand how genetic changes in TNBCs could enhance drug resistance. Chemoresistance can be divided into two categories which are acquired resistance and intrinsic resistance [4]. Acquired resistance refers to tumors developing resistance to chemotherapy as a result of initial treatment [4]. Examples of acquired resistance in TNBCs include an accumulation of mutations, dysfunctional DNA repair system where mutation errors could not be fixed, transcription of oncogenes or suppression of tumor suppressor genes, and tumor's pharmacodynamic adjustments as a result of the effects of drug treatment [4]. Intrinsic resistance is defined as predisposition factors that favors the tumor to resist the effects of chemotherapy. Examples of intrinsic resistance include already-developed mutations such as the expression of *BRCA1/2* or overexpression of ABC transporters which are known to be expressed before any chemotherapy treatment [4].

The molecular heterogeneity of TNBC contributes to the difficulty of treating TNBC with conventional treatments. Genomic analyses have revealed that there is molecular heterogeneity for TNBCs both within the tumor and its surrounding outside environment [39]. One factor that contributes to TNBC's chemoresistance is its chromosomal instability [126]. When one compares the genomic instability between TNBCs and non-TNBCs, there is strong evidence that TNBCs have higher levels of genomic instability based on its short chromosome regions, a high number of copy number aberrations, and a higher number of gains and losses of function than non-TNBCs [4,165]. TNBC chemoresistance has been associated with the high number of

chromosome 5q deletions as determined by the Molecular Taxonomy of Breast Cancer International Consortium [4,166]. Another factor that contributes to TNBCs developing resistance are the number of mutations in certain genes especially *TP53*, *PIK3CA*, and *PTEN* [4, 58]. Majority of TNBCs display a common mutation in the *TP53* gene, which leads to the loss of function for the tumor suppressor protein 53 [39]. The result of this significant mutation is that tumor suppressor protein 53 will not be able to control cell division and tumor growth [39]. There is also a high frequency of deleterious mutations in genes that are involved in homologous recombination, including *BARD1*, *PALB2*, *RAD51D*, *RAD51C*, *BRIP1*, and *BRCA1/2* genes [39,167].

Both deleterious mutations in genes involved in homologous mutations and chromosomal instability are among several mechanisms that lead TNBCs to develop resistance to chemotherapeutic drugs. Interestingly, this type of genomic instability favors patients with TNBC being treated with chemotherapy the first time, but significantly lowers the chance of survival in cases of recurrence [67]. Carey *et al.* observed that patients with TNBC that are given anthracycline before surgery responded well in the long term only if these patients achieved near 100% pathologic complete response [67]. For patients that weren't able to achieve 100% pathologic complete response [67]. For patients that weren't able to achieve 100% pathologic complete response of relapse and lower survival rates [67]. This is due to treatment initially; however, with residual disease remaining, these same patients had a much poorer prognosis with higher incidences of relapse and lower survival rates [67]. This is due to the TNBC's developing resistance to chemotherapeutics since they were positively selected to survive past the initial eradication phase by chemotherapy. Carey *et al.* had coined this type of observation as the 'TNBC paradox' where patients with TNBC show a higher response in their first treatment to chemotherapy, but in recurrence show poor response to treatment [67].

With these observations in TNBC patients becoming more frequent, concerns surrounding TNBC chemoresistance highlights the need to understand mechanisms of resistance and utilize alternative options besides chemotherapy to kill these tumor cells. In addition, the use of chemotherapy presents adverse side effects from physical and immune complications to even long-term cognitive impairment [37,40,130-134]. Considering the low success of hormonal therapies and many prevalent side effects from chemotherapy and concerns surrounding chemoresistance, immunotherapy has been strongly considered and explored as an attractive treatment option for patients diagnosed with TNBC. Immunotherapeutic options now include utilizing monoclonal antibodies targeting ligands of interest such as proteins that suppress immune response or inhibit the tumor cell from self-apoptosis. It is the concerns of TNBCs developing chemoresistance that should drive the scientific community into developing therapeutics that will bypass this challenge and possibly decrease heavy reliance on chemotherapy and increase one's chance of survival while minimizing the number of serious side effects.

4.3 LLT1-NKRP1A Interaction on TNBCs and Its Function.

Role of LLT1 and CD161 in Modulating Immune Functions

Lectin-like Transcript-1 (LLT1, CLEC2D, OCIL) is a ligand that when expressed on cells interacts with its corresponding NK cell receptor NKRP1A (CD161) [105]. LLT1 is part of the C-type lectin-like receptor family encoded by *CLEC2D* genes within the human NK gene complex [105]. It has been studied that LLT1 has a key role in the human immune system [105]. It is interesting that there are two C-type lectins found in the NK gene complex which are LLT1 and NKRP1A, because it has been well established through crystallography and cloning that LLT1 and NKRP1A interacts with each other in many different situations [105,168].

Boles and colleagues have demonstrated that LLT1 is expressed on NK cells, T, and B cells [168]. Furthermore, Mathew and colleagues have determined the function of LLT1 on human NK cells by generating a monoclonal antibody (L9.7) that binds to the LLT1 receptor on NK cells [169]. They have found that when the antibody binds to the LLT1 receptor on both resting NK cells and IL-2 activated NK cells, IFN- γ production was induced, but it did not induce cytotoxicity in NK cells [169]. This suggests that there are two separate signaling mechanisms that regulate IFN- γ production and cytotoxicity function when anti-LLT1 antibody crosslinks with the LLT1 receptor [169]. The next question begs: what is the role of IFN- γ production after LLT1 crosslinking with its monoclonal antibody?

It may be that IFN-γ production, because of LLT1 interacting with a protein or antibody, may play a role in early innate immune response to pathogens [169]. The function of LLT1 in modulating immune responses has been further studied by determining the expression of LLT1 on immune effector cells, if the expression of LLT1 was upregulated after stimulation, and what is its role on specific immune cells [114]. LLT1-NKRP1A (CD161) interaction has two functions where NK cell activation is suppressed while costimulating T cells in response to pathogens [114]. In addition to LLT1 being expressed on T cells, LLT1 is also expressed on antigen presenting cells specifically dendritic cells and B cells [114]. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) and monocyte-derived dendritic cells express LLT1 when toll-like receptors (TLRs) 9 was stimulated by CpG DNA [114]. Interestingly, when pDCs TLRs 7 and 8 gets stimulated by inactivated influenza virus and herpes simplex virus, LLT1 is induced on activated pDCs which

then in response to those viruses produce increasing amounts of type I interferons such as IFN- α and IFN- β [114,170].

LLT1 and CD161 interaction constitutes a critical role in human germinal centers in promoting B cell activation and chemokine receptor CXCR4 downregulation [171]. Germinal centers are located within secondary lymphoid organs where B cells expand and mature as they interact with antigens being presented [171]. B cells have its own B-cell receptors that can change its affinity for antigens [171]. Germinal centers consist of a light zone, where B cells compete for antigens and interactions with T follicular helper cells, and the dark zone, where B cells hypermutate and proliferate [171, 172]. It has been determined that LLT1 expression was observed on all germinal center B cells and that expression of LLT1 might be associated with germinal center B cells with high-affinity B-cell receptors [171]. It is these B cells that can more effectively serve as antigen-presenting cells and present antigens to T follicular helper cells [171].

This study was extended further to see how CD161 expression on follicular dendritic cells contributes to B cells migrating between the light zones and dark zones of germinal centers [171]. Downregulation of CXCR4 expression on dark zone B cells has allowed these B cells to migrate back to the light zone, but the question is: does LLT1 expression have to do with this migration? Crosslinking of LLT1 on dark zone B cells has allowed expression of CXCR4 to decrease which would favor migration of those B cells back into the light zone [171]. Upon the B cells returning to the light zone, LLT1 on these B cells interact with CD161 on T follicular helper cells and follicular dendritic cells which causes B cells to better receive costimulatory signals [171]. Expression of LLT1 has been linked to proliferation of B cells which serves as a possible marker for non-Hodgkin B cell lymphoma [171,173].

The role of LLT1 expression on immune cells in general is important in regulating immune functions in NK cells, germinal B cells, T cells, and plasmacytoid dendritic cells as discussed. If the immune cells display LLT1 expression and upregulate LLT1 expression under given circumstances that would enhance immune cell function against pathogens, the next question becomes: can tumor cells express LLT1 as method to evade targeting by immune effector cells? Through the cancer immunoediting concept, once tumors are able to survive through the eradication and equilibrium phases, tumors are now in the escape phase where it can display ligands or secrete cytokines that can inhibit immune cell function. If immune cells can utilize its own mechanisms to kill tumor cells and pathogens and protect itself from other immune cells, then tumor cells can adapt and enhance its survival by displaying those same ligands and receptors. For the case of LLT1-NKRP1A interaction between target cells and NK cells, it is known that LLT1 expressed on target cells inhibits NK cell function when LLT1 interacts with NKRP1A as discussed. NK cells also display LLT1 which when crosslinked with its counter-receptor or antibody induces IFN-y production that enhances NK cell function but does not increase NK cytotoxicity function [169]. One may ask if different types of cancer cells also express LLT1 with the same role of inducing IFN-y production while inhibiting NK cytotoxicity function. In particular, there are no prior studies to our knowledge that looks at LLT1 expression on TNBCs. We have then decided to study the possibility of this immunosurvillence evasion by determining if there is LLT1 expression on TNBCs and observing for the effects of blocking this inhibitory interaction of LLT1-NKRP1A as will be discussed in our analysis in the next section.

Expression and Function of LLT1 on TNBCs

There have been numerous studies that show the expression and function of LLT1 on immune cells such as germinal center B cells, plasmacytoid dendritic cells, NK cells, and T cells [114,168,170,171]. Immune cells express and upregulate LLT1 in order to enhance its own function of targeting pathogens, presenting antigens to other cells, secrete cytokines, or enhance its receptor interactions with ligands on immune cells with intent for co-stimulation [114,169-171]. In addition, certain immune cells have anti-tumor effects such as CD8⁺ T cells and NK cells by recognizing tumor-associated antigens presented on the major histocompatibility complex I of tumor cells [174]. It may sound convenient for immune systems to recognize every tumor cell by its tumor-associated antigens being presented, but this is not always the case. The cancer immunoediting process describes how tumor cells can develop resistance to the immune system by acquiring mutations, ligands, receptors, and producing cytokines that will prevent immune systems from recognizing them [70,76]. For the case of the interaction between NK cells and tumor cells, the expression of inhibitory ligands such as LLT1 on cancer cells allows cancer cells to escape immune suveillance.

LLT1 expression on different types of cancers have been reported. Mathew and colleagues have reported the overexpression of LLT1 on prostate cancer cells and have determined that disrupting the LLT1-NKRP1A interaction have increased killing of prostate cancer cells [88]. Germain and colleagues have also observed the expression of LLT1 on germinal center B cell non-Hodgkin lymphomas which contributes to inhibiting NK cell function [175]. In addition, Roth and colleagues have shown that LLT1 expression on malignant glioma cells which plays a role in inhibiting antitumor immune activity [89]. To our knowledge, there has not been a study that looks at LLT1 expression on TNBC, but since LLT1 expression has

been tested in various types of cancers, we would like to determine if there is LLT1 expression on TNBC and observe for its function from an immunotherapeutic perspective.

We have observed expression of LLT1 at the cell surface of TNBC, non-TNBC breast cancer, and non-tumorigenic breast cell lines by flow cytometry analysis and immunofluorescent confocal studies. We have tested for LLT1 expression on three TNBC cell lines MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-436, and MDA-MB-468 as well as a non-TNBC cell line MCF7 and compared its expression to non-tumorigenic breast cell line MCF10A. In order to determine if LLT1 could serve a possible candidate for targeting with antibodies, comparing the expression of LLT1 on TNBCs to MCF10A was needed in hopes of minimizing off-target effects against non-tumorigenic breast cells. Based on flow cytometry analysis of three independent experiments under the same culturing conditions and using the same anti-LLT1 antibody, the non-tumorigenic breast cells MCF10A expressed significantly low levels of LLT1 than all the breast cancer cell lines tested (except for MDA-MB-468). Since LLT1 is not expressed on 99.44% of MCF10A cells (N=8276 MCF10A cells, mean population size of 3 independent experiments, Table 3.1), LLT1 may serve as a possible ligand to target to examine its function on TNBCs.

By flow cytometry, normal breast cell line MCF10A has consistently shown very low expression of LLT1, there has been a study that performed immunohistochemical staining of LLT1 on healthy breast tissues [176]. The staining performed by Llibre and colleagues has shown that healthy breast tissues do express some levels of LLT1, but it is not known how many different types of healthy breast tissues was observed and there was no quantification of expression of LLT1 on the healthy breast tissue examined [176]. Our study has quantified the expression of LLT1 at the cell surface of one normal breast cell line, but there needs to be further

comprehensive study on the expression of LLT1 on multiple normal breast cell lines as well as healthy breast tissue samples. Furthermore, it has been established that normal breast cells display a self-antigen peptide on its human leukocyte antigen class A, B, or C receptor to prevent cytotoxic T cells from killing normal cells [5]. Because healthy breast cells utilize HLA-A, HLA-B, or HLA-C to inhibit both cytotoxic T cells and NK cells from killing, healthy breast cells rely less on expressing LLT1 at the cell surface to inhibit killing by immune cells [5].

Based on our findings, we are interested in determining the function of LLT1 expressed on TNBCs. Therefore, we have used an anti-LLT1 antibody specific for binding to LLT1 on all three TNBC cell lines in a chromium-release cytotoxicity with primary NK cells to see the effects of blocking LLT1-NKRP1A interaction. Based on the previous studies detailing the function of the LLT1-NKRP1A interaction, we have hypothesized that LLT1 functions as an inhibitory ligand on TNBCs and that blocking LLT1-NKRP1A interaction will enhance killing of TNBCs. We have observed that anti-LLT1 antibodies binding to LLT1 on most cell lines (except MDA-MB-468 due to low LLT1 cell surface expression) have prevented LLT1 from interacting with NKRP1A on primary NK cells. Utilizing antibodies to block interaction between LLT1 and NKRP1A has increased lysis of TNBC cell lines MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-436 more than the same cell lines treated with corresponding isotype controls. Furthermore, targeting LLT1 on TNBCs has shown greater killing than normal breast cells MCF10A being treated with anti-LLT1 antibodies. Our results have demonstrated that the lower killing of normal breast cells and greater killing of TNBCs indicate that using LLT1 as a target can be distinguished between normal breast cells versus TNBCs due to this difference in expression. However, further testing of LLT1 expression on more normal breast cell lines and healthy breast tissues needs to be done in order to confirm that there is very low expression of LLT1 on a minority of normal breast

cells. The goal is to minimize off-target effects as much as possible when targeting ligands of interest that would increase cancer cells' susceptibility to lysis by NK cells.

We have also utilized another method of blocking LLT1-NKRP1A interaction by using small interference RNA targeting the *LLT1* gene. We have determined that downregulation of LLT1 cell surface expression have prevented LLT1 from interacting with NKRP1A on primary NK cells. By preventing this interaction, we have observed an increase in killing of TNBCs. Using siRNA-mediated downregulation of LLT1 has been shown to be successful in NK-mediated killing of glioma cells [89]. Likewise, when used siRNA-mediated downregulation (*CLEC2D* siRNA purchased from Dharmacon), we have seen an increase in killing of TNBC MDA-MB-436 LLT1-siRNA-transfected cells by 21% compared to the same cell line treated with scramble siRNA with LLT1 expressed (Figure 3.9).

Hence, our results have tested for the expression and function of LLT1 on TNBCs. We have determined that there is greater LLT1 expression at the cell surface on all three TNBC cell lines and non-TNBC cell line MCF7 than normal breast cells. The significant difference in cell surface expression of LLT1 between TNBCs and normal breast cells indicates that LLT1 can be used to target TNBCs while sparing majority of normal breast cells based on our findings. This difference in cell surface LLT1 expression between TNBCs and normal breast cells has been tested when TNBCs and normal breast cells were treated with anti-LLT1 antibodies. Based on our findings, the significant difference in a higher percentage of TNBCs killed versus the lower percentage of MCF10A cells killed has supported using LLT1 as a reasonable target against TNBCs. Our findings have demonstrated that cell surface LLT1 expression on TNBCs serves as an inhibitory ligand that suppresses NK cell activation when it interacts with NKRP1A. We have also shown that blocking LLT1-NKRP1A interaction by two methods, with anti-LLT1 antibodies

and siRNA, have enhanced killing of TNBCs by primary NK cells. Furthermore, much like what other studies have shown when LLT1 was expressed on other types of cancers, TNBCs utilize LLT1 as one of its mechanisms in evading immunosurveillance from NK cells. The function of LLT1 on TNBCs needs to be further characterized in terms of cytokine secretion by TNBCs, upregulation of ligand, and effects of LLT1 expression on other receptors or ligands on TNBCs in future studies. Therefore, targeting LLT1 on TNBCs with monoclonal antibodies may introduce another strategy for patients diagnosed with TNBC.

Future Studies

Based on this study, LLT1 is expressed on TNBCs and blocking LLT1-NKRP1A interaction has enhanced killing of TNBCs by primary NK cells. To our knowledge, this is the first study that targeted LLT1 on TNBCs from an immunotherapeutic perspective. We have determined that cell surface expression of LLT1 on TNBCs inhibit NK cell function. However, it is not known what mechanisms TNBCs use as a result of LLT1-NKRP1A interaction. Our study demonstrates that disrupting the LLT1-NKRP1A interaction, with two methods by siRNAmediated downregulation of LLT1 and antibody binding to LLT1, has increased susceptibility of TNBCs to be killed by NK cells and that LLT1 on TNBCs allow tumor cells to evade antitumor immune responses by NK cells. Future studies should address the following: (i) What cytokines are secreted by TNBCs when LLT1 interacts with NKRP1A? (ii) Is there upregulation of LLT1 on TNBCs and under what conditions does upregulation occur? (iii) Do we see LLT1 expression on TNBC patient tissue samples? (iv) Can we better enhance the quality of the anti-LLT1 antibody? (v) Does LLT1-NKRP1A interaction inhibit NK cell function in vivo?

Previous studies have confirmed that LLT1 is an inhibitory ligand that interacts with NKRP1A on NK cells on other types of cancer. The general function of LLT1 expressed on

TNBCs remains the same as LLT1 expressed on glioma cells, non-Hodgkin lymphoma B cells, and prostate cancer cells which serves to inhibit NK cell function [88,89,175]. There is a need to further characterize the function of LLT1 on TNBCs because every type of cancer cell may have different mechanisms of inhibiting NK function as a result of the expression of LLT1. For example, LLT1 expression on glioma cells gets upregulated by transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) which is known as an immunosuppressor produced by glioma cells to evade T cells and NK cells [89,177]. Among the future studies, we should look at what cytokines are produced by TNBCs when LLT1 interacts with NKRP1A on NK cells and separately without LLT1-NKRP1A interaction *in vitro*. As observed in glioma cells, secretion of TGF- β by TNBCs is of interest since it is well-established that production of TGF- β allows glioma cells to evade immunosurveillance [177]. Another cytokine of interest is secretion of IL-12 when LLT1 interacts with NKRP1A, because IL-12 upregulates the expression of NKRP1A on NK cells which leads to inhibition of NK function [113]. Other cytokines that should be tested with and without LLT1-NKRP1A interaction include IL-2, tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), IL-15, and other cytokines that would regulate function of NK cells [5]. Looking at the cytokine profile upon LLT1-NKRP1A interaction would allow us to understand mechanisms that suppress NK cell function and may provide additional targets that would downregulate expression of LLT1 on TNBCs. This type of study can be performed by ELISA method. A study of cytokine secretion by TNBCs or NK cells due to LLT1-NKRP1A interaction will allow us to determine which cytokines produced is involved in the upregulation of LLT1 on TNBCs.

Another future study should look at the expression of LLT1 on tissues of TNBC patients and compare with the expression of LLT1 on healthy breast tissues. Llibre and colleagues has observed that healthy breast tissues do express LLT1, but it is not known quantitatively how

much expression of LLT1 is on these healthy breast tissue since immunohistochemical staining was performed [176]. Our results by flow cytometry of non-tumorigenic normal breast cell line MCF10A has consistently showed in three independent experiments very low expression of LLT1. Furthermore, there was also a much lower percentage of killing of MCF10A cells when treated with anti-LLT1 antibody than TNBC cell line MDA-MB-231 treated with anti-LLT1 antibody than TNBC cell line MDA-MB-231 treated with anti-LLT1 antibody than TNBC cell line MDA-MB-231 treated with anti-LLT1 antibodies. We can further confirm negligible expression of LLT1 in additional non-tumorigenic breast cell lines such as HMEC (human mammary epithelial cells). For clinical relevance, immunohistochemical staining of LLT1 and obtaining quantitative measures of LLT1 expression such as flow cytometry, mRNA expression, and western blot on tissue samples would allow us to go beyond *in vitro* models and study clinical samples. If we see a difference in LLT1 expression between healthy breast cells and TNBCs in these clinical samples, then this would further strengthen using LLT1 as a target for future monoclonal antibody treatment in the future.

The use of antibodies purchased commercially is convenient, but sometimes does present issues of quality control from the company's end. The anti-LLT1 antibodies we used throughout the project were purchased from a company. In future studies, we would like to also produce antibodies specific for binding to LLT1 from hybridomas. Hybridoma technology has allowed the scientific community to generate high-quality monoclonal antibodies that is specific to binding an antigen of interest [5,178]. Generating anti-LLT1 antibodies from hybridomas specific for secreting antibodies binding to LLT1 will allow us to perform the same experiments using our own enhanced-quality antibodies.

Lastly, transitioning from *in vitro* model to *in vivo* models in targeting LLT1 with generated monoclonal antibodies from hybridomas is important. We are interested in testing our hypothesis of blocking LLT1-NKRP1A interaction with monoclonal antibodies in appropriate

mice models. Future studies should include measuring TNBC tumor size and volume before and after treatment and appropriately quantifying the percent of TNBCs in a tumor microenvironment that are killed by NK cells when TNBCs are treated with anti-LLT1 antibodies. These are additional studies that should be taken into consideration in order to further determine if LLT1 is an ideal target with monoclonal antibodies in future clinical immunotherapeutic treatments.

4.4 PCNA-NKp44 Interaction on TNBCs and its Function

Expression and Function of Cell Surface PCNA on TNBCs

Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen (PCNA) has been known as a nuclear protein that serves various roles in replication, cell cycle regulation, and DNA repair mechanism [115]. In addition to PCNA's role in the viability of cells, PCNA can also be overexpressed in different types of cancers which allows the cancer cells to survive and proliferate [116, 120, 121]. Rosental and colleagues have observed that PCNA was expressed on the cell surface of pancreatic, breast, melanoma, lymphoma, and glioblastoma cells [121]. Furthermore, it has also been shown that PCNA serves as an inhibitory ligand that interacts with NKp44 on NK cells and inhibits NK cell function [121]. In this project, we have looked at cell surface PCNA expression on three TNBC cell lines and non-tumorigenic normal breast cells.

We have determined that there is greater PCNA cell surface expression on two TNBC cell lines than on normal breast cell line MCF10A based on subcellular protein fractionation and flow cytometry analysis. In particular, TNBC cell lines MDA-MB-436 and MDA-MB-231 has shown greater PCNA cell surface expression based on flow cytometry analysis looking at percent of cell population PCNA⁺ than PCNA cell surface expression on normal breast cell line MCF10A. However, based on subcellular protein fractionation, we did not detect PCNA cell

surface expression on MDA-MB-231, but did detect PCNA cell surface expression on TNBC MDA-MB-468. Due to low cell count at the time, MDA-MB-436 could not be tested by subcellular protein fractionation. Based on subcellular protein fractionation, we did not detect PCNA cell surface expression on normal breast cells MCF10A. This subcellular protein fractionation was consistent with flow cytometry analysis of % PCNA⁺ for MCF10A.

Based on this evidence, we have decided that PCNA may be a possible target for antibody treatment against TNBCs. Even though our flow cytometry analysis showed a higher MFIR value of PCNA cell surface expression on MCF10A than TNBCs, flow cytometry analysis was only performed once and by our gating strategy have determined that there was a significant difference in the lower percentage of MCF10A cells that are PCNA⁺ than TNBC cell lines that are PCNA⁺. Naryzhy and colleagues have confirmed that there was higher expression of PCNA on MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-468 cell lines than normal breast cell lines MCF10A and HMEC on western blot [120, Figure 1 in Naryzhy *et al.*]. However, the figure focused on total expression of PCNA which encompasses PCNA expression at the nuclear, cytoplasmic, and membrane locations. We have determined that there was low expression of PCNA at the cell membrane of MCF10A than TNBCs from subcellular protein fractionation. This allowed us to target PCNA on the cell membrane of TNBCs in the chromium-release cytotoxicity assays.

The function of PCNA cell surface expression on TNBCs was tested by blocking PCNA-NKp44 interaction with anti-PCNA antibodies binding to PCNA on TNBCs. We have observed that blocking PCNA-NKp44 interaction on TNBC cell lines has enhanced killing of TNBCs by primary NK cells. Treating TNBCs with anti-PCNA antibodies have prevented PCNA on the cell surface of TNBCs from interacting with NKp44 receptor on primary NK cells. By disrupting the PCNA-NKp44 interaction on TNBCs, inhibitory signals are being blocked to the NK cells

allowing the net overall signals to favor activation of NK cell function. Future studies should test targeting PCNA on normal breast cells MCF10A or another similar cell line to see if there is a much lower killing of normal cells than TNBCs. We need to address that targeting PCNA with antibodies will kill more TNBCs than normal breast cells. The goal is to minimize the off-target effects of using antibodies targeting certain ligands. At this time, we have observed a higher percentage of TNBCs killed when PCNA-NKp44 interaction was disrupted than TNBCs with this interaction intact, but it is unknown if normal breast cells are spared from killing by NK cells when treated with anti-PCNA antibodies.

We have already shown that blocking LLT1-NKRP1A interaction on TNBCs has enhanced killing of TNBCs by reducing the inhibitory signal from this interaction from being sent to the NK cells. Likewise, we have shown that blocking PCNA-NKp44 interaction on TNBCs has also increased killing of TNBCs through the same mechanisms. Horton *et al.* has shown that PCNA does synergize with human leukocyte antigen I (HLA I) to inhibit NK cell function [90]. Based on previous studies and results from this project, we have performed a preliminary study on the use of combinational antibodies targeting LLT1, PCNA, and HLA to observe for enhanced killing of TNBCs. We have found that there is increased killing of TNBCs with the combination treatment than TNBCs not treated with any antibodies. Future studies should address specific combinational treatments such as targeting LLT1 and PCNA, targeting PCNA and HLA, and targeting LLT1 and HLA to see which of these interactions are most responsible for increased killing of TNBCs when all three are used.

In summary, this part of our major study has looked at the expression and function of PCNA on TNBCs. We have demonstrated that there is greater expression of cell surface PCNA on TNBCs than normal breast cells based on *in vitro* models. We have also shown that blocking

PCNA-NKp44 interaction with antibodies targeting cell surface PCNA have enhanced killing of TNBCs by primary NK cells. This is due to the lower number of inhibitory signals being sent to NK cells. A combinational treatment targeting LLT1, PCNA, and HLA has also increased killing of TNBCs by primary NK cells, but has similar lysis percentages to TNBCs treated with either anti-LLT1 or anti-PCNA antibodies separately. We have observed that the function of cell surface PCNA on TNBCs is to allow TNBCs to evade immunosurveillance by NK cells through PCNA interaction with NKp44. Future studies should further characterize the function of cell surface PCNA on TNBCs by looking at cytokine secretion and which of the two scenarios, cell surface PCNA interacting with NKp44 or soluble PCNA interacting with NKp44, contributes more to inhibiting NK cell function. Hence, targeting PCNA on TNBCs with monoclonal antibodies may introduce another avenue for patients with TNBCs, but further studies need to be performed to further confirm if PCNA is an ideal target.

Future Studies

From this study, results have shown that PCNA is expressed on TNBCs at the cell surface and blocking PCNA-NKp44 interaction has enhanced killing of TNBCs by primary NK cells. We have demonstrated that cell surface expression of PCNA on TNBCs function to inhibit NK cell function. Like our study on LLT1-NKRP1A interaction on TNBCs, we do not know the exact mechanisms that TNBCs use as a result of PCNA-NKp44 interaction. Based on our observations, our study can conclude that disrupting the PCNA-NKp44 interaction by antibody binding to PCNA has increased susceptibility of TNBCs to be killed by NK cells and that PCNA expressed at the cell surface on TNBCs allow tumor cells to evade antitumor immune responses by NK cells. Future studies should address the following: (i) What cytokines are secreted by TNBCs when PCNA interacts with NKp44? (ii) Is there upregulation of PCNA on TNBCs and

under what conditions does upregulation occur? (iii) Do we see PCNA expression on TNBC patient tissue samples? (iv) Is cell surface PCNA or soluble PCNA responsible for inhibiting NK cell function?

Like the LLT1-NKRP1A future studies, we should look at the cytokine profile as a result of PCNA-NKp44 interaction. Cytokines such as TGF- β , TNF- α , IL-2, IL-15, IL-18, and others could be released by either TNBCs or NK cells from PCNA-NKp44 interaction [5]. A study of cytokine secretion by TNBCs or NK cells from this ligand-receptor interaction will help us to determine which cytokines produced is involved in the upregulation of PCNA on TNBCs. In addition, data collected by previous colleagues in our lab looked at the expression of PCNA on exosomes and at the cell surface on several cell lines in different types of cancers including TNBC MDA-MB-231 and MCF7. It could be possible that cytokine secretion by either TNBC or NK cells may favor either exosomal PCNA expression released by TNBCs or cell surface expression of PCNA on TNBCs. By determining which cytokines are secreted, a mechanism for understanding how PCNA is expressed and how it is inhibiting NK cell function from this interaction with NKp44 can be determined.

Another future study should also look at the expression of PCNA on patient tissue samples. A study that focuses on immunohistochemical staining of cell surface PCNA on tissue samples from patients with TNBC and comparing it to the expression of PCNA on healthy breast tissue is important in determining if targeting PCNA with monoclonal antibodies will effectively kill TNBCs while minimizing off-target effects of killing healthy breast cells. In addition to immunohistochemical staining, flow cytometry analysis and protein expression analysis on patient tissue samples can also give a quantification of cell surface PCNA expression on both TNBC and healthy breast tissue samples.

As discussed, PCNA can be expressed on exosomes released by tumor cells or at the cell surface. Previous data from our lab has looked at the presence of CD63 markers colocalizing with PCNA expression on various cell lines including MDA-MB-231 and MCF7. CD63 is one of the markers used on exosomes. There is much debate on how to prove that one is working with exosomes. It has been studied that exosomes are detected within tumor microenvironments and that exosomes may play a role in enhancing a tumor survival, immunity, and proliferation [179]. Exosomes are known to be formed from inside the cell as endosomes and contains some RNA, DNA, and proteins that are shuttered to outside the cell as vesicles [179,180]. The function of exosomes in cancer has been highly debated, but there seems to be a consensus that exosomes are somehow involved in tumor progression [179].

Several studies have reported increased concentration of exosomes in patients with ovarian, pancreatic, and breast cancers [179,181,182]. An example that proteins in exosomes may play a role in cancer development is proteoglycan glypican-1 (GPC-1) detected in exosomes of serum of patients with pancreatic cancer and breast cancer [181]. This study has detected a difference in expression of GPC-1 between early and late stages of pancreatic cancer versus low levels of GPC-1 in exosomes from healthy patients [181]. Likewise, it could be possible that PCNA detected in exosomes on TNBCs may differ in its expression depending on the stage of tumor progression. A future study should look at the difference in expression of exosome PCNA in different stages of tumor progression on TNBCs and compare it to the expression of exosome PCNA from healthy donors.

Exosomes could play a role in inhibiting NK cell function. Exosomes derived from cancer cells activate NK cell function by presenting a stress protein, heat shock protein 70 (HSP70), to NK cells [179,183]. It has also been studied that exosomes can inhibit NK cell

function by downregulating NKG2D which is known as a receptor that detects infected and tumor cells from its interaction with stress-induced ligands expressed on target cells [184]. Future studies should look at if PCNA expressed in exosomes released from TNBCs also inhibit NK cell function by downregulating NKG2D upon PCNA-NKp44 interaction. Another future study should also address whether which PCNA, cell surface or exosome PCNA, is more responsible for interacting with NKp44 and inhibiting NK cell function. By determining this, we can then focus on either targeting cell surface expression of PCNA or exosome PCNA or both on TNBCs.

In summary, we have determined that there is expression of cell surface PCNA on TNBCs. Furthermore, we have also demonstrated that disrupting PCNA-NKp44 interaction by using antibodies targeting cell surface PCNA on TNBCs has increased killing of TNBCs by primary NK cells. Further studies should look at the mechanism of how PCNA expressed by TNBCs inhibit NK cell function and if PCNA serves as an ideal target in future clinical treatments.

4.5 Conclusion

My project focused on the expression and function of ligands for natural killer cell receptors on TNBCs. Two ligands of focus in my project were Lectin-like Transcript-1 (LLT1) and Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen (PCNA). Prior studies have shown that expression of LLT1 and PCNA, respectively, in different types of cancers contributed its role of inhibiting NK cell function. LLT1 as a ligand interacts with NKRP1A (CD161) receptor on NK cells and PCNA as a ligand interacts with NKp44 on NK cells. This study has focused on targeting LLT1 and PCNA on TNBCs with a goal to enhance killing of TNBCs. We have found LLT1 expression on TNBCs and have found that there is significantly greater LLT1 expression on

TNBCs than normal breast cells. Our results have demonstrated that disrupting LLT1-NKRP1A interaction by using antibodies specific for binding to LLT1 has enhanced killing of TNBCs. In addition, we have also observed that downregulating expression of LLT1 by siRNA-mediated knockdown of the *LLT1* gene has disrupted LLT1-NKRP1A interaction and increased killing of TNBCs by primary NK cells. Therefore, we have concluded that LLT1 is expressed on TNBCs allow TNBCs to evade immunosurveillance by NK cells. Hence, we also conclude that blocking LLT1 by both antibody treatment and siRNA-mediated knockdown has prevented LLT1 from interacting with NKRP1A and enhanced killing of TNBCs by NK cells. Blocking LLT1-NKRP1A interaction between TNBCs and NK cells has lowered inhibitory signals from being sent to NK cells thus favoring the net overall balance towards NK cell activation.

Our results demonstrated PCNA expressed at the cell surface of TNBCs. PCNA cell surface expression on TNBCs is greater than PCNA cell surface expression on normal breast cells. Our results demonstrated that disrupting PCNA-NKp44 interaction by using antibodies specific for binding PCNA has enhanced killing of TNBCs by primary NK cells. Therefore, we conclude that blocking PCNA by antibody treatment has prevented PCNA from interacting with NKp44 and increased killing of TNBCs. Blocking PCNA-NKp44 interaction between TNBCs and NK cells has decreased inhibitory signals from being sent to NK cells favoring NK cell activation. PCNA expressed on the cell surface of TNBCs allowed TNBCs to evade immunosurveillance from NK cells.

In conclusion, we have determined that both ligands LLT1 and PCNA are expressed on TNBCs and contribute to TNBCs evasion from NK cells as one of its evasion mechanisms. Future studies should further characterize the function of LLT1 and PCNA by looking at cytokine profiles and understanding how each ligand gets upregulated and affects TNBC

immunogenicity. Targeting LLT1 and PCNA on TNBCs with antibodies will activate NKmediated lysis and could potentially lead to a new immunotherapeutic treatment for patients diagnosed with TNBC.

REFERENCES

1. Dai, X., Cheng, H., Bai, Z., & Li, J. (2017). Breast Cancer Cell Line Classification and Its Relevance with Breast Tumor Subtyping. *J Cancer*, 8(16), 3131-3141. doi:10.7150/jca.18457

2. Irvin, W. J., Jr., & Carey, L. A. (2008). What is triple-negative breast cancer? *Eur J Cancer*, 44(18), 2799-2805. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2008.09.034

3. Tang, H., Qiao, J., & Fu, Y.-X. Immunotherapy and tumor microenvironment. *Cancer Letters*, 370(1), 85-90. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2015.10.009

4. Holohan, C., Van Schaeybroeck, S., Longley, D. B., & Johnston, P. G. (2013). Cancer drug resistance: an evolving paradigm. *Nat Rev Cancer*, *13*(10), 714-726. doi:10.1038/nrc3599

5. Murphy KP (2012) Janeway's Immunobiology 8th Edition. New York: Garland Science.

6. Morvan, M. G., & Lanier, L. L. (2016). NK cells and cancer: you can teach innate cells new tricks. *Nat Rev Cancer*, *16*(1), 7-19. doi:10.1038/nrc.2015.5

7. Pahl, J., & Cerwenka, A. (2017). Tricking the balance: NK cells in anti-cancer immunity. *Immunobiology*, 222(1), 11-20. doi:10.1016/j.imbio.2015.07.012

8. Fang, F., Xiao, W., & Tian, Z. (2017). NK cell-based immunotherapy for cancer. *Semin Immunol*. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2017.07.009

9. Board, P. D. Q. A. T. E. (2018). Breast Cancer Treatment (PDQ®): Patient Version. In: NCI (US National Cancer Institute).

10. Siegel, R. L., Miller, K. D., & Jemal, A. (2018). Cancer statistics, 2018. *CA Cancer J Clin*, 68(1), 7-30. doi:10.3322/caac.21442

11. Recommended Treatments for Ductal Carcinoma in Situ. (2017, March 11). Retrieved February 26, 2018, from https://ww5.komen.org/BreastCancer/RecommendedTreatmentsforDuctalCarcinomaInSitu.html

12. Types of Breast Cancer. (2017, September 25). Retrieved February 26, 2018, from https://www.cancer.org/cancer/breast-cancer/understanding-a-breast-cancer-diagnosis/types-of-breast-cancer.html

13. Types of Breast Cancer: Non-Invasive, Invasive and More. (2018, February 21). Retrieved February 26, 2018, from http://www.breastcancer.org/symptoms/types

14. Ductal Carcinoma In Situ: Symptoms, Diagnosis, and Treatment. (2018, February 23). Retrieved February 26, 2018, from http://www.breastcancer.org/symptoms/types/dcis

15. Lobular Carcinoma In Situ (LCIS). (2018, February 19). Retrieved February 26, 2018, from http://www.breastcancer.org/symptoms/types/lcis

16. Invasive Ductal Carcinoma: Diagnosis, Treatment, and More. (2018, February 19). Retrieved February 26, 2018, from http://www.breastcancer.org/symptoms/types/idc

17. Invasive Lobular Carcinoma: Symptoms, Diagnosis, and More. (2018, February 23). Retrieved February 26, 2018, from http://www.breastcancer.org/symptoms/types/ilc

18. Metastatic Breast Cancer: Symptoms, Treatment Options, and More. (2018, February 14). Retrieved February 26, 2018, from http://www.breastcancer.org/symptoms/types/recur_metast

19. Nagarajan, D., & McArdle, S. E. B. (2018). Immune Landscape of Breast Cancers. *Biomedicines*, *6*(1). doi:10.3390/biomedicines6010020

20. Prat, A., Parker, J. S., Karginova, O., Fan, C., Livasy, C., Herschkowitz, J. I., . . . Perou, C. M. (2010). Phenotypic and molecular characterization of the claudin-low intrinsic subtype of breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Research : BCR, 12*(5), R68-R68. doi:10.1186/bcr2635

21. Yersal, O., & Barutca, S. (2014). Biological subtypes of breast cancer: Prognostic and therapeutic implications. *World Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *5*(3), 412-424. doi:10.5306/wjco.v5.i3.412

22. Dias, K., Dvorkin-Gheva, A., Hallett, R. M., Wu, Y., Hassell, J., Pond, G. R., . . . Bane, A. L. (2017). Claudin-Low Breast Cancer; Clinical & Pathological Characteristics. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(1), e0168669. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0168669

23. Molecular Subtypes of Breast Cancer. (2016, November 9). Retrieved February 26, 2018, from http://www.breastcancer.org/symptoms/types/molecular-subtypes

24. Carey, L. A., Perou, C. M., Livasy, C. A., Dressler, L. G., Cowan, D., Conway, K., . . . Millikan, R. C. (2006). Race, breast cancer subtypes, and survival in the Carolina Breast Cancer Study. *Jama*, 295(21), 2492-2502. doi:10.1001/jama.295.21.2492

25. Kennecke, H., Yerushalmi, R., Woods, R., Cheang, M. C., Voduc, D., Speers, C. H., ... Gelmon, K. (2010). Metastatic behavior of breast cancer subtypes. *J Clin Oncol*, 28(20), 3271-3277. doi:10.1200/jco.2009.25.9820

26. Guarneri, V., & Conte, P. (2009). Metastatic breast cancer: therapeutic options according to molecular subtypes and prior adjuvant therapy. *Oncologist*, *14*(7), 645-656. doi:10.1634/theoncologist.2009-0078

27. Creighton, C. J. (2012). The molecular profile of luminal B breast cancer. *Biologics*, *6*, 289-297. doi:10.2147/btt.s29923

28. Ellis, M. J., Tao, Y., Luo, J., A'Hern, R., Evans, D. B., Bhatnagar, A. S., . . . Dowsett, M. (2008). Outcome Prediction for Estrogen Receptor–Positive Breast Cancer Based on Postneoadjuvant Endocrine Therapy Tumor Characteristics. *JNCI Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, *100*(19), 1380-1388. doi:10.1093/jnci/djn309

29. Reis-Filho, J. S., Weigelt, B., Fumagalli, D., & Sotiriou, C. (2010). Molecular profiling: moving away from tumor philately. *Sci Transl Med*, *2*(47), 47ps43. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3001329

30. Heitz, F., Harter, P., Lueck, H. J., Fissler-Eckhoff, A., Lorenz-Salehi, F., Scheil-Bertram, S., . . . du Bois, A. (2009). Triple-negative and HER2-overexpressing breast cancers exhibit an elevated risk and an earlier occurrence of cerebral metastases. *Eur J Cancer, 45*(16), 2792-2798. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2009.06.027

31. Kreike, B., van Kouwenhove, M., Horlings, H., Weigelt, B., Peterse, H., Bartelink, H., & van de Vijver, M. J. (2007). Gene expression profiling and histopathological characterization of triple-negative/basal-like breast carcinomas. *Breast Cancer Res*, *9*(5), R65. doi:10.1186/bcr1771

32. Herschkowitz, J. I., Simin, K., Weigman, V. J., Mikaelian, I., Usary, J., Hu, Z., . . . Perou, C. M. (2007). Identification of conserved gene expression features between murine mammary carcinoma models and human breast tumors. *Genome Biol*, 8(5), R76. doi:10.1186/gb-2007-8-5-r76

33. Prat, A., & Perou, C. M. (2011). Deconstructing the molecular portraits of breast cancer. *Mol Oncol*, *5*(1), 5-23. doi:10.1016/j.molonc.2010.11.003

34. Hennessy, B. T., Gonzalez-Angulo, A. M., Stemke-Hale, K., Gilcrease, M. Z., Krishnamurthy, S., Lee, J. S., . . . Mills, G. B. (2009). Characterization of a naturally occurring breast cancer subset enriched in epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and stem cell characteristics. *Cancer Res, 69*(10), 4116-4124. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-08-3441

35. Sabatier, R., Finetti, P., Guille, A., Adelaide, J., Chaffanet, M., Viens, P., . . . Bertucci, F. (2014). Claudin-low breast cancers: clinical, pathological, molecular and prognostic characterization. *Mol Cancer, 13*, 228. doi:10.1186/1476-4598-13-228

36. Bianchini, G., Balko, J. M., Mayer, I. A., Sanders, M. E., & Gianni, L. (2016). Triplenegative breast cancer: challenges and opportunities of a heterogeneous disease. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol*, *13*(11), 674-690. doi:10.1038/nrclinonc.2016.66

37. Foulkes, W. D., Smith, I. E., & Reis-Filho, J. S. (2010). Triple-negative breast cancer. *N Engl J Med*, *363*(20), 1938-1948. doi:10.1056/NEJMra1001389

38. Yeh, J., Chun, J., Schwartz, S., Wang, A., Kern, E., Guth, A. A., . . . Schnabel, F. (2017). Clinical Characteristics in Patients with Triple Negative Breast Cancer. *Int J Breast Cancer*, 2017, 1796145. doi:10.1155/2017/1796145

39. Khosravi-Shahi, P., Cabezon-Gutierrez, L., & Custodio-Cabello, S. (2017). Metastatic triple negative breast cancer: Optimizing treatment options, new and emerging targeted therapies. *Asia Pac J Clin Oncol.* doi:10.1111/ajco.12748

40. Gregorio, A. C., Lacerda, M., Figueiredo, P., Simoes, S., Dias, S., & Moreira, J. N. (2017). Therapeutic Implications of the Molecular and Immune Landscape of Triple-Negative Breast Cancer. *Pathol Oncol Res.* doi:10.1007/s12253-017-0307-2

41. Zhang, M. H., Man, H. T., Zhao, X. D., Dong, N., & Ma, S. L. (2014). Estrogen receptorpositive breast cancer molecular signatures and therapeutic potentials (Review). *Biomed Rep*, 2(1), 41-52. doi:10.3892/br.2013.187

42. Van Asten, K., Neven, P., Lintermans, A., Wildiers, H., & Paridaens, R. (2014). Aromatase inhibitors in the breast cancer clinic: focus on exemestane. *Endocr Relat Cancer*, 21(1), R31-49. doi:10.1530/erc-13-0269

43. Dutta, U., & Pant, K. (2008). Aromatase inhibitors: past, present and future in breast cancer therapy. *Medical Oncology*, 25(2), 113-124. doi:10.1007/s12032-007-9019-x

44. Couzin-Frankel, J. (2013). Breakthrough of the year 2013. Cancer immunotherapy. *Science*, *342*(6165), 1432-1433. doi:10.1126/science.342.6165.1432

45. Shah, S. P., Roth, A., Goya, R., Oloumi, A., Ha, G., Zhao, Y., . . . Aparicio, S. (2012). The clonal and mutational evolution spectrum of primary triple-negative breast cancers. *Nature*, *486*(7403), 395-399. doi:10.1038/nature10933

46. Nielsen, T. O., Hsu, F. D., Jensen, K., Cheang, M., Karaca, G., Hu, Z., ... Perou, C. M. (2004). Immunohistochemical and clinical characterization of the basal-like subtype of invasive breast carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res, 10*(16), 5367-5374. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-04-0220

47. Perou, C. M., Sorlie, T., Eisen, M. B., van de Rijn, M., Jeffrey, S. S., Rees, C. A., . . . Botstein, D. (2000). Molecular portraits of human breast tumours. *Nature*, 406(6797), 747-752. doi:10.1038/35021093

48. Sorlie, T., Perou, C. M., Tibshirani, R., Aas, T., Geisler, S., Johnsen, H., . . . Borresen-Dale, A. L. (2001). Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *98*(19), 10869-10874. doi:10.1073/pnas.191367098

49. Sorlie, T., Tibshirani, R., Parker, J., Hastie, T., Marron, J. S., Nobel, A., . . . Botstein, D. (2003). Repeated observation of breast tumor subtypes in independent gene expression data sets. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *100*(14), 8418-8423. doi:10.1073/pnas.0932692100
50. Sotiriou, C., Neo, S. Y., McShane, L. M., Korn, E. L., Long, P. M., Jazaeri, A., . . . Liu, E. T. (2003). Breast cancer classification and prognosis based on gene expression profiles from a population-based study. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *100*(18), 10393-10398. doi:10.1073/pnas.1732912100

51. Livasy, C. A., Karaca, G., Nanda, R., Tretiakova, M. S., Olopade, O. I., Moore, D. T., & Perou, C. M. (2006). Phenotypic evaluation of the basal-like subtype of invasive breast carcinoma. *Mod Pathol*, *19*(2), 264-271. doi:10.1038/modpathol.3800528

52. Weigelt, B., & Reis-Filho, J. S. (2009). Histological and molecular types of breast cancer: is there a unifying taxonomy? *Nat Rev Clin Oncol*, *6*(12), 718-730. doi:10.1038/nrclinonc.2009.166

53. Elston, C. W., & Ellis, I. O. (2002). Pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer. I. The value of histological grade in breast cancer: experience from a large study with long-term follow-up. *Histopathology*, 41(3a), 154-161.

54. Ellis, I. O., Galea, M., Broughton, N., Locker, A., Blamey, R. W., & Elston, C. W. (1992). Pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer. II. Histological type. Relationship with survival in a large study with long-term follow-up. *Histopathology*, *20*(6), 479-489.

55. Lehmann, B. D., Bauer, J. A., Chen, X., Sanders, M. E., Chakravarthy, A. B., Shyr, Y., & Pietenpol, J. A. (2011). Identification of human triple-negative breast cancer subtypes and preclinical models for selection of targeted therapies. *J Clin Invest, 121*(7), 2750-2767. doi:10.1172/jci45014

56. Khosravi-Shahi, P., Cabezon-Gutierrez, L., & Custodio-Cabello, S. (2018). Metastatic triple negative breast cancer: Optimizing treatment options, new and emerging targeted therapies. *Asia Pac J Clin Oncol, 14*(1), 32-39. doi:10.1111/ajco.12748

57. Hayes, M. J., Thomas, D., Emmons, A., Giordano, T. J., & Kleer, C. G. (2008). Genetic changes of Wnt pathway genes are common events in metaplastic carcinomas of the breast. *Clin Cancer Res*, *14*(13), 4038-4044. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-07-4379

58. Comprehensive molecular portraits of human breast tumours. (2012). *Nature, 490*(7418), 61-70. doi:10.1038/nature11412

59. Lehmann, B. D., Bauer, J. A., Schafer, J. M., Pendleton, C. S., Tang, L., Johnson, K. C., . . . Pietenpol, J. A. (2014). PIK3CA mutations in androgen receptor-positive triple negative breast cancer confer sensitivity to the combination of PI3K and androgen receptor inhibitors. *Breast Cancer Res*, *16*(4), 406. doi:10.1186/s13058-014-0406-x

60. Saal, L. H., Holm, K., Maurer, M., Memeo, L., Su, T., Wang, X., . . . Parsons, R. (2005). PIK3CA mutations correlate with hormone receptors, node metastasis, and ERBB2, and are mutually exclusive with PTEN loss in human breast carcinoma. *Cancer Res*, *65*(7), 2554-2559. doi:10.1158/0008-5472-can-04-3913

61. Downward, J. (2004). PI 3-kinase, Akt and cell survival. Semin Cell Dev Biol, 15(2), 177-182.

62. Foulkes, W. D., Stefansson, I. M., Chappuis, P. O., Begin, L. R., Goffin, J. R., Wong, N., . . . Akslen, L. A. (2003). Germline BRCA1 mutations and a basal epithelial phenotype in breast cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst*, *95*(19), 1482-1485.

63. Gudmundsdottir, K., & Ashworth, A. (2006). The roles of BRCA1 and BRCA2 and associated proteins in the maintenance of genomic stability. *Oncogene*, *25*(43), 5864-5874. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1209874

64. Peto, R., Davies, C., Godwin, J., Gray, R., Pan, H. C., Clarke, M., . . . Pritchard, K. (2012). Comparisons between different polychemotherapy regimens for early breast cancer: metaanalyses of long-term outcome among 100,000 women in 123 randomised trials. *Lancet*, *379*(9814), 432-444. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(11)61625-5

65. Cortazar, P., Zhang, L., Untch, M., Mehta, K., Costantino, J. P., Wolmark, N., . . . von Minckwitz, G. (2014). Pathological complete response and long-term clinical benefit in breast cancer: the CTNeoBC pooled analysis. *Lancet*, *384*(9938), 164-172. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(13)62422-8

66. Liedtke, C., Mazouni, C., Hess, K. R., Andre, F., Tordai, A., Mejia, J. A., . . . Pusztai, L. (2008). Response to neoadjuvant therapy and long-term survival in patients with triple-negative breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol*, *26*(8), 1275-1281. doi:10.1200/jco.2007.14.4147

67. Carey, L. A., Dees, E. C., Sawyer, L., Gatti, L., Moore, D. T., Collichio, F., ... Perou, C. M. (2007). The triple negative paradox: primary tumor chemosensitivity of breast cancer subtypes. *Clin Cancer Res*, *13*(8), 2329-2334. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-06-1109

68. Couzin-Frankel, J. (2013). Breakthrough of the year 2013. Cancer immunotherapy. Science, 342(6165), 1432-1433. doi:10.1126/science.342.6165.1432

69. Longley, D. B., & Johnston, P. G. (2005). Molecular mechanisms of drug resistance. J Pathol, 205(2), 275-292. doi:10.1002/path.1706

70. Prendergast, G.C. & Jaffee, E.M. (2013). Cancer Immunotherapy 2nd Edition. San Diego: Academic Press

71. Dighe, A. S., Richards, E., Old, L. J., & Schreiber, R. D. (1994). Enhanced in vivo growth and resistance to rejection of tumor cells expressing dominant negative IFN gamma receptors. Immunity, 1(6), 447-456.

72. Smyth, M. J., Thia, K. Y., Street, S. E., MacGregor, D., Godfrey, D. I., & Trapani, J. A. (2000). Perforin-mediated cytotoxicity is critical for surveillance of spontaneous lymphoma. J Exp Med, 192(5), 755-760.

73. Bolitho, P., Street, S. E., Westwood, J. A., Edelmann, W., Macgregor, D., Waring, P., ... Smyth, M. J. (2009). Perforin-mediated suppression of B-cell lymphoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 106(8), 2723-2728. doi:10.1073/pnas.0809008106

74. Stepp, S. E., Mathew, P. A., Bennett, M., de Saint Basile, G., & Kumar, V. (2000). Perforin: more than just an effector molecule. Immunol Today, 21(6), 254-256.

75. Takeda, K., Smyth, M. J., Cretney, E., Hayakawa, Y., Kayagaki, N., Yagita, H., & Okumura, K. (2002). Critical role for tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand in immune surveillance against tumor development. J Exp Med, 195(2), 161-169.

76. Schreiber, R. D., Old, L. J., & Smyth, M. J. (2011). Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion. Science, 331(6024), 1565-1570. doi:10.1126/science.1203486

77. Vesely, M. D., Kershaw, M. H., Schreiber, R. D., & Smyth, M. J. (2011). Natural innate and adaptive immunity to cancer. Annu Rev Immunol, 29, 235-271. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-031210-101324

78. Schreiber, R. D., Old, L. J., & Smyth, M. J. (2011). Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion. Science, 331(6024), 1565-1570. doi:10.1126/science.1203486

79. Klemm, F., & Joyce, J. A. (2015). Microenvironmental regulation of therapeutic response in cancer. Trends Cell Biol, 25(4), 198-213. doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2014.11.006

80. Pardoll, D. M. (2012). The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer, 12(4), 252-264. doi:10.1038/nrc3239

81. Wolchok, J. D., Kluger, H., Callahan, M. K., Postow, M. A., Rizvi, N. A., Lesokhin, A. M., . . . Sznol, M. (2013). Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med, 369(2), 122-133. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1302369

82. Hammers, H. J., Plimack, E. R., Infante, J. R., Rini, B. I., McDermott, D. F., Lewis, L. D., . .
Amin, A. (2017). Safety and Efficacy of Nivolumab in Combination With Ipilimumab in Metastatic Renal Cell Carcinoma: The CheckMate 016 Study. J Clin Oncol, 35(34), 3851-3858. doi:10.1200/jco.2016.72.1985

83. Postow, M. A., Chesney, J., Pavlick, A. C., Robert, C., Grossmann, K., McDermott, D., . . . Hodi, F. S. (2015). Nivolumab and ipilimumab versus ipilimumab in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med, 372(21), 2006-2017. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1414428

84. Srivastava, S., & Riddell, S. R. (2015). Engineering CAR-T cells: Design concepts. Trends Immunol, 36(8), 494-502. doi:10.1016/j.it.2015.06.004

85. Maher, J., Brentjens, R. J., Gunset, G., Riviere, I., & Sadelain, M. (2002). Human Tlymphocyte cytotoxicity and proliferation directed by a single chimeric TCRzeta /CD28 receptor. Nat Biotechnol, 20(1), 70-75. doi:10.1038/nbt0102-70

86. Roder, J. C., Haliotis, T., Klein, M., Korec, S., Jett, J. R., Ortaldo, J., . . . Fauci, A. S. (1980). A new immunodeficiency disorder in humans involving NK cells. Nature, 284(5756), 553-555.

87. Sullivan, J. L., Byron, K. S., Brewster, F. E., & Purtilo, D. T. (1980). Deficient natural killer cell activity in x-linked lymphoproliferative syndrome. *Science*, *210*(4469), 543-545.

88. Mathew, S. O., Chaudhary, P., Powers, S. B., Vishwanatha, J. K., & Mathew, P. A. (2016). Overexpression of LLT1 (OCIL, CLEC2D) on prostate cancer cells inhibits NK cell-mediated killing through LLT1-NKRP1A (CD161) interaction. Oncotarget, 7(42), 68650-68661. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.11896

89. Roth, P., Mittelbronn, M., Wick, W., Meyermann, R., Tatagiba, M., & Weller, M. (2007). Malignant glioma cells counteract antitumor immune responses through expression of lectin-like transcript-1. Cancer Res, 67(8), 3540-3544. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-06-4783

90. Horton, N. C., Mathew, S. O., & Mathew, P. A. (2013). Novel interaction between proliferating cell nuclear antigen and HLA I on the surface of tumor cells inhibits NK cell function through NKp44. PLOS ONE, 8(3), e59552. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0059552

91. Vivier, E., Ugolini, S., Blaise, D., Chabannon, C., & Brossay, L. (2012). Targeting natural killer cells and natural killer T cells in cancer. Nat Rev Immunol, 12(4), 239-252. doi:10.1038/nri3174

92. Thielens, A., Vivier, E., & Romagne, F. (2012). NK cell MHC class I specific receptors (KIR): from biology to clinical intervention. Curr Opin Immunol, 24(2), 239-245. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2012.01.001

93. Vivier, E., Nunes, J. A., & Vely, F. (2004). Natural killer cell signaling pathways. Science, 306(5701), 1517-1519. doi:10.1126/science.1103478

94. Watzl, C., & Long, E. O. (2010). Signal transduction during activation and inhibition of natural killer cells. Curr Protoc Immunol, Chapter 11, Unit 11.19B. doi:10.1002/0471142735.im1109bs90

95. Floros, T., & Tarhini, A. A. (2015). Anticancer Cytokines: Biology and Clinical Effects of Interferon-alpha2, Interleukin (IL)-2, IL-15, IL-21, and IL-12. *Semin Oncol, 42*(4), 539-548. doi:10.1053/j.seminoncol.2015.05.015

96. Davis, Z. B., Felices, M., Verneris, M. R., & Miller, J. S. (2015). Natural Killer Cell Adoptive Transfer Therapy: Exploiting the First Line of Defense Against Cancer. Cancer J, 21(6), 486-491. doi:10.1097/pp0.00000000000156 97. Childs, R. W., & Carlsten, M. (2015). Therapeutic approaches to enhance natural killer cell cytotoxicity against cancer: the force awakens. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*, *14*(7), 487-498. doi:10.1038/nrd4506

98. Pillet, A. H., Theze, J., & Rose, T. (2011). Interleukin (IL)-2 and IL-15 have different effects on human natural killer lymphocytes. Hum Immunol, 72(11), 1013-1017. doi:10.1016/j.humimm.2011.07.311

99. Thaysen-Andersen, M., Chertova, E., Bergamaschi, C., Moh, E. S., Chertov, O., Roser, J., . . . Pavlakis, G. N. (2016). Recombinant human heterodimeric IL-15 complex displays extensive and reproducible N- and O-linked glycosylation. Glycoconj J, 33(3), 417-433. doi:10.1007/s10719-015-9627-1

100. Lehmann, D., Spanholtz, J., Sturtzel, C., Tordoir, M., Schlechta, B., Groenewegen, D., & Hofer, E. (2014). IL-12 directs further maturation of ex vivo differentiated NK cells with improved therapeutic potential. PLOS ONE, 9(1), e87131. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0087131

101. Uppendahl, L. D., Dahl, C. M., Miller, J. S., Felices, M., & Geller, M. A. (2017). Natural Killer Cell-Based Immunotherapy in Gynecologic Malignancy: A Review. Front Immunol, 8, 1825. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2017.01825

102. Mantia-Smaldone, G. M., Corr, B., & Chu, C. S. (2012). Immunotherapy in ovarian cancer. Hum Vaccin Immunother, 8(9), 1179-1191. doi:10.4161/hv.20738

103. Carotta, S. (2016). Targeting NK Cells for Anticancer Immunotherapy: Clinical and Preclinical Approaches. Front Immunol, 7, 152. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2016.00152

104. Lee, H. R., Son, C. H., Koh, E. K., Bae, J. H., Kang, C. D., Yang, K., & Park, Y. S. (2017). Expansion of cytotoxic natural killer cells using irradiated autologous peripheral blood mononuclear cells and anti-CD16 antibody. Sci Rep, 7(1), 11075. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-09259-1

105. Llibre, A., Klenerman, P., & Willberg, C. B. (2016). Multi-functional lectin-like transcript-1: A new player in human immune regulation. Immunol Lett, 177, 62-69. doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2016.07.007

106. Germain, C., Bihl, F., Zahn, S., Poupon, G., Dumaurier, M. J., Rampanarivo, H. H., . . . Braud, V. M. (2010). Characterization of alternatively spliced transcript variants of CLEC2D gene. J Biol Chem, 285(46), 36207-36215. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.179622

107. Rosen, D. B., Cao, W., Avery, D. T., Tangye, S. G., Liu, Y. J., Houchins, J. P., & Lanier, L. L. (2008). Functional consequences of interactions between human NKR-P1A and its ligand LLT1 expressed on activated dendritic cells and B cells. J Immunol, 180(10), 6508-6517.

108. Kita, S., Matsubara, H., Kasai, Y., Tamaoki, T., Okabe, Y., Fukuhara, H., . . . Maenaka, K. (2015). Crystal structure of extracellular domain of human lectin-like transcript 1 (LLT1), the ligand for natural killer receptor-P1A. Eur J Immunol, 45(6), 1605-1613. doi:10.1002/eji.201545509

109. Aldemir, H., Prod'homme, V., Dumaurier, M. J., Retiere, C., Poupon, G., Cazareth, J., . . . Braud, V. M. (2005). Cutting edge: lectin-like transcript 1 is a ligand for the CD161 receptor. J Immunol, 175(12), 7791-7795.

110. Rosen, D. B., Bettadapura, J., Alsharifi, M., Mathew, P. A., Warren, H. S., & Lanier, L. L. (2005). Cutting edge: lectin-like transcript-1 is a ligand for the inhibitory human NKR-P1A receptor. J Immunol, 175(12), 7796-7799.

111. Lanier, L. L., Chang, C., & Phillips, J. H. (1994). Human NKR-P1A. A disulfide-linked homodimer of the C-type lectin superfamily expressed by a subset of NK and T lymphocytes. J Immunol, 153(6), 2417-2428.

112. Poggi, A., Rubartelli, A., Moretta, L., & Zocchi, M. R. (1997). Expression and function of NKRP1A molecule on human monocytes and dendritic cells. Eur J Immunol, 27(11), 2965-2970. doi:10.1002/eji.1830271132

113. Poggi, A., Costa, P., Tomasello, E., & Moretta, L. (1998). IL-12-induced up-regulation of NKRP1A expression in human NK cells and consequent NKRP1A-mediated down-regulation of NK cell activation. Eur J Immunol, 28(5), 1611-1616. doi:10.1002/(sici)1521-4141(199805)28:05<1611::aid-immu1611>3.0.co;2-6

114. Germain, C., Meier, A., Jensen, T., Knapnougel, P., Poupon, G., Lazzari, A., . . . Braud, V. M. (2011). Induction of lectin-like transcript 1 (LLT1) protein cell surface expression by pathogens and interferon-gamma contributes to modulate immune responses. J Biol Chem, 286(44), 37964-37975. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.285312

115. Maga, G., & Hubscher, U. (2003). Proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA): a dancer with many partners. J Cell Sci, 116(Pt 15), 3051-3060. doi:10.1242/jcs.00653

116. Stoimenov, I., & Helleday, T. (2009). PCNA on the crossroad of cancer. Biochem Soc Trans, 37(Pt 3), 605-613. doi:10.1042/bst0370605

117. Pursell, Z. F., Isoz, I., Lundstrom, E. B., Johansson, E., & Kunkel, T. A. (2007). Yeast DNA polymerase epsilon participates in leading-strand DNA replication. Science, 317(5834), 127-130. doi:10.1126/science.1144067

118. Naryzhny, S. N., Desouza, L. V., Siu, K. W., & Lee, H. (2006). Characterization of the human proliferating cell nuclear antigen physico-chemical properties: aspects of double trimer stability. Biochem Cell Biol, 84(5), 669-676. doi:10.1139/o06-037

119. Naryzhny, S. N., Zhao, H., & Lee, H. (2005). Proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) may function as a double homotrimer complex in the mammalian cell. J Biol Chem, 280(14), 13888-13894. doi:10.1074/jbc.M500304200

120. Naryzhny, S. N., & Lee, H. (2007). Characterization of proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) isoforms in normal and cancer cells: there is no cancer-associated form of PCNA. FEBS Lett, 581(25), 4917-4920. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2007.09.022

121. Rosental, B., Brusilovsky, M., Hadad, U., Oz, D., Appel, M. Y., Afergan, F., . . . Porgador, A. (2011). Proliferating cell nuclear antigen is a novel inhibitory ligand for the natural cytotoxicity receptor NKp44. J Immunol, 187(11), 5693-5702. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102267

122. Vitale, M., Bottino, C., Sivori, S., Sanseverino, L., Castriconi, R., Marcenaro, E., . . . Moretta, A. (1998). NKp44, a novel triggering surface molecule specifically expressed by activated natural killer cells, is involved in non-major histocompatibility complex-restricted tumor cell lysis. J Exp Med, 187(12), 2065-2072.

123. Moretta, A., Bottino, C., Vitale, M., Pende, D., Cantoni, C., Mingari, M. C., . . . Moretta, L. (2001). Activating receptors and coreceptors involved in human natural killer cell-mediated cytolysis. Annu Rev Immunol, 19, 197-223. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.19.1.197

124. Arnon, T. I., Lev, M., Katz, G., Chernobrov, Y., Porgador, A., & Mandelboim, O. (2001). Recognition of viral hemagglutinins by NKp44 but not by NKp30. Eur J Immunol, 31(9), 2680-2689. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(200109)31:9<2680::aid-immu2680>3.0.co;2-a

125. Lehmann, B. D., Pietenpol, J. A., & Tan, A. R. (2015). Triple-negative breast cancer: molecular subtypes and new targets for therapy. Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book, e31-39. doi:10.14694/EdBook_AM.2015.35.e31

126. Wein, L., & Loi, S. (2017). Mechanisms of resistance of chemotherapy in early-stage triple negative breast cancer (TNBC). Breast, 34 Suppl 1, S27-s30. doi:10.1016/j.breast.2017.06.023

127. McGranahan, N., Burrell, R. A., Endesfelder, D., Novelli, M. R., & Swanton, C. (2012). Cancer chromosomal instability: therapeutic and diagnostic challenges. EMBO Rep, 13(6), 528-538. doi:10.1038/embor.2012.61

128. Gerlinger, M., Rowan, A. J., Horswell, S., Math, M., Larkin, J., Endesfelder, D., . . . Swanton, C. (2012). Intratumor heterogeneity and branched evolution revealed by multiregion sequencing. N Engl J Med, 366(10), 883-892. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1113205

129. Rouzier, R., Perou, C. M., Symmans, W. F., Ibrahim, N., Cristofanilli, M., Anderson, K., . . . Pusztai, L. (2005). Breast cancer molecular subtypes respond differently to preoperative chemotherapy. Clin Cancer Res, 11(16), 5678-5685. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-04-2421 130. Yao, C., Bernstein, L. J., & Rich, J. B. (2017). Executive functioning impairment in women treated with chemotherapy for breast cancer: a systematic review. Breast Cancer Res Treat. doi:10.1007/s10549-017-4376-4

131. Nguyen, C. M., Yamada, T. H., Beglinger, L. J., Cavanaugh, J. E., Denburg, N. L., & Schultz, S. K. (2013). Cognitive features 10 or more years after successful breast cancer survival: comparisons across types of cancer interventions. Psychooncology, 22(4), 862-868. doi:10.1002/pon.3086

132. Hermelink, K., Untch, M., Lux, M. P., Kreienberg, R., Beck, T., Bauerfeind, I., & Munzel, K. (2007). Cognitive function during neoadjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer: results of a prospective, multicenter, longitudinal study. Cancer, 109(9), 1905-1913. doi:10.1002/cncr.22610

133. Chen, X., Zhu, C., Li, J., Qiu, L., Zhang, L., Yu, F., . . . Wang, K. (2013). Dissociation of decision making under ambiguity and decision making under risk in breast cancer patients receiving adjuvant chemotherapy: a neuropsychological study. Brain Res, 1533, 63-72. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2013.08.015

134. Jim, H. S., Donovan, K. A., Small, B. J., Andrykowski, M. A., Munster, P. N., & Jacobsen, P. B. (2009). Cognitive functioning in breast cancer survivors: a controlled comparison. Cancer, 115(8), 1776-1783. doi:10.1002/cncr.24192

135. Brinkley, B. R., Beall, P. T., Wible, L. J., Mace, M. L., Turner, D. S., & Cailleau, R. M. (1980). Variations in cell form and cytoskeleton in human breast carcinoma cells in vitro. *Cancer Res*, *40*(9), 3118-3129.

136. Cailleau, R., Olive, M., & Cruciger, Q. V. (1978). Long-term human breast carcinoma cell lines of metastatic origin: preliminary characterization. *In Vitro*, *14*(11), 911-915.

137. Soule, H. D., Maloney, T. M., Wolman, S. R., Peterson, W. D., Jr., Brenz, R., McGrath, C. M., . . . Brooks, S. C. (1990). Isolation and characterization of a spontaneously immortalized human breast epithelial cell line, MCF-10. *Cancer Res*, *50*(18), 6075-6086.

138. Soule, H. D., & McGrath, C. M. (1986). A simplified method for passage and long-term growth of human mammary epithelial cells. *In Vitro Cell Dev Biol*, 22(1), 6-12.

139. Soule, H. D., Vazguez, J., Long, A., Albert, S., & Brennan, M. (1973). A human cell line from a pleural effusion derived from a breast carcinoma. *J Natl Cancer Inst*, *51*(5), 1409-1416.

140. NK Cell Isolation Kit Human. (2018). Retrieved 2018 from http://www.miltenyibiotec.com/en/products-and-services/macs-cell-separation/cell-separationreagents/microbeads-and-isolation-kits/nk-cells/nk-cell-isolation-kit-human.aspx

141. ON-TARGETplus siRNA Resources. (2018). Retrieved 2018 from http://dharmacon.gelifesciences.com/rnai/sirna/on-targetplus/#resources

142. Subcellular Protein Fractionation Kit for Cultured Cells. (2018). Retrieved 2018 from https://www.thermofisher.com/order/catalog/product/78840

143. Hessvik, N. P., & Llorente, A. (2018). Current knowledge on exosome biogenesis and release. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 75(2), 193-208. doi:10.1007/s00018-017-2595-9

144. Dutertre, M., & Smith, C. L. (2000). Molecular mechanisms of selective estrogen receptor modulator (SERM) action. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 295(2), 431-437.

145. Yang, G., Nowsheen, S., Aziz, K., & Georgakilas, A. G. (2013). Toxicity and adverse effects of Tamoxifen and other anti-estrogen drugs. *Pharmacol Ther*, *139*(3), 392-404. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2013.05.005

146. Jordan, V. C. (2003). Tamoxifen: a most unlikely pioneering medicine. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*, 2(3), 205-213. doi:10.1038/nrd1031

147. Jordan, V. C. (1988). The development of tamoxifen for breast cancer therapy: a tribute to the late Arthur L. Walpole. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*, *11*(3), 197-209.

148. Dhingra, K. (1999). Antiestrogens--tamoxifen, SERMs and beyond. *Invest New Drugs*, *17*(3), 285-311.

149. Dienstmann, R., Rodon, J., Serra, V., & Tabernero, J. (2014). Picking the point of inhibition: a comparative review of PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway inhibitors. *Mol Cancer Ther*, *13*(5), 1021-1031. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.mct-13-0639

150. Wang, Q., Cheng, Y., Wang, Y., Fan, Y., Li, C., Zhang, Y., . . . Liu, Y. (2017). Tamoxifen reverses epithelial-mesenchymal transition by demethylating miR-200c in triple-negative breast cancer cells. *BMC Cancer*, *17*(1), 492. doi:10.1186/s12885-017-3457-4

151. Mao, Z., Zhou, J., Luan, J., Sheng, W., Shen, X., & Dong, X. (2014). Tamoxifen reduces P-gp-mediated multidrug resistance via inhibiting the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway in ER-negative human gastric cancer cells. *Biomed Pharmacother*, 68(2), 179-183. doi:10.1016/j.biopha.2013.10.003

152. Gu, W. Z., Chen, Z., Tahir, S. K., Rosenberg, S. H., & Ng, S. C. (1999). Synergistic effect of paclitaxel and 4-hydroxytamoxifen on estrogen receptor-negative colon cancer and lung cancer cell lines. *Anticancer Drugs*, *10*(10), 895-901.

153. Liu, Z. H., Ma, Y. L., He, Y. P., Zhang, P., Zhou, Y. K., & Qin, H. (2011). Tamoxifen reverses the multi-drug-resistance of an established human cholangiocarcinoma cell line in combined chemotherapeutics. *Mol Biol Rep, 38*(3), 1769-1775. doi:10.1007/s11033-010-0291-z

154. Sui, H., Fan, Z. Z., & Li, Q. (2012). Signal transduction pathways and transcriptional mechanisms of ABCB1/Pgp-mediated multiple drug resistance in human cancer cells. *J Int Med Res, 40*(2), 426-435. doi:10.1177/147323001204000204

155. Li, X., Li, J. P., Yuan, H. Y., Gao, X., Qu, X. J., Xu, W. F., & Tang, W. (2007). Recent advances in P-glycoprotein-mediated multidrug resistance reversal mechanisms. *Methods Find Exp Clin Pharmacol*, 29(9), 607-617. doi:10.1358/mf.2007.29.9.1139054

156. Mitra, A., Mishra, L., & Li, S. (2015). EMT, CTCs and CSCs in tumor relapse and drug-resistance. *Oncotarget*, 6(13), 10697-10711. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.4037

157. O'Reilly, E. A., Gubbins, L., Sharma, S., Tully, R., Guang, M. H., Weiner-Gorzel, K., . . . McCann, A. (2015). The fate of chemoresistance in triple negative breast cancer (TNBC). *BBA Clin*, *3*, 257-275. doi:10.1016/j.bbacli.2015.03.003

158. Lange, C. A., & Yee, D. (2008). Progesterone and breast cancer. *Womens Health (Lond)*, *4*(2), 151-162. doi:10.2217/17455057.4.2.151

159. Wahba, H. A., & El-Hadaad, H. A. (2015). Current approaches in treatment of triplenegative breast cancer. *Cancer Biol Med*, *12*(2), 106-116. doi:10.7497/j.issn.2095-3941.2015.0030

160. Berrada, N., Delaloge, S., & Andre, F. (2010). Treatment of triple-negative metastatic breast cancer: toward individualized targeted treatments or chemosensitization? *Ann Oncol, 21 Suppl 7*, vii30-35. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdq279

161. Gottesman, M. M., Fojo, T., & Bates, S. E. (2002). Multidrug resistance in cancer: role of ATP-dependent transporters. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 2(1), 48-58. doi:10.1038/nrc706

162. Thomas, H., & Coley, H. M. (2003). Overcoming multidrug resistance in cancer: an update on the clinical strategy of inhibiting p-glycoprotein. *Cancer Control*, *10*(2), 159-165. doi:10.1177/107327480301000207

163. Singh, S., Prasad, N. R., Chufan, E. E., Patel, B. A., Wang, Y. J., Chen, Z. S., ... Talele, T. T. (2014). Design and synthesis of human ABCB1 (P-glycoprotein) inhibitors by peptide coupling of diverse chemical scaffolds on carboxyl and amino termini of (S)-valine-derived thiazole amino acid. *J Med Chem*, *57*(10), 4058-4072. doi:10.1021/jm401966m

164. Zhang, L. H., Yang, A. J., Wang, M., Liu, W., Wang, C. Y., Xie, X. F., . . . Li, M. (2016). Enhanced autophagy reveals vulnerability of P-gp mediated epirubicin resistance in triple negative breast cancer cells. *Apoptosis*, 21(4), 473-488. doi:10.1007/s10495-016-1214-9

165. Kwei, K. A., Kung, Y., Salari, K., Holcomb, I. N., & Pollack, J. R. (2010). Genomic instability in breast cancer: pathogenesis and clinical implications. *Mol Oncol*, 4(3), 255-266. doi:10.1016/j.molonc.2010.04.001

166. Curtis, C., Shah, S. P., Chin, S. F., Turashvili, G., Rueda, O. M., Dunning, M. J., . . . Aparicio, S. (2012). The genomic and transcriptomic architecture of 2,000 breast tumours reveals novel subgroups. *Nature*, *486*(7403), 346-352. doi:10.1038/nature10983

167. Couch, F. J., Hart, S. N., Sharma, P., Toland, A. E., Wang, X., Miron, P., . . . Fasching, P. A. (2015). Inherited mutations in 17 breast cancer susceptibility genes among a large triplenegative breast cancer cohort unselected for family history of breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol*, *33*(4), 304-311. doi:10.1200/jco.2014.57.1414

168. Boles, K. S., Barten, R., Kumaresan, P. R., Trowsdale, J., & Mathew, P. A. (1999). Cloning of a new lectin-like receptor expressed on human NK cells. *Immunogenetics*, 50(1-2), 1-7.

169. Mathew, P. A., Chuang, S. S., Vaidya, S. V., Kumaresan, P. R., Boles, K. S., & Pham, H. T. (2004). The LLT1 receptor induces IFN-gamma production by human natural killer cells. *Mol Immunol, 40*(16), 1157-1163.

170. Asselin-Paturel, C., & Trinchieri, G. (2005). Production of type I interferons: plasmacytoid dendritic cells and beyond. *J Exp Med*, 202(4), 461-465. doi:10.1084/jem.20051395

171. Llibre, A., Lopez-Macias, C., Marafioti, T., Mehta, H., Partridge, A., Kanzig, C., . . . Willberg, C. B. (2016). LLT1 and CD161 Expression in Human Germinal Centers Promotes B Cell Activation and CXCR4 Downregulation. *J Immunol*, *196*(5), 2085-2094. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1502462

172. Victora, G. D., & Nussenzweig, M. C. (2012). Germinal centers. *Annu Rev Immunol, 30*, 429-457. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-075032

173. Ansell, S. M. (2015). Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma: Diagnosis and Treatment. *Mayo Clin Proc*, 90(8), 1152-1163. doi:10.1016/j.mayocp.2015.04.025

174. Marcus, A., Gowen, B. G., Thompson, T. W., Iannello, A., Ardolino, M., Deng, W., . . . Raulet, D. H. (2014). Recognition of tumors by the innate immune system and natural killer cells. *Adv Immunol, 122*, 91-128. doi:10.1016/b978-0-12-800267-4.00003-1

175. Germain, C., Guillaudeux, T., Galsgaard, E. D., Hervouet, C., Tekaya, N., Gallouet, A. S., . . . Braud, V. M. (2015). Lectin-like transcript 1 is a marker of germinal center-derived B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphomas dampening natural killer cell functions. *Oncoimmunology*, *4*(8), e1026503. doi:10.1080/2162402x.2015.1026503

176. Llibre, A., Garner, L., Partridge, A., Freeman, G. J., Klenerman, P., & Willberg, C. B. (2016). Expression of lectin-like transcript-1 in human tissues. *F1000Res*, *5*, 2929. doi:10.12688/f1000research.10009.1

177. Friese, M. A., Wischhusen, J., Wick, W., Weiler, M., Eisele, G., Steinle, A., & Weller, M. (2004). RNA interference targeting transforming growth factor-beta enhances NKG2D-mediated antiglioma immune response, inhibits glioma cell migration and invasiveness, and abrogates tumorigenicity in vivo. *Cancer Res*, *64*(20), 7596-7603. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-04-1627

178. Zhang, C. (2012). Hybridoma technology for the generation of monoclonal antibodies. *Methods Mol Biol, 901*, 117-135. doi:10.1007/978-1-61779-931-0_7

179. Kalluri, R. (2016). The biology and function of exosomes in cancer. *J Clin Invest, 126*(4), 1208-1215. doi:10.1172/jci81135

180. Thery, C., Zitvogel, L., & Amigorena, S. (2002). Exosomes: composition, biogenesis and function. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 2(8), 569-579. doi:10.1038/nri855

181. Melo, S. A., Luecke, L. B., Kahlert, C., Fernandez, A. F., Gammon, S. T., Kaye, J., . . . Kalluri, R. (2015). Glypican-1 identifies cancer exosomes and detects early pancreatic cancer. *Nature*, *523*(7559), 177-182. doi:10.1038/nature14581

182. Taylor, D. D., & Gercel-Taylor, C. (2008). MicroRNA signatures of tumor-derived exosomes as diagnostic biomarkers of ovarian cancer. *Gynecol Oncol*, *110*(1), 13-21. doi:10.1016/j.ygyno.2008.04.033

183. Lancaster, G. I., & Febbraio, M. A. (2005). Exosome-dependent trafficking of HSP70: a novel secretory pathway for cellular stress proteins. *J Biol Chem*, 280(24), 23349-23355. doi:10.1074/jbc.M502017200

184. Clayton, A., Mitchell, J. P., Court, J., Linnane, S., Mason, M. D., & Tabi, Z. (2008). Human tumor-derived exosomes down-modulate NKG2D expression. *J Immunol*, *180*(11), 7249-7258.